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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EERS

Dear shareholders,

| present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020
on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors.

2020 was a year full of challenges for the Group, and a year
of transformation and restructuring for its business. With the
regulatory requirements over the P2P industry as stipulated by the
national policies, the Group ceased its business cooperation with
P2P organizations in the first half of 2020. Meanwhile, due to the
impact of the coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19"), the Group
also ceased its apartment leasing business in Wuhan at the year
end to minimize the loss.

We keep exploring new market opportunities. In 2020, the
Company noted the growth potential of the domestic offline
retail market in the PRC and leveraged its own accumulated
technological capabilities to develop its smart retail business,
providing software and hardware technical development services
to chain enterprises and merchants, and a series of cloud
solutions extending from such technical services including omni-
channel payment service, server service and SMS traffic service,
etc. Despite the impact of COVID-19 to a certain extent, the Group
has achieved initial results in the smart retail business.

In 2020, due to significant volatility in the financial technology
market as a result of changes in the regulatory environment, the
Group’s performance in 2020 also declined accordingly. Looking
forward to 2021, the Company will continue to leverage its own
technological capabilities to develop its business, focus on
promoting the development of smart retail business, and downsize
loss-making businesses as needed at the same time.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
appreciation to our employees and the management team, clients,
shareholders and business partners for their support over the
years. The Group will strive to promote its business growth to bring
greater returns to the shareholders.

sSun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

23 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERE R

FINANCIAL REVIEW
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 amounted to approximately HK$34,626,000
as compared with approximately HK$61,500,000 last year. The
revenue of the Group was derived from continuing operations,
being (i) smart retail business; (i) financial technology services
business; (iii) sports training business; and (iv) lottery business.

The Group's discontinued operation, being its apartment leasing
business, had incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$1,018,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: loss of approximately HK$4,477,000).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$17,315,000 (2019: approximately HK$5,680,000).
The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year was
mainly attributable to the declined performance of the Group’s
financial technology services business.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$66,395,000 (2019: approximately
HK$131,844,000), total liabilities of approximately HK$11,581,000
(2019: approximately HK$81,509,000) and cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$57,467,000 (2019: approximately
HK$77,336,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group was zero
as the Group had no borrowings (2019: the gearing ratio of the
Group was approximately 30% based on the total borrowings of
approximately HK$15,286,000 and the total equity of approximately
HK$50,335,000. The total borrowings solely represent the Group's
convertible bonds).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEREwm R

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s total number of
issued ordinary shares (the "Shares") of HK$0.005 each was
4,686,048,381 (2019: 4,671,035,048). Details of the movement in
the Company’s share capital during the year were set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company currently has no share option scheme. Details of the
movement in the Company's convertible bonds during the year
were set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no asset that was pledged
(2019: Nil).

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET
PURCHASE

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$31,000 (2019:
approximately HK$27,000) for the purchase of property, plant and
equipment.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at
31 December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERE R

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’'s sales and purchases for the year were mostly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (‘"HK$") and Renminbi (‘RMB").

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by
the government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
exchange rates may also be affected by economic developments
and political changes domestically and internationally, and the
demand and supply of RMB. The appreciation or devaluation of
RMB against HK$ may have impact on the operation results of the
Group.

The Group monitors its foreign currency risks and will consider
hedging significant currency exposures should the need arises.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2019: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Smart Retail Business

The Group’s smart retail business is operated under its subsidiary,
Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Zhongtuo
Netcom”), which positions itself as an integrated smart retail
solution provider. 1ts main business is to provide software and
hardware technical development service to chain enterprises
and merchants, and a series of cloud solutions extending from
such technical service including omni-channel payment service,
server service and SMS traffic service, etc. The Group receives a
fixed income from system development and sales of hardware,
and also receives agency fees that are based on customers’
volume of usage such as transaction payment rate, server usage
and SMS traffic volume, etc. For the period from 27 February
2020 (date of incorporation of Zhongtuo Netcom) to 31 December
2020, the smart retail business of the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$32,971,000 and an operating profit of
approximately HK$9,490,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEREwm R

Financial Technology Services Business

Since late 2019, the PRC government has issued a series of
regulatory documents and guidances, specifying that the exiting
and transformation of all P2P businesses in the PRC would be the
general principle. In the first half of 2020, the Group had already
ceased its business cooperation with P2P organizations and
began to plan for the transformation of its financial technology
services business by trying to form business cooperation with
commercial banks and other financial institutions. However, due
to the impact of COVID-19 in early 2020, the trend of increasing
delinquency rate in the personal consumption credit market was
still prominent in 2020, and various financial institutions remained
cautious in cooperating with Internet financial technology
companies. Therefore, although the Group has carried out business
negotiations with several financial institutions, no consensus on
cooperation has been reached with any of them as at the date
of this report. Furthermore, as the regulatory requirement in the
PRC for financial institutions and Internet financial technology
companies is becoming increasingly stringent (e.g. the China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (the “CBIRC")
promulgated the Interim Measures for the Administration of
Internet Loans issued by Commercial Banks* ((BZ£$E1T B B4R
BEREEETISA)) in July 2020, the CBIRC and the People's
Bank of China jointly promulgated the Interim Measures for
the Administration of Internet Micro Credit Business (Draft for
Comments)* (B4 NEEEREFEELGITINE BREER D) in
November 2020 and the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC made
amendments to the Provisions of the Supreme People’s Court on
Several Issues Concerning the Application of Law in the Trial of
Private Lending Cases (Second Amendments in 2020)* (&& A
REGENSBEREEEZHERE2E THENHREQQ0205F
% _XMEIE))) in December 2020, etc.), the Group expects that
the development of its financial technology services business
will remain unfavorable. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
the financial technology services business of the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$138,000 (2019: approximately
HK$58,482,000) and an operating loss of approximately
HK$8,682,000 (2019: operating profit of approximately
HK$14,815,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERE R

Sports Training Business

The Group operates Hui So Hung Table Tennis Training Centre in
Hong Kong to provide table tennis training services to students
with different ages and levels. The outbreak of COVID-19 in early
2020 had directly affected the Group’s sports training business
operation and revenue for 2020. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the sports training business of the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$1,320,000 (2019: approximately HK$2,354,000)
and an operating loss of approximately HK$2,203,000 (2019:
operating loss of approximately HK$206,000).

Lottery Business

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had submitted applications
for the establishment of 1,629 sales points in various cities in
Shandong, the PRC, 1,011 of which have been approved and 323
were in operation. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group’s lottery business generated revenue of approximately
HK$197,000 (2019: approximately HK$664,000) and an operating
loss of approximately HK$1,356,000 (2019: operating loss of
approximately HK$2,178,000). The Group is closely monitoring
the performance of the lottery business and is downsizing this
business, as it continues to record an operating loss.

Apartment Leasing Business

Due to the continuous impact of COVID-19, the Group's apartment
leasing business in Wuhan, the PRC, has been facing an
increasingly difficult operating environment. In November 2020,
the Board had resolved to cease the apartment leasing business
and had initiated deregistration procedures for the subsidiaries in
respect of such business after considering that this business had
been continuously loss-making and that its future operation would
remain unfavorable to the Group. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group had withdrawn from its contractual relationships with all
landlords and tenants. As at the date of this report, Wuhan Wuhao
Property Management Company Limited* (“Wuhan Wuhao”) (a
joint venture company engaging in the apartment leasing business)
had been deregistered.

The apartment leasing business is classified as a discontinued
operation of the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
apartment leasing business of the Group recorded an operating
loss of approximately HK$2,004,000 (2019: operating loss of
approximately HK$5,904,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERE SR

PROSPECTS

The Group will complete the withdrawal of its apartment leasing
business by mid-2021 and will continue to take a conservative
stand for its financial technology services business against the
backdrop of tightening industrial regulations and the impact of
COVID-19. Looking forward, the Group's business growth will
continue to be propelled by its smart retail business. At the same
time, the Group will closely monitor and may downsize or cease
certain continuous loss-making business(es) in order to focus its
resources on profit-making businesses.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 88 employees (2019: 38)
in total.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 have been audited by Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company for the
subsequent year is to be proposed at the annual general meeting
(the "AGM") of the Company. The Company has not changed its
auditor in any of the preceding three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEERENS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao, aged 40, was appointed as the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director since August 2017. Currently, Mr.
Sun also serves as the chairman of the board and an executive
director of 51 Credit Card Inc. ("51 Credit Card”) (listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051) and a director of various
subsidiaries of its group including, among others, Hangzhou Enniu
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Enniu Network").

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
business administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic
Industry (now known as the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the
PRC in June 2002. He has been engaging in Internet businesses
since 2004, and founded several Internet companies from 2004 to
2012. In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card
management mobile application named “51 Credit Card Manager”
under 51 Credit Card.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEBREHS

Mr. Zhao Ke, aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director
and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company since
August 2017. Currently, Mr. Zhao also serves as an executive
director and the chief financial officer of 51 Credit Card, and a
director of various subsidiaries of its group including, among
others, Enniu Network. From July 2006 to October 2015, Mr. Zhao
served in a number of positions, including as a senior manager
of the capital markets services group at Hong Kong Firm of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Zhao graduated from the Xi‘an Jiaotong University in the PRC
in July 2005 with a bachelor’'s degree in finance and obtained
a master’s degree in economics from the University of Ottawa
in Canada in October 2006. He was accredited as a certified
public accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in May 2011 and by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in May 2015.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Song has over twenty
years' experience in the entertainment and media industry. Mr.
Song founded “Maitian Music” in 1996 and served as its general
manager for four years since 1996, and then served as the
executive vice-president and production director for Warner Music
(China) from 2000 to 2004. Mr. Song founded Beijing Taihe Rye
Music Co., Ltd. in 2004 and served as the chief executive officer
and also the president of Taihe Media Investment Co., Ltd. for eight
years. He joined Evergrande Music as the chairman of the board
from 2012 to 2015, worked for Beijing Alibaba Music Technology
Co., Ltd. as the chief executive officer and the chairman of the
board from 2015 to 2018; and served as the chairman in the China
region of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. (listed on the New York
Stock Exchange, ticker: LYV) from 2019 to 2020. Mr. Song graduated
from the Tsinghua University in the PRC in July 1988 with a
bachelor’s degree in environmental engineering.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREERBEEFS

Mr. Wu Bo, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Wu is the founder and
chief executive officer of meiaoju.com, a serial entrepreneur in
Internet sharing economy, artificial intelligence and deep learning.
Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’s degree in automation engineering
from the Tsinghua University in the PRC and his master’'s degree
in computer science from the Western Michigan University in
the United States of America (the “United States”). Mr. Wu has
founded focus.cn (a leading Chinese real estate portal), lashou.
com (a Chinese top group-buying site) and meiaoju.com (an
Internet service company which brings Chinese investments into
the real estate development market of the United States).

Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi, aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Yu
obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
New South Wales in Australia. He is a fellow member of the CPA
Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Yu is also a founding member of The Hong
Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. Yu has
years of experience in accounting, corporate finance and asset
management. He had held senior management positions in several
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu is currently an independent
non-executive director of each of Golden Resources Development
International Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
677), EVOC Intelligent Technology Company Limited (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2308), Applied Development Holdings
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519), Lerado
Financial Group Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1225) and Unity Investments Holdings Limited (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 913), respectively.

BREE 555% ) B2017E8 B IR EERTEABILIE
HITEE - RAEAFTEBAMAREERTE
AEMPANERBE ANTEERFTEETER
ERBERE - RALEFAPREABERZEHLT
BESTSAREFNRERE (TEE)) ARSRR
KE (the Western Michigan University) st & &%l
BHEITBEM -RELKTBRAUELTEEMET
B—FEEEMEL (focus.cn) ~ PETBR EFELHE—
I F 4 (lashou.com) KRR ES A EEFE i
EREMBZEBAERSE AT —FBE (meiaoju.
com) o

REEKRE 565 B20177F8RRRESEABIL
JERMITES - RS EMNFREE BT AZ (the
University of New South Wales) B #2223 11 o i
AENEHMAEEREERSBEHMAEY
BoREANASTBREUFINTESHIATY
BoRAEFEBLFEN HEMEREEEEL
B-RERZREELMATHASREEREH
BorAERDBASRAEEARERAR B
Fr b RIS D 677) ~IRESSERERHBIR
~E) (WP o BRDMASR 1 2308) B RS
EBRAE @aZpr Lo BRAHARSE 1 519) ~BERK
TMEBBRAT EAZAT E o BRMH SR 1225)
RE—HREERERR2E @R Em > RO
%1 913) WEIIIERITEE

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS 13



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFOHRS

The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group's performance for the year ended 31 December 2020
by business segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 100
to 235.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of
the Company, a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) was
adopted by the Board which aims to allow the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future
growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s ability
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not
limited to, the financial performance and position of the Company,
Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and strategies, and
any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews
the Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required to ensure the benefit of the Shareholders as a whole is
taken into consideration from time to time during recommendation
and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend to pay dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

14

EFENREHE2020F12A3MBLEFEZES
ERERAERBEERREYHREK

FEXH
ARBREBEBAREZER - HTENBLRARE
BEBFBENGEHMBRRMEIS - AEEE
F2020F 12A3NBLEFEZ EEWEHDBAE
Z AWM B ARE R KM 56

FEERk D

REEHE2020F12A3BLFEZERERA
EBREARTANRZAZHBRRAENGEEHBR
REB100E235H ©

HEREFEAEEMNRZDRELQFREFKF
REENEFR EFECHRM—EBRERE (TR
BHER) HENSERBEARTRE (MRR))
EAEXRTNAE ARERFIQBDNES RS
ML R E R T -

RENEMICRNART X AREAIFE MR
E o WEBURR (BFEERRR) ARABHNMHRIE
Rkt BRERM @ EHFR TR R REEGR
RIEFNEREERR FPAR REFEERE

S BREENAAREREIRE - EEETEH
W ERF R R EBRREB R U FRRKRR
BEANGNEZRERREF AR TFUERE-

EEERNEZMEE2020F128318 IEFEIRE
EAIPE 82 (20194 : E) o

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFOHRS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in
the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT", "MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” and “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this report. These discussions form part
of this “REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS".

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group's commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lighting and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.
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EFOHRS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate its employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of its employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its business partners to achieve its long-term
goals. Accordingly, the Directors have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them
when appropriate. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital and
convertible bonds during the year are set out in notes 29 and 27 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman lIslands, the share
premium account is distributable to the Shareholders provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31
December 2020, the Company did not have any reserves available
for distribution (2019: Nil).
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EFOHRS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no provision for pre-emptive
rights which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares to its
existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
on page 236 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
HK$1,000 (2019: approximately HK$4,300).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or legal liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During
the vyear, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of
the Group.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group's employees in the PRC participate in defined
contribution schemes provided by the relevant provincial and
municipal governments under which the Group (as the employer)
and the employees in the PRC are required to make monthly
contributions to these schemes in accordance with the relevant
requirements. The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds
to the pension in accordance with the requirements of the relevant
provincial and municipal governments.

The Group has also arranged its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee whereby each of the Group
(as the employer) and the Hong Kong employees make monthly
contributions to the scheme in accordance with the relevant
legislation.

Details of the Group's contributions to the retirement schemes
are shown in notes 10, 11, 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In August 2010, the Company issued approximately 664,580,000
(after adjustment for the share consolidation as effected on 27
February 2012) zero-coupon HK dollar denominated convertible
bonds to Mr. Leung Ngai Man (“Mr. Leung”), a former substantial
Shareholder, former chairman of the Board and executive Director.
The convertible bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from
the issue date and can be convertible into one ordinary Share at
HK$0.005 each for every HK$1.20 convertible bonds at the holder’s
option (after adjustment for the share consolidation as effected on
27 February 2012). Conversion may occur at any time between 27
August 2010 and 26 August 2015.

BAEEHE
AEBVTHEESHSEZREFRE HEFR
EZEBERNGE A&E (FREE) RETE
EBEVEARAMEESEMZETE FHMR-
AEBRTENKBASKBAERE  HEFR
ERMBEERR -

AEETEZHHEBRERESHEBFERTES
oA BUGEEAEER EREMEE K
EB (FREI) REEBREEHVARBBABES
SR Bt FHHEM-

AEBREBARSABNEREBENGESHHER
RMIEE10~11~12%130

& 4 8 1 o

AR ES

R20105F88 A RBEHAFERE AIEEE
FERPTESRERXESE TREE) BTH
664,580,000 (FR201282B27 B A2 R1D & B
HER) BLESEBRRES T RKRESA
BT HEESAPRF HEEANEERSD
1208 T AR ESFEER0.0058B T2 BRI
A—IREEAR D (BEHR2012FE2827 £ 2 K
EHAEE) - FA ASR20105E8H27H ZE2015
FRA26H A Z (E IR R EIT R o

18 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFOHRS

The Company entered into a supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) dated 24 August 2015 with Mr. Leung,
pursuant to which the Company and Mr. Leung agreed to extend
the maturity date of the convertible bonds for 5 years from the
date falling on the fifth year to the date falling on the tenth year
from the date of issue of the convertible bonds (the “Extension”).
The Supplemental Deed was approved by independent
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM")
of the Company held on 3 November 2015. The Extension allows
the Company to finance the debts under the convertible bonds
without any interest cost and enhance the sufficiency of working
capital of the Group.

On 24 January 2018, the Company received a conversion notice
from Mr. Leung to exercise the conversion rights attached to
the outstanding convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$50,000,000. 41,666,666 Shares, representing approximately
0.9% of the issued Shares as at 24 January 2018 and approximately
0.89% of the enlarged issued Shares immediately after the
conversion, were allotted and issued to Mr. Leung on 26 January
2018 at the conversion price of HK$1.2 per Share.

On 13 July 2020, the Company received a conversion notice
from Mr. Leung to exercise the conversion rights attached to
the outstanding convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$18,016,000. 15,013,333 Shares, representing approximately
0.321% of the issued Shares as at 13 July 2020 and approximately
0.320% of the enlarged issued Shares immediately after the
conversion, were allotted and issued to Mr. Leung on 17 July 2020
at the conversion price of HK$1.20 per Share. The Company did not
have any outstanding convertible bonds after the exercise of the
above conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds.
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UNLISTED WARRANTS

On 22 November 2019, Zhong Tuo Limited (“Zhong Tuo”) (a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into the joint venture
agreement (the “JV Agreement”) with Ningbo Yunni Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (‘“Ningbo Yunni”),
Ningbo Yun Ma Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership)* (“Ningbo Yunma"“) and Mr. Ye Cunshi (“Mr. Ye"),
pursuant to which the parties agreed to jointly establish a joint
venture to explore the business development, cooperation and
investment opportunities in the area of smart retail business,
and Zhong Tuo conditionally agreed to procure the Company
to issue 700,655,257 unlisted warrants (the “Warrants”) to
Yun Ma Limited at the issue price of HK$0.001 per Warrant as
performance incentive. Each Warrant carries the right to subscribe
at any time during the subscription period for one warrant Share
(“Warrant Share”) at the subscription price of HK$0.054 (subject
to adjustment) per Warrant Share. The closing price per Share as
quoted in the Stock Exchange on the date of the JV Agreement was
HK$0.034. The approval of the issue of Warrants and the grant of
specific mandate to issue Warrant Shares upon the exercise of the
subscription rights attaching to the Warrants was obtained at the
EGM held on 13 December 2019.

On 23 January 2020, Zzhong Tuo and Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK)
Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong Tuo) further entered
into the supplemental joint venture agreement with Ningbo Yunni
and Ningbo Yunma, pursuant to which all rights and obligations
of Zhong Tuo under the JV Agreement would be transferred to
Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK) Limited. The said joint venture (Zhongtuo
Netcom) was incorporated in February 2020.

700,655,257 Warrants were issued in February 2020 by the
Company to Yun Ma Limited at the issue price of HK$0.001 per
Warrant, carrying the right to subscribe for up to a maximum
of 700,655,257 Warrant Shares during a 36-month period
commencing from the date of vesting of the Warrants. After the
exercise of the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants, the
Warrant Shares will be allotted and issued under the specific
mandate.

Assuming the full exercise of the subscription rights attaching
to the Warrants, it is expected that the gross and net proceeds
of approximately HK$39 million and HK$38 million will be raised,
respectively. The net proceeds will be used for the general working
capital of the Group, i.e. the net proceeds from (i) issue of the
Warrants of approximately HK$666,000 (adjusted) will be applied
for remuneration of Directors and employees of the Group; and
(i) the full exercise of the subscription rights attaching to the
Warrants of approximately HK$37,617,000 will be applied as to 50%
for remuneration of Directors and employees of the Group, 20%
for rental expenses, 20% for legal and professional fees and 10%
for other administrative and operating expenses. The net issue
price, after deduction of the relevant expenses, is approximately
HK$0.0009 (adjusted, previously HK$0.0008).
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700,655,257 Warrants were issued in February 2020, the Group
received the net proceeds from the issue of the Warrants of
approximately HK$666,000 and such proceeds had been applied
for remuneration of Directors and employees of the Group.

The vesting of the corresponding number of Warrants are subject
to the vesting conditions to be achieved by Zhongtuo Netcom as
stipulated in the JV Agreement. As at the date of this report, all the
unvested Warrants had lapsed as the vesting conditions could not
be achieved.

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or
existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the
major customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set
out below:

(1) Sales
HE
— the largest customer
-RRER
— the five largest customers (combined)
-ERER (56D

(2)  Purchases
2
— the largest supplier
- RAMHER
- the five largest suppliers (combined)
- AREER (G4

700,655,25717 58 & #EGE 1020202 B 3517 » A% H
B U E%9666,0007 7T 2 % 1758 RIE B FT 1S R F
BRZFENREACHRFEERAERESMNE-

SRNEGEMEMEZ RAMBEIN ZHERK
o EEHEZSRRERR TRE - NAKRSH
B BB BIRFREEEMN > FT A R EDARE
BEERM

BRAMEFTIREE I AEBER FRMMEETIIEN
FERZHIBRE-

EEAEHN
EP RERSHN BRTURGERLER
ERNINEESPEBBNZERRGTRA

# o

BEERRMER
Er AEEIBELAREERHIILHEER
RBE AT

Approximate
percentage of
total sales
L E 402
ZHAaBE 7

31%

79%
Approximate
percentage of
total purchases

LRI AR AR
ZHHBEDL

64%

75%
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As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any
Shareholders (that, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Ke

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi

In accordance with article 87 of the Articles, Mr. Sun Haitao and Mr.
Michael Yu Tat Chi will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 11 to 13
of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this report,
pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the changes in
directors’ information are set out below:

- the director's fee of Mr. Sun Haitao will be adjusted from
HK$30,000 per month to HK$59,500 per month which will
take effect from 1 April 2021, all other benefits remaining
unchanged; and

- the director’'s fee of Mr. Zhao Ke will be adjusted from
HK$41,500 per month to HK$65,000 per month which will
take effect from 1 April 2021, all other benefits remaining
unchanged.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure
that the levels of their remuneration and compensation are
appropriate. References to the remuneration standards of the
industry as well as the business development of the Company are
made to ensure the level of remuneration should be sufficient to
attract and retain the Directors, and the Company should avoid
paying more than necessary for this purpose.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year.

%%ZHE? A II,J
HRRRBFAG I EEEF ESHEELAR
B UARBAAINR—FERNRMEE CEEREE
BROM M F UL IEZ IRFBEL

EENE
FNEEEERITNEFTTERLALAINTE
SR FEN R EthE8F] o Fr B E 5 895 Bl 28 45 & B
ZEEEMER HRAFSZRFEEKTRE
ARRE2ETENHFWNRERELRSERATHE
BER BEFMOKFEURSIRFEES
BEXRRBDEERIEENZ MBS

EEMERIFBEN GRSV BHRERME2.

EENRZ ZHHEN 2=
FREMFBEAEEERRABMEANB AR REZ
WEBRABAIIN— A REENEE HABHERA
BERBEERNETEEEAER ]iijzliﬁl%f"‘ﬁ'ﬁ
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF BEERFATESITHRAENEA
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE T) 2 1E {a] 46 Bt 5% B BV B 19 ~ AE RE B AR
OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, RELSDPEENESZRKE

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the  R2020FE12B31H  BE R EAATESITHRAE
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, RAEATXEFMBH LB (EEREHSAPE
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its &4 (ME S RBEER)) (FHEFES715) F
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the XVE&R{D) Z D - ABRERMD REHET > HEERES
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFQO") (Chapter 571 of HEHIEKABIEISEBELARMEFEE Z &0
the Laws of Hong Kong) as recorded in the register required to Z#@mKR*KE > WIRIBGEM EHRAES 461K E
be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to  5.67{1&Frii F T AN BB ETHE ST H Z AT
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required 12# (IXBHFIEE ) BAUEHMARNEERAT
standard of dealings in securities by directors of listed issuer (the REiAFrZEHERXAMT :

“Required Standard of Dealings”) as referred to in Rules 5.46

to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in the Shares RERRZEE
Approximate
Capacity and percentage of
Name of Director nature of interests Number of Shares issued Shares®
HEETRMZ
EEER B RkEDEE ahE- 4= BE49E 3 O
Mr. Sun Haitao Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213@ 39.16%

(“Mr. Sun”)

BmoEErE (MREk%E)) RREFZEEZ#SR
Notes: Wzt

(1) The calculation is based on the number of Shares as a percentage of the total (1) % RH B R2020FE12831BLERTRMH A% (B
number of issued Shares (i.e. 4,686,048,381 Shares) as at 31 December 2020. 4,686,048, 381/ 17) B D EEEtE o

) 51RENPIN.COM INC. is wholly owned by Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology — (2) 51RENPIN.COM INC.H EBEBE4HEERFEFR AR (T

Company Limited* (“Shanghai Wuniu"), which is in turn wholly owned by BIEY) 2EHE LESBEFIHBFEELE2EER UL
Enniu Network. Further, contractual arrangements are entered into between S MR EEREERAE (MaMiRSF)) (B51E8
Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (‘Hangzhou Zhenniu") + (FE) BRAF (F51EAF (FE) ) 2E#ES > %
(a company wholly owned by 51 Credit Card (China) Limited ("51CCC"), which REESMERAF2ERB RHALERKES) (HFS
is in turn wholly owned by 51 Credit Card, and ultimately controlled by Mr. BT TRERZERNDZEFE)) BRFPEETTL
Sun) (details of which are set out in “Long position in shares of associated BEAZH BNIRFREET RF MG - REZSRBPE
corporation” below) and Enniu Network so that Hangzhou zZhenniu can control &6 > e £ 3R A EASTRENPIN.COM INCFRIFAEZE
Enniu Network. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in Bz tEwm o

those Shares held by 51RENPIN.COM INC.
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Long position in shares of associated REBZEERRZEE
corporation
Approximate
Name of associated Capacity and nature percentage of
Name of Directors corporation of interests Number of shares issued shares"
HERTRIRZ
EEpL HE B B 7R S REEME RIPEE BAE R
Mr. Sun 51 Credit Card Founder of a discretionary trust who 114,117,732 8.40%
can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion®
"BEE SUEAF® HEESELAN TEE8REA
IHEENEEZ AR
Others® 50,355,000 3.71%
Eﬂﬂ@
Others@ 251,099,004 18.49%
Eﬂﬂ@
415,571,736 30.59%
Mr. Zhao Ke 51 Credit Card Beneficial owner 3,100,000 0.23%
HETE MIEJERS EmEEA
Notes: =2

)] The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of the total (1 BRHE B 2020 12831H G515 B F B & 1TRH 4
number of issued shares of 51 Credit Card (i.e. 1,358,320,188 shares) as at 31 2 (BN1,358,320,188R% B %) OB D EEst & o
December 2020.

) Rising Sun Limited (the sole shareholder of which is Wukong Ltd., which is  (2) Rising Sun Limited (2 & i AWukong Ltd. (BHi#RE4E

beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, Wukong Trust, founded by Mr. Sun), Bl EYIE{EsEWukong TrustB = A)) (VB A51
(i) beneficially holds 114,117,732 shares in 51 Credit Card; (i) acts as a general BERARZ14,117, 7325 ;(INEESBEBALIZET
partner and controls 51 Xinhu L.P, which in turn holds 50,355,000 shares in 51 Xinhu L.P.> 51 Xinhu L.P3EF%A5115 B £ 250,355,000
51 Credit Card; and (i) holds 251,099,004 shares in 51 Credit Card through BRG RIUIINEBFEXKEZFAFTABSIEHAEZ
various voting proxies. 251,099,004 f& 15 ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the B ENXFrIREESN ) 122020128310 HIEEE
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had or deemed RAATERSITHAERAATNEFERBE
to have any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying (EERBHEMPEBROIBEXVED) 2 ERRMD
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated #HEEARMPKREST  EESHKRAESRIED
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as &HEISEHIEI2EBELAFRGFEZELMZ
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of EAEZI KA > WIEREXZNTEEBNG AR
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock ‘AT &EkAIFF ZEAIfETF S KA o

Exchange pursuant to the Required Standard of Dealings.
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SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as was known to the Directors,
the persons or entities, other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company, who had or deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO are as follows:

FERRNERBE KRG - HHEERG
REFHHEENETDR

N

KRB

FR20205F 128318 MEFFA UM T AT HESE
(BFEHAERQF

REBTHRASRIN REARER

Number of
Shares directly

P HERDRESTHERERNRRASEAREE
SRIERAIEIBHEERELALTATRRE
BEzEaMzEmsks ARBEZFRBPER
PIEXVEE2 R BIN W2 RERARAX AT KEZ
Bmaika

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of
Name nature of interests and category® issued Shares”
Bz

HENES HEETRGMZ

218 S RERMEE EEN-EIR =R gl

51 Credit Card® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%
S1ERFR? RREGEE s ER

51CCC? Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%
SUERF (FE)® AL

Hangzhou Zhenniu® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%
MRS AL

Enniu Network® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%
stk AL

Shanghai Wuniu®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%
LiEEg AL

51RENPIN.COM INC.@ Beneficial owner 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%

BEREBEA

Mr. Wang Yonghua (“Mr. Wang")® Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213 (L) 46.95%
FxERE ((EXRE)D AL

Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.* (“Tian Tu Capital”)® Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213(L) 46.95%

AT REREEERHBRAE (KERE))C REEFZEZ R
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Number of
Shares directly

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of
Name nature of interests and category® issued Shares”
BiEHME
HENRKR GHERTROZ
BB S RERME EENEIR BAF 7
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%
KEFZAGRATY RREGEE 2 B
Tiantu Investments Limited® Person having a security interest in shares 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%
HEMFEFREERZNA
Tiantu Investments International Limited® Beneficial owner 365,000,000(L) 7.79%
XEHERKEERATC BEREAA
Mr. Yel Interest in controlled corporation 700,655,257 (L) 14.95%
BEigw RREGEE 2 B
Yun Ma Limited® Beneficial owner 700,655,257 (L) 14.95%
EBERARY BEREAA
Notes. HraE -
(1) The calculation is based on the number of Shares which each party is (1) BEFR2020FE 1283 HiE D (AENEEERSR

interested in (whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be
interested) as a percentage of the total number of issued Shares (i.e.
4,686,048,381 Shares) as at 31 December 2020.

Duplicate with those disclosed in the section headed “INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" above.

Tiantu Investments Limited is wholly owned by Tiantu Advisory Company
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital which is owned as
to approximately 40.35% by Mr. Wang. Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested
in an aggregate of 2,199,963,213 Shares, of which 1,834,963,213 Shares held
by 51RENPIN.COM INC. is charged in favour of Tiantu Investments Limited and
365,000,000 Shares are held by Tiantu Investments International Limited, a
company wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital.

700,655,257 Warrants were issued to Yun Ma Limited at the issue price of
HK$0.001 per Warrant as performance incentive. Upon the exercise of the
subscription rights attaching to the Warrants, 700,655,257 Shares will be
allotted and issued. Details of the Warrants are set out in the section headed
“UNLISTED WARRANTS" above.

(L) — Long Position, (S) — Short Position.

WRAEENER) WRMVBEHBHTRMOEE (B
4,686,048,38 18R 17) B D EEstE o

HBEXTEERFRABDRBTHRABRERTREME
BoEERRM  EERORESTHREANRE KA —
EPIPr IR EE 2 R 1B fE]

Tiantu Investments LimitedlB XEE:HBRAT L
BB XEDBHAERADNBHRERE (FhEH
BHEHLL035%RE) 2 EHEF - TREWRARTES
$£2,199,963,213R R I E > H51,834,963,213
B B% {5 FRSTRENPIN.COM INC.FR#5 A I 3K 8 FTiantu
Investments Limited > 365,000,0004% & {7 B! (5 X [E] 1% &
EBRERAT (—EAXEREEZERAZ AR FH-

FRABERETESHIREF001BTAZHERR
B]8$17700,655,25717 58 IR HE 55 1F 2 R IR 22 ) - SRR 1 =8
B %5 2 S8 B M 17 658 » 700,655,257 B B 17 1§ F F &
T BT RREB 2 BMMN XS LB S —H e

L—Fa S)—%XA-
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2020, there was no person (not being a Director
or a chief executive of the Company) who had or deemed to have
an interest or a short position in the Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year and at the end of the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year, the Group did not enter into any contract
of significance with its controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries.

During the year, no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Group by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries was made.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group currently has no plan to make any material investments
but will continue to seek potential investment opportunities
according to the Group’s development needs.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there were no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company which require compliance with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of
material related party transactions undertaken in the usual course
of business of the Group are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. However, these transactions were either
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules, or did not fall under the definition of connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, none of the Directors or controlling Shareholders
or any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total
issued Shares was at all times held by the public during the year
and up to the date of this report. The Company has maintained a
sufficient public float in compliance with Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM
Listing Rules.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS
Ooverview

The PRC operating entities of the Group are required to hold
the Value-added Telecommunication Service Operating Permit
(the “ICP License”) to operate the mobile applications and the
provision of online information services.

On 11 December 2001, the State Council of the PRC promulgated
the Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-funded
Telecommunications Enterprises* (PR B EBELEEIER
£ )) (the "FITE Regulations”), which were amended on 10
September 2008 and 6 February 2016, respectively. According to
the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold
more than 50% of the equity interests in a company providing
value-added telecom services (“VATS"), including ICP services. In
addition, a foreign investor who invests in a VATS business in the
PRC must possess the qualification requirements. The Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC issued the
guidance memorandum (the “Guidance Memorandum”) on the
application requirement for establishing foreign-invested value-
added telecommunications enterprises in the PRC on 1 March
2017, and updated the same on 6 March 2019 which took effect
on the same day. According to the Guidance Memorandum, the
foreign investor's proven track record of good performance
of VATS business and satisfactory proof of prior experience in
such business are required to be provided. For the year ended
31 December 2020, no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
have provided any guidance or interpretation on the proof of the
qualification requirement.
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Structured Contract 1

Hangzhou Hongmai Information Technology Limited* (“Hangzhou
Hongmai”) is an indirect wholly owned PRC subsidiary of the
Company.

Hangzhou Weizi Assets Management Limited* (“Hangzhou
Weizi") was incorporated in September 2017. It is currently wholly
owned by Mr. Yi Xiongjun. Hangzhou Weizi has obtained the ICP
License.

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed
to engage in the Internet business in which Hangzhou Weizi is
engaged, the Contractual Arrangement 1 (as defined below) is
adopted by the Group, the details of which are set out below.
The mobile application “Xiaowu Purse” (“Xiaowu Purse App”)
developed and owned by Hangzhou Weizi acts as the major
channel through which Hangzhou Hongmai approaches its users
and conducts business. Hangzhou Weizi presents information to
specific Internet users by connecting Xiaowu Purse App to its
cooperating Internet platforms, thereby providing the potential
users with financing demands to Hangzhou Hongmai. At the same
time, Hangzhou Hongmai gets access to the users application
information through Xiaowu Purse App. Therefore, the Contractual
Arrangement 1 (as defined below) is crucial to the Group.

Hangzhou Hongmai entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 1 with Hangzhou Weizi in late 2017; and
further entered into: (2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 1; (3) the
Equity Pledge Agreement 1; and (4) the Shareholder Voting Rights
Entrustment Agreement 1 and supporting documents (collectively
referred to as the “Structured Contract 1") with Hangzhou
Weizi and Mr. Yi Xiongjun (the “Nominee Shareholder 1) to
enable the Group to obtain the power and ability to control the
business of Hangzhou Weizi and acquire economic benefits (the
“Contractual Arrangement 1°).
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The Structured Contract 1 has an initial term of 10 years
commencing from the date of the relevant agreement which
is renewable by prior written notice of Hangzhou Hongmai. As
security for the payment of service fees under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement 1 and the performance of the
Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the Equity Pledge Agreement 1
executed in favour of Hangzhou Hongmai as pledgee will only
be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholder 1 contemplated under the Contractual Arrangement
1 are fulfilled. Similarly, in order to protect the Group, the
power of attorney executed with Hangzhou Hongmai or the
person designated by it as entrustee will be valid so long as
the Contractual Arrangement 1 is in force. The Company will
keep exploring various opportunities in building up its services
operations so that it can obtain qualification as early as possible
to acquire the entire equity interest of Hangzhou Weizi if and when
the foreign investment restrictions are abolished.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 1 which
involves the payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Weizi to
Hangzhou Hongmai, and the nominal purchase consideration to be
paid by Hangzhou Hongmai to the Nominee Shareholder 1 under
the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the Contractual Arrangement 1
does not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract 1, taken as a whole, permits the results
and financial operations of Hangzhou Weizi to be consolidated
into the Group, as if it were the Company’s subsidiary resulting in
all economic benefits of its business flowing into the Company.
Through the appointment of senior management of Hangzhou
Weizi, the Company believes that Hangzhou Hongmai is able
to effectively supervise, manage and operate the business
operations, expansion plans, financial policies and assets of
Hangzhou Weizi, and at the same time, ensure due implementation
of the Structured Contract 1.

EBEENIZYEFEHERBENERESS
Hi+5 > TR A AR B FE A E B AT LUE
H-FRBRBEBREZAFHRIZXNRBER
BT ERXBEEGRIMER URIMNARS E R
ARUNKREERGZ IR EG AT SHZ I
BETHREARRIFMAESEEMRRK L R
HRERER UMK EEEA T /R
ANBUZBRELZFAZEENENLINETHER
BAEM - ARBAIREEBREFAAREIHRERRSE
B> ARBRINFBER RINERERGIERE
BTN E 2 B

BRIB R EH S FHER 1S RAUNLE B M 5k Ak
SIATBRFS & > LUK AN b AR AR 158 2K 8 B HE 177 5% 1
BXNTFREARRINGEBEEIN SHOZH
1R E R ERAE

BEMS GEESNIBENNMEZXERME
EEEOSATER BNMEBSTRBDZWER
B UBEEBRSAAKLEN DT RAARRAT -
KRB BBIRRNMNHUMEZSREERE
MMNBMRBRE N AN EE - ERREENMNME
ZEBEE - BRESE MBERRKREE ILRF
R EREEESNIERSZERE -

-

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS 31



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFOHRS

The Structured Contract 1 enables the Company to exercise
control over and receive economic benefits generated from the
business operation of Hangzhou Weizi. The validity and legality of
the Structured Contract 1 have been confirmed by the PRC legal
advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair and reasonable
for Hangzhou Hongmai to be entitled to all the economic benefits
generated from Hangzhou Weizi. The Structured Contract 1 also
permits Hangzhou Hongmai to exclusively acquire all or part of
the equity interest in Hangzhou Weizi, to the extent permitted
by the PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the Group’'s
lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Weizi, the Group is able to
control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Weizi in
substance through the Structured Contract 1. As a result of the
Contractual Arrangement 1, Hangzhou Weizi is accounted for as
the Company's subsidiary, and its financial position and operating
results are consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial
Statements.

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangement 1, the revenue and net
profit of Hangzhou Weizi for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to approximately HK$0.2 million and approximately
HK$53,000, respectively. The net assets of Hangzhou Weizi as at 31
December 2020 amounted to approximately HK$13.2 million.

Risk Factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangement 1: (1) the PRC government may determine that the
documents under the Contractual Arrangement 1 do not comply
with applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangement 1 may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangement 1 may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

The Group has consulted its PRC legal advisor specified in this

area for provision of professional legal opinion on the Contractual
Arrangement 1.
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Internal Control Measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Hangzhou Weizi, the Contractual Arrangement 1 has provided
that, without having obtained the written consent of Hangzhou
Hongmai, the Nominee Shareholder 1 and Hangzhou Weizi: (1) shall
not in any manner sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any legal assets, legitimate interest or revenue interests of the
equity interests in Hangzhou Weizi, or allow any encumbrance
thereon of any guarantee interest; and (2) shall not enter into any
merger, partnership, joint venture agreement or be in association
with any person, or acquire or invest in any person, or get
separated from Hangzhou Weizi, amend the articles of association
of Hangzhou Weizi and change the registered capital or legal form
of the company.

No Material Change in the Contractual
Arrangement 1

The Company confirmed that there is no material change in the
Contractual Arrangement 1 and/or the circumstances under which
it was adopted, and its impact on the Group, and the terms of the
Contractual Arrangement 1 are on normal commercial terms.

No Rescission of the Contractual Arrangement 1

The Company also confirmed that there is no rescission of the
Structured Contract 1, and that there are no circumstances
resulting from which the Structured Contract 1 could not be
rescinded when restrictions on the adoption of Structured
Contract 1 are removed.

Structured Contract 2

Wuhan Wuhao was an indirect PRC subsidiary owned as to 55%
equity interests by the Company, and the remaining 45% equity
interests was directly held by Mr. Liu Jiping.

Wuhan Yuechang Feichi Network Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Yuechang Feichi”) was incorporated in April 2018 and was
wholly owned by Mr. Yi Xiongjun. Yuechang Feichi had obtained
the ICP License.
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As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed
to engage in the online apartment leasing business in which
Yuechang Feichi is engaged, the Contractual Arrangement 2 (as
defined below) was adopted by the Group, the details of which
are set out below. The website of “51Gongyu” (“51Gongyu”)
developed and owned by Yuechang Feichi acts as the major
channel through which Wuhan Wuhao approaches its users and
conducts business. Yuechang Feichi presents information to
specific Internet users through Internet platforms that include
51Gongyu for cooperation, thereby providing the potential users
with apartment leasing demands to Wuhan Wuhao. Therefore, the
Contractual Arrangement 2 (as defined below) was crucial to the
Group.

Wuhan Wuhao re-entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2 with Yuechang Feichi in mid-2019; and
further entered into: (2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 2; (3) the
Equity Pledge Agreement 2; and (4) the Shareholder Voting Rights
Entrustment Agreement 2 and supporting documents (collectively
referred to as the “Structured Contract 2“) with Yuechang
Feichi and Mr. Yi Xiongjun (the “Nominee Shareholder 2") to
enable the Group to obtain the power and ability to control the
business of Yuechang Feichi and acquire economic benefits (the
“Contractual Arrangement 2").

The Structured Contract 2 had an initial term of 10 years
commencing from the date of the relevant agreement which is
renewable by prior written notice of Wuhan Wuhao. As security
for the payment of service fees under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2 and the performance of the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2, the Equity Pledge Agreement 2 executed
in favour of Wuhan Wuhao as pledgee will only be terminated
when all the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder 2
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangement 2 are fulfilled.
Similarly, in order to protect the Group, the power of attorney
executed with Wuhan Wuhao or the person designated by it as
entrustee will be valid so long as the Contractual Arrangement 2 is
in force.
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Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 which
involved the payment of a service fee by Yuechang Feichi to
Wuhan Wuhao, and the nominal purchase consideration to be
paid by Wuhan Wuhao to the Nominee Shareholder 2 under the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2, the Contractual Arrangement 2 did
not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract 2, taken as a whole, permits the results
and financial operations of Yuechang Feichi to be consolidated
into the Group, as if it were the Company's subsidiary resulting
in the responding economic benefits of its business flowing into
the Company. Through the appointment of senior management
of Yuechang Feichi, the Company believes that Wuhan Wuhao
is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate the
business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and
assets of Yuechang Feichi, and at the same time, ensure due
implementation of the Structured Contract 2.

The Structured Contract 2 enabled the Company to exercise
control over and receive, in proportion to its shareholding
percentage, economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Yuechang Feichi. The validity and legality of the
Structured Contract 2 have been confirmed by the PRC legal
advisor. The Company was of the view that it is fair and reasonable
for Wuhan Wuhao to be entitled to the economic benefits
generated from Yuechang Feichi in proportion to the shareholding
percentage. The Structured Contract 2 also permits Wuhan Wuhao
to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interest in Yuechang
Feichi, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group’s lack of equity ownership in Yuechang
Feichi, the Group is able to control correspondingly the business
and financial position of Yuechang Feichi in substance through the
Structured Contract 2. As a result of the Contractual Arrangement
2, Yuechang Feichi is accounted for as the Company’s subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results are included in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangement 2, Yuechang Feichi had
no revenue and incurred a net loss of approximately HK$132,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The net assets of Yuechang
Feichi as at 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$533,000.
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Risk Factors

The following were the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangement 2: (1) the PRC government may determine that the
documents under the Contractual Arrangement 2 do not comply
with applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangement 2 may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangement 2 may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

The Group has consulted its PRC legal advisor specified in this
area for provision of professional legal opinion on the Contractual
Arrangement 2.

Internal Control Measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Yuechang Feichi, the Contractual Arrangement 2 has provided that,
without having obtained the written consent of Wuhan Wuhao,
the Nominee Shareholder 2 and Yuechang Feichi: (1) shall not in
any manner sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any
legal assets, legitimate interest or revenue interests of the equity
interests in Yuechang Feichi, or allow any encumbrance thereon
of any guarantee interest; and (2) shall not enter into any merger,
partnership, joint venture agreement or be in association with any
person, or acquire or invest in any person, or get separated from
Yuechang Feichi, amend the articles of association of Yuechang
Feichi and change the registered capital or legal form of the
company.

Termination of Contractual Arrangement 2

After considering that the apartment leasing business had been
continuously loss-making and that its future operation would
remain unfavourable to the Group, the Board had resolved to
cease the apartment leasing business in November 2020 and had
initiated deregistration procedures for the subsidiaries in respect
of such business, and the Structured Contract 2 was terminated in
February 2021 accordingly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEER
A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 38 M EE AT MEH N AR EFEISESLIE o

to 54 of this report.

AUDITOR % BB

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year AKEBEEHE2020FE12831HEEEZESHHER
ended 31 December 2020 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong KB XBEAEGHMEHFABERATIEZ A
Kong Limited. A resolution will be proposed to the forthcoming FIEEIEBRMNKRRBEAD LBGIRE—IE RS
AGM to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of Z: MBI XBEBSHMAEHFAEEAT AR

the Company of the subsequent year. NE) T EZEED o

By order of the Board KEEGD

china Netcom Technology Holdings Limited PR EBERBRAR
Sun Haitao FEFHITEE
Chairman and Executive Director ®’iEE

23 March 2021 202143823H

* The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective

Chinese name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company had applied
and complied with all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules except for the following:

CODE PROVISION A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Currently, the role of the chairman of the Board is performed by
Mr. Sun. While this constitutes a deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board believes that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Group's business, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board
requires approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that
the Board comprises three independent non-executive Directors
out of five Directors, which is more than the GEM Listing Rules
requirement of one-third, as such the Board believes there is
sufficient check and balance in the Board; (ii) Mr. Sun and the other
Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties
as Directors, which require, among other things, that he acts for
the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and will make
decisions for the Group accordingly; (iii) the balance of power
and authority is ensured by the operations of the Board which
comprises qualified professionals and experienced individuals who
meet regularly to discuss issues relating to the operations of the
Company; and (iv) the effective execution of strategic initiatives
could be promoted and the flow of information between the
Directors could be facilitated under the role of chairman of the
Board performed by Mr. Sun.

Although the appointment of the chief executive officer of the
Company remains outstanding, the overall management of the
Company is performed by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhao Ke, and their
respective areas of profession spearheaded the Group’s overall
development and business strategies.
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The Company is still looking for a suitable candidate to fill the
vacancy of the chief executive officer of the Company in order to
comply with the CG Code.

CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG code stipulates that the chairman
of the Board shall attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Sun, the
chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the AGM held in 2020
due to unexpected business engagements.

However, Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi, the chairman of Audit Committee
and a member of each of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee, took the chair of that AGM and Mr. Zhao Ke, an
executive Director, together with the representatives of the auditor
of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, were also present
to answer questions from the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors (the “Code”) which is on terms no less
exacting than the Required Standard of Dealings against which
issuers and their directors must measure their conduct regarding
transactions in securities of their issuers. The Company has made
specific enquiry with all Directors and has not been notified of any
non-compliance with the Required Standard of Dealings and the
Code by any of the Directors during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS

The Board comprised the following Directors during the year and
up to the date of this report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Ke

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this report.

The Board meets regularly (at least four times a year at quarterly
intervals) for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Company. Additional meetings are convened as and
when the Board considers necessary. The Directors attended those
meetings in person, by phone or through other electronic means
of communication. The attendance record of the meetings of the

Directors in 2020 is set out below:

EZEREFBENTBES ESAREREERBREE
1B —Hie

EXSEHERE ELSFRFESTENR XU
BRAMEFRBD 2B REERE TR
BERRBEERBABER TEFERR/VER
CARMINGZ -EFHRIT EBERZUHME
FRASANEEZREFEGH - SUEFN2020F2
GRHECHEEIWT ¢

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend
HERY ERLEGEHUE

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

558 BREEY 0 B =k RBLEEE
ERNE k] iR k] L RERAE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Sun Haitao 5/6 - 171 171 0/1#
BBERE
Mr. Zhao Ke 6/6 2/2 = = 1Al
HE kst
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFRNTEE
Mr. Song Ke 5/6 4/4 (Al 11 0/1
R
Mr. Wu Bo 5/6 4/4 Al 11 0/1
REEE
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi 5/6 4/4 171 1/1 11
e Details of and reason for Mr. Sun’s absence from the AGM are set out under REERERRAFAGZFBRFERABPCARETA

the section headed “CODE PROVISION E.1.2" of this report.
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND
DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the
Group, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term
strategies and appointment and supervision of management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance
with the objective of the Group. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to the management.

Currently, Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi are
the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDS”). All of them
are under a term of service of three years commencing from the
date of their respective appointments or the date of entering into
their respective letter of appointments. All Directors, including
the INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM in accordance with the Articles, provided that the
appointment may be terminated by the Company or the Director
concerned with a written notice pursuant to their respective
service contracts and letter of appointments.

Save as otherwise disclosed under the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships) among members of the Board. All of them are free
to exercise their independent judgement during the year. The
Company has received annual written confirmations from the
INEDS in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the GEM Listing Rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each member of
the Board received training on corporate governance, regulatory
developments or other relevant topics during the year, and the
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities.
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Details of trainings attended by each Director in continuous
professional development during the year are set out below:

BUEENFRAESREFEEXLRIBIFS
HWTF

Scope of Training
e[

Legal and

Directors’ regulatory Business Corporate
Name of Directors duties updates updates governance
BEELE EERE ZEREEEM EREM TEESR
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Sun Yes Yes Yes Yes
‘At = =} =] =
Mr. Zhao Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
HHE A = B B =
INEDS
BUIFHITESE
Mr. Song Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
R4 = B =] =
Mr. Wu Bo Yes Yes Yes Yes
E-Yb s = B =] =
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi Yes Yes Yes Yes
RESLE = B B B
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FRERITHRAR

The role of the chief executive of the Company is currently jointly
taken up by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhao Ke. The roles of the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive of the Company are not
separate, and are respectively exercised by Mr. Sun and by Mr.
Sun and Mr. Zhao Ke jointly. For further details, please refer to the
section headed “CODE PROVISION A.2.1" of this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively,
the “Board Committees”) in order to maintain a high level of
corporate governance standard of the Company.

RABTHAESZ 2 BE BRI AGRIEREELE
HEAE - BESEFEREAABTHRES ZBE
THEED BARMRERAEERBFRITEMBEEL
SHEBT - ELHBERRARSEG IFAMEXE
A2 1R —Hfie

EFEELEE

EFECRURLEES FHEEEREZSE

B MBEEEEY))  UWRFEARASKF
fE%E/D&ElJ

+
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Nomination Committee
is chaired by Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, with Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi as
members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs and make
recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-election of Directors.

Summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity of
the Board, and the board diversity policy;

- reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for
directorship during the year,

- assessed the independence of the INEDs; and

- made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
Individual attendance records of each member of the Nomination
Committee are set out on page 40 of this report.

Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”).

RBEEG

RAHZEGHNZREEAMN  KBNEEHRE
VAT EF - RLEEGIRAEFTTERHR
HTEFREE ZERERNAEE - RRAE

REZEEZIBHENEFEIRIEFETZR
B ANBREN—RMEEREEERAIELEE
EEMENANE FRBIUIFRITESREILL
UEMEEZEXNEEZEMEERNEZTTRY
&

FRRREEGHITIFME
- REEFIZRB ABREMARETIN
EZn REFEMEZTEHR;

- REEREFRLBERRER

- RBIUFRTERZEUM K

- PMEEREFCHBAFENEFTREEZ

FR RREEEERT —REZE -RBLEET
BEEZEALFLTHBIINAREFI0EA -

B HE
EFTOHRMERER (RRBEE)) -
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Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member
selection process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the
Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods
for identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management and professional search firms.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider director
candidates properly submitted by the Shareholders. All director
candidates are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based
upon the director’'s qualifications, as stated in the Nomination
Policy. While director candidates will be evaluated on the same
criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the discretion to
establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary
based on the composition, skill sets and experiences of the
collective Board rather than on the individual candidate. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for
selection and appointment of new Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and measurable objectives which are set for
the purpose of implementing the Board Diversity Policy.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance quality of its performance. The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates for members of the Board
will be based on a number of measurable objectives, including
but not limited to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, and will take into full consideration
of the Company’s business scale and specific requirements from
time to time. Currently, members of the Board have different
business and professional backgrounds. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for supervising the implementation
of this policy and reviewing it, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy during the year to ensure its effectiveness and resolved that
the diversity in the Board composition was in the interest of the
company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Song Ke, with Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi as
members.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration; make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment; consider
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group.

During the year, there was no executive Director's service
contract or INED's letter of appointment to be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year:

- discussed the remuneration of the Directors;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
INEDS.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
year. Individual attendance records of each member of the
Remuneration Committee are set out on page 40 of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Audit Committee comprised three members and all members
are INEDs. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Michael Yu Tat
Chi, with Mr. Song Ke and Mr. Wu Bo as members.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
and assessing their independence and performance; review the
Group’s financial information and compliance; and review the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems.

Summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year:

- reviewed the audited consolidated financial statement,
annual results announcement and the annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2019;

- reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the three months, six months and nine months ended 31
March, 30 June and 30 September 2020, respectively;

- reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management
and internal control systems, and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function;

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the auditor of the Company; and

- discussed with the auditor of the Company the audit matters
before the commencement of the audit work.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year. Individual

attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are
set out on page 40 of this report.
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The Board Committees have adopted specific terms of reference
clearly defining their respective powers and responsibilities.
These committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions. The Board reviews, on
an annual basis, all delegations by the Board to each of the Board
Committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration payable
in respect of the audit and non-audit services rendered by the
auditor of the Company are as follows:

ESLEeERMBRENHENIRBEZIEER
RHE HELERERXRSZEGRERTE &R
NHEEERAEFERS  UAESTRERR T
ERRERTHISKREFTG M E-BEFTEEF
BNEFSETOREFTEEGIFMARE  URRFRZ
ERESOBUEENAEEERAF -

1% B BT A <=

B E2020F12831HIEFE > iR QB ZHEN R
M B RIFESRBELMZMEUT ¢

Approximate

Type of services amount
PR R A B =5
(HK$'000)

(F#E7T)

Audit services BETRTS 1,080
Non-audit services B RS 720

NATURE OF NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2020 include reviews of the
Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2020 and unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the three months, six months and nine months ended 31
March, 30 June and 30 September 2020, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. In preparing such financial statements, it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of the Company
about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the section headed “INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT" of this report on pages 92 to 99.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS TESAME

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively EETHEIEETERESEEEARS

BB

N

responsible for the corporate governance duties. Such duties EBIEERER :

include but are not limited to:

- developing and reviewing the Company’'s policies -

and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations;

= reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous -

professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

- reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and -

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct -

and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

- reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and -

the disclosure in the corporate governance report.

FIERBH A RBNEERE BB RKRER
T B

B REREZEhSHREEABSWIEIRE
BEXLR

B REREARBDEETEREREERER
HEBRRER

FIE B AEREERESTNRTEAR
ERFM WA ; K

BRAABDETEEXEERTRINBERREE
XERBRENOIME-

During the year, the Board has reviewed and performed the &ER>EZEEGERRET LMEEEARBAE-

abovementioned corporate governance functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risks arise during the Group's pursuance of its long-term strategy
and it is the Board’'s responsibility to evaluate and determine
the nature and extent of risks that it is willing to take. The
Board acknowledged it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group including the task of
reviewing such systems and ensuring their effectiveness. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and
is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function.

The Group adopts the “three lines of defence” framework
for effective risk management and follows The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("COS0") Internal Control — Integrated Framework for the design,
implementation and review of internal controls.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are, however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or l0ss.

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines including
dissemination of information to state purpose and on a need-to-
know basis, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of
the inside information.

The Board had performed an annual review on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2020. The Board was of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, the financial
reporting system and the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group were adequate and effective.

The Board’s annual review for the year ended 31 December
2020 also assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
For this aspect, the Board was satisfactory. The Board was also not
aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.
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Risk Management

The “three lines of defence” is the Group’s official organizational
structure for carrying out its risk management activities, which
includes the identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation
of risks.

The First Line of Defence - Daily Operation

The first line of defence is represented by all functional
departments responsible for the day-to-day operation and
management of the Group. They are the risk owners that
constantly encounter risks during their operation and mitigate
them by following the Group’s policies and procedures. Risk
owners are also responsible for designing and implementing
internal controls related to their risks.

The Second Line of Defence - Risk Monitoring

The second line of defence is mainly represented by the internal
control team of the Group which takes up the role of risk
management and monitoring. They holistically assess and identify
the risks of the Group and evaluate the impact, formulate policies
and procedures to mitigate those risks, and are also responsible
for supervising the first line of defence in the improvement of
internal controls.

The Third Line of Defence - Independent Assurance

The third line of defence is represented by the Group’s internal
audit team which performs regular internal audit. The internal
audit team is highly independent and reports to both the Board
and the Audit Committee directly. The primary task is to perform
independent evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Outside the organization’s structure, the external auditor and other

regulatory bodies supplement the three lines of defence to further
strengthen the Group’s governance and controls.
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During the year, the Board had re-assessed the risks faced by the ER > EZGEEFH T EAEBFFEERALAERZ
Group for which the Board considered to be significant. Below is &g o T XM A EBES =~ 3= B & bk K H8 RE T EE
a summary of the key risks of the Group to date along with the JEPE¥5Ee

applicable risk mitigation responses.

1. Market Competition Risk 1.

The Group's businesses face fierce market competition.
China’s technology industry is very dynamic and highly
competitive. To ensure continual growth, the Group must
constantly remain innovative, assess changing consumers’
needs and provide in-demand services over its competitors.
There is the risk that the Group is unable to maintain its edge
and lose its market share. The Group has mitigated this risk
by carrying out competitor analysis and benchmarking, and
also by monitoring the market behavior constantly to timely
react to market changes and disruption. Continuous devotion
to product innovation and marketing enables the Group to
meet customers’ needs and scale up its businesses.

2. Government Policies and Regulations Risk 2.

The Group's smart retail business, financial technology
services business and lottery business belong to industries
that are highly regulated by the PRC government. Participants
in these industries have to adhere to strict regulations. As
these industries grow and the regulatory landscape keeps
on evolving, the PRC government often promulgates new
measures and restrictions with which all participants have
to cope. Failure to comply with these rules and regulations
will lead to serious consequences including possibility of
business termination. To mitigate this risk, the Group has
maintained a strong team of lawyers to ensure the full
compliance of laws and regulations. The Group also fosters
close communication with the PRC government and remains
vigilant in the latest regulatory updates.
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3. Information Security Risk

The Group's smart retail business, financial technology
services business and lottery business serve the mass
population and hence collect a lot of user’s confidential
information and sensitive data. These data and information
must be well-secured and protected from theft, leakage and
damage. Failure to do so will cause the Group to impair its
reputation, lose businesses and even be prosecuted. The
Group places a strong emphasis on information security
and has a team of information security experts. A series
of measures is implemented to ensure customers’ data is
secured, including regular testing of the Group's data system
to eliminate any breaching loopholes, implementing content
segregation and access authorization controls for sensitive
data.

Internal Control

The Group follows the principles and guidelines of COSO Internal
Control - Integrated Framework in implementing its internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, and
standardized workflow procedures designed to help the Group
to achieve its business objectives, protect its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's internal audit
team has carried out independent internal audit activities on the
Group’s major businesses. The Board and the Audit Committee
have reviewed and monitored the Group’s internal audit function
and consider it to be effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Hiu Ling (“Ms. Li") resigned and Mr. Lam Yu Hon (“Mr.
Lam”) was appointed as the Company Secretary in June 2020.
Mr. Lam has over 13 years of auditing and finance experiences
from various international accounting firms and Hong Kong
listed companies. He obtained a Master of Science degree
in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance and a
Bachelor of Applied Science degree in Computer Engineering. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of British Columbia Canada, a Certified Internal Auditor and a
Certified Treasury Professional. Currently, Mr. Lam is also the
company secretary of 51 Credit Card.
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Mr. Lam is a full-time employee of the Group, and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. For the year ended 31
December 2020, each of Mr. Lam and Ms. Li took no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EGM

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
THEIR ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to the
Shareholders. The Company delivers quarterly, interim and annual
reports and publication of the quarterly, interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosures of information on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the
Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two-way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
Company’s email at 8071IR@u51.com or by mail to the address of
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit
1006, 10th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong
Kong. All the enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.
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The Shareholders are also encouraged to attend the AGM and EGM
and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly
circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder
is informed to attend the AGM and EGM. The Shareholders’
enquiries will be responded in a prompt manner at the aforesaid
meetings. Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, voting by poll is
mandatory at all general meetings.

The detailed procedures for conducting a poll are set out in the
proxy forms and will be explained by the chairman of each of the
AGM and EGM orally at the beginning of the aforesaid meetings.
The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after the AGM and EGM.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution
are encouraged to convene an EGM in accordance with the section
headed "“PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EGM" above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to the Shareholders and public investors.

The Company regularly updates the Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there is no significant
change in the Company’s memorandum and the Articles.
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APPROACH

The Group is committed to promoting the transparency of
operations, creating positive impacts on the environment and
society in which it operates, and maintaining good communication
with the stakeholders.

The results of the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
review shown in this ESG report (the “ESG Report”) demonstrate
the importance of environmental protection that the Group places
on top of its business development targets, and explain how the
Group seeks to continually improve its ESG strategy. The ESG
Report also illustrates the focus of the Group’s resources utilized
for its core operations, which allows the Company to continuously
create value for the stakeholders.

The Group looks at issues that may have a reputational impact
on, or that may pose a risk to, the Group in short-, medium- or
long-term. Issues that are important to the stakeholders, including
but not limited to, customers and employees, as well as non-
governmental organizations, are also crucial to the Group. The
Group is positive in developing opportunities with a focus on work
ethics to ensure that the success in business development is
sustainable with the benefits to be passed on to the employees,
the customers and the environment.

Integration of sustainability into the business strategies as well as
daily operations of the Company is a must to pursue the business
model. To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding
of, and interaction with, the employees, customers and other
stakeholders are of the highest priority. The Group believes that
effective management of the ESG issues is important to long-
term success in the rapidly changing world. With a thorough
understanding of the ESG risks and opportunities, the Group will
be better positioned in allocating resources to reduce and recycle
different kinds of waste, and responding to the increasing demand
for higher standards of waste treatment by the regulators. Thus,
with all the aforementioned factors, the Group expects to face
greater challenges.
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The Group is confident that as part of the business decision-
making process, by involving all relevant stakeholders in the ESG
management process, the ESG issues will be monitored closely,
and the long-term success of the Group will be assured.

The sustainability strategy of the Group in the following aspects
applies to all the work streams:

o to promote environmental sustainability;

o to attract, retain and support employees;

o to engage with stakeholders;

o to promote sustainability of local communities;
] to strengthen community relations; and

. to grow suppliers’ commitment.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Profile

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s main operations in Hong
Kong and the PRC and covers the period from 1 January to 31
December 2020 (the "Reporting Period”), which is consistent
with the financial year covered by the 2020 annual report of
the Group. It describes the Group’s progress towards the goal
of creating sustainable value for the Shareholders and other
stakeholders. During the process of preparing the ESG Report,
the Group has conducted thorough review and evaluation of
the existing ESG practices with the aim of achieving better
performance results in the future.
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Report Scope and Boundary

The ESG Report contains information that is material which
allows the readers to understand the Group’s ESG practices and
performance in its daily operations in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The scope of the ESG Report covers all subsidiaries listed in the
financial statements during the Reporting Period, which include
five business segments in Hong Kong and the PRC:

. Smart Retail Business
Engages in the provision of software and hardware technical
development services and a series of cloud solutions

o Financial Technology Services Business
Engages in the provision of financial technology services,
such as credit facilitation and post-origination services

o Sports Training Business
Engages in the provision of sports training services

o Lottery Business
Engages in the development of computer systems and
provision of technical consultancy services

e  Apartment Leasing Business’
Engages in the management of apartment leasing for

property owners and lessees

L4 Ceased at the end of 2020
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Preparation Basis of the ESG Report

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the "Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules on the Stock Exchange and complies with all provisions of
“Mandatory Disclosure” and “Comply or Explain”, as well as the
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In
preparing the ESG Report, the Group has adopted the international
standards and emission factors specified in the guidance materials
on ESG issued by the Stock Exchange for computing the relevant
key performance indicators (“KPIs"), and there is no change from
previous year in the way the ESG Report has been prepared.
The application of materiality is detailed in the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” of this ESG report.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply
or explain” provisions, this ESG Report has outlined the overall
Group’s performance in environmental protection, human
resources, operating practice and community involvement during
the Reporting Period. The Guide from page 79 to 91 is provided for
cross-referencing purpose.

Source of Data and Reliability Statement

The information disclosed in the ESG Report are from the Group’s
internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public
materials. The Group undertakes that the ESG Report does not
contain any false information, misleading statement or material
omission, and takes responsibilities for the contents hereof as to
the authenticity, accuracy and completeness.

Contact Us

We attach great importance to readers’ valuable opinions. Should
you have any questions or suggestions about the ESG Report,
please contact the Group via:
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E-mail: 8071IR@uU51.com BES : 8071IR@u51.com

Address: Unit 1006, 10th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, ik BB TEBRITKNE P
89 Queensway, Hong Kong 10181006 =
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STAKEHOLDERS OF THE GROUP

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage the stakeholders to ensure that improvement of the
products and services can be implemented. The Group strongly
believes that the stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the
success of business.

Stakeholders
FinE

Areas of concern
e & B

TEBZFHRE
AEERESRESBRE UTRRAFHEE
B ORRINEERRRE AEERERNE
HEBRENERYMEREEEAG.

Communication and responses
B8 Rl fE

Stock Exchange

Bt 22 PRT

Government
and regulatory
authorities

B REEHE

Suppliers
HEER

Investors

REHE

Compliance with GEM Listing Rules, and timely
issue announcements.
BFGEM EM R KRB F B Ao

Compliance with laws and regulations, prevention
of tax evasion and social welfare.

BT ERRER - BRARRRALGER

Payment schedule and stable demand.
TREEREBERK

Corporate governance, business strategies and
performance, and investment returns.

EEER EHFRERRFURKRERDR -

Meetings, training, workshops, website updates
and announcements.
R BIEE - WIEER kRS

Interaction and visits, government inspections,
tax returns and other information.

B REFS BAEE RERREMER -

Site visits.
R 2E -

Interviews, Shareholders’ meetings, and
financial reports and operational reports for
investors, media and analysts.

A BRERAG AREERERBRDITER
HYBRE RS ERS
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Stakeholders
BHnE

Areas of concern
B EE B

Communication and responses
BB K Bl

Media and public

RERAR

Customers

Employees

’&

community

Zant)
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Corporate governance, environmental protection
and human rights.
TPEEB - RERRARE

Product and service quality, delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value and personal data
protection.

EmkRHFIAE-XMEER - SEER -RBE
BEREAERRE-

Rights and benefits, employees’ compensation,
training and development, working hours, working
environment, labour protection and work safety.
R RRMEEHE  BIIRER TR TR
B S I RERIIEZE

community environment, employment and
community development, and social welfare.

HERE -ERRTEERUKRMEEAm

Company’s announcements, quarterly, interim
and annual reports.
KRB ZRE - FTEBRG -PHRERFEER

=l
= °

After-sales services.

=3
=

& IRFS -

=S\

Training, interviews with employees, internal
memoranda, and employees’ suggestion boxes.

I EEEEN ABBETHNEEERM

Community activities, employee voluntary
activities, and community welfare subsidies
and donations.

HEES - EEXLEHUAMELTERRK

1B -
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has identified ESG issues that have potential or actual
impact on its sustainable development from various sources,
such as issues identified in previous ESG reports, internal policies,
industry trends and the Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board's Materiality Map®™®_ The ESG issues have been analysed
with reference to an array of factors, including the Group’s overall
strategy, development, and goals and targets. The Group has
conducted a materiality assessment to rate the identified ESG
issues that are pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and
their respective levels of impact.

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or
may have a significant impact on:

the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC;

o the current and future environment and/or society;,

the Group’s financial and/or operational performance; and

the stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

Note:  Sustainability Accounting Standards Board’s Materiality Map,

https.//materiality.sasb.org/
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ENVIRONMENTAL
overview

Sustainable environment is the foundation for long-term
economic and social prosperity. Therefore, the Group
prioritizes environmental protection and strives to mitigate
any undesirable impact on the environment.

In order to achieve this, the Group closely monitors the rates
of emissions, waste generation and resources consumption
to achieve the environmental goals of the Group.

compliance and Grievance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all
relevant environmental laws and regulations that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to, the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Law of the People's Republic of China on Environmental
Protection ((FREAREMBEIRER#E L)) and Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Water Pollution ((FZEAREMBE A TEREEED).
During the Reporting Period, no confirmed non-compliance
incidents or grievances were noted by the Group in relation
to environmental issues.

A1. Emissions

Since there is no stationary or mobile source that
combust fuels owned or controlled by the Group, no
air emission is generated during the course of its
daily operations. However, the Group has generated
greenhouse gases through indirect emissions from the
consumption of electricity and disposal of waste paper
at landfills.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group produced 51.15
tonnes of Carbon Dioxide (2019:. 47.53 tonnes). The
emission of Carbon Dioxide increased approximately
7.62% as compared with last year due to the increase
in number of staff from the smart retail business which
commenced in February 2020. Meanwhile, the decrease
in the Carbon Dioxide produced per capita is mainly
due to the effective measures being implemented by
the Group, such as looking for opportunities to pursue
environmentally friendly initiatives and enhancing
the Group's environmental performance by reducing
energy indirect consumptions. Details of the emissions
are shown in the following table:

KPI A1.2
RRENIEEA.2

BERBEHK

REEHRR AEBEE T51.15M 2
A0 (20194 © 47.530F) o AR RN
20202 BN ERTEEREET
HEEMN —atRERERE FIE
M497.62% - BR > A Z &L BEK
ERVIEIEEARAERCERE N
BIFEHE > BN M 28 & T IR R IE HE
B BEEREEMNRESAERN
BERKRRF -HHGEBERN TR

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BEREBHHE

Emission Indicators Source 2020
213611 KRB 2020F

Emission
2019 Type 2020 2019
2019 b3 Epl 2020F 2019

Scope 2: Energy Indirect Emissions
BED : FRERHH

Unit of electricity consumed 63,906.88
kwh
HEENEN 63,906.88
TRE
Scope 3: Other Indirect Emissions
3 B
Scope 3A - Paper waste disposed at ~ Weight of paper disposed — (Note)
landfills
HERA-HERZBREE FERVES - (e

Total amount of Carbon Dioxide produced during the Reporting Period:
REEHEMEE 2 _GIHKES !

Total amount of Carbon Dioxide produced per capita during the Reporting Period:

RESHRMEEZ AN ZELREE

Note. As the data of paper waste disposed is considered as
immaterial, it is not included in the KPI since the financial year of
2020.

55,866.38kWh  Carbon Dioxide ~ 51.15 tonnes 47 53 tonnes
55,866.38F FLES “&afthk 51.15H 47 530
440.00kg  Carbon Dioxide — (Note) 2.11tonnes
440.00F % “&afthk - (&) 21108
51.15 tonnes 49.64 tonnes

51.15M 49 6408

0.58 tonnes 1.50 tonnes

per capita per capita

A350.580 A$51.500

Kzt . AR EENEAEIFERBASWTEX  F

It B20204F 1 FF B REAR 1B AN R S A 50
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
The Group does not produce any hazardous waste
during the course of its daily operations.

Office general refuse including waste paper, and
disposal of food packaging and beverage cans and
bottles are our main source of non-hazardous waste
which is handled properly on a daily basis to maintain
hygiene in workplace. The said waste is minimal in
guantity and therefore no relevant data is collected.

A2. & A3. Use of Resources, and
Environment and Natural Resources

Energy and Water Consumption

Environmental sustainability is the key to the long-
term development of the Group. Thus, the Group
always aspires to promote sustainability and strives to
minimize resources wastage. The Group has established
the “Smart Usage of Electricity, Water and Paper Rules”
to promote efficient resources consumption. The
aforementioned rules have set out clear guidelines on
adopting green practices, including but not limited to
the guidelines of energy saving, water saving and paper
saving.
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During the Reporting Period, 63,906.88 kWh of
electricity (2019: 55,866.38 kWh) and 591.55 cubic
metres of water (2019: 496.72 cubic metres) were
consumed by the Group. The increase in the total
electricity and water consumption is a result of the
smart retail business commenced in February 2020.
The electricity and water consumption intensities are
detailed in the following table:

R EHARE > AEE B H#63,906.88
TREE (20194 : 55,866.38F K
BF) ’2591.551L F KKE (20194 :
496.7231 5 3K) ° R2020FE 28 HE MW
BETEERSCBERAEERAKEL
FoEBEREKEBRER TR !

KPI A2.1 & 2.2

A R B IR 1EA2.1%2.2
Use of Resources Indicators Source 2020 2019
ERERER KR 20204 20194
726.21 KWh 1,692.92 kWh
Consumption per capita Electricity per capita per capita
ANBEE B A39726.21FRE  A$91,692.92F FLBF
6.72 cubic 15.05 cubic
metres metres
Water per capita per capita
X AN396.7231 /5 K A$915.0512 /5 K

Notes:

For the Hong Kong office of the Company located in Admiralty,
relevant water consumption fees are included in the rental
fees, therefore the figures disclosed have excluded water
consumption at the Hong Kong office.

As the Hong Kong office of the Company located in Admiralty
shares the office with 51 Credit Card and there is no separate
meter for individual office unit, the electricity data are equally
borne. Only the electricity data related to the Company are taken
account in the ESG Report.

As our financial technology services business operation in
Hangzhou shares the office with 51 Credit Card and there is
no separate meter for individual office unit, the electricity and
water usage data are taken account in the ESG Report of 51
Credit Card.

Reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e.
using consumption average of other months).
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The Group has implemented the following measures to
reduce the usage of electricity:

J turn off air-conditioners and lighting during non-
office hours and/or in idle rooms;

o turn off unused lighting and appliances to reduce
energy consumption;

o regularly maintain office equipment such as air-
conditioners, computers and lighting, etc.; and

J educate employees on energy saving.

The Group does not have any issue in sourcing
water, and the existing supply of water meets the
daily operational needs. Water consumption by the
Group is minimal, which mainly serves the purpose
of basic cleaning and sanitation. In order to reduce
water wastage, the Group actively promotes water
conservation awareness among the employees. For
instance, staff members are reminded to tightly turn off
the faucets after use.

Climate Change

As the Group currently does not engage any production
activity, greenhouse gas emission, waste generated
and water and resources consumed by the Group are
limited.

The offices of subsidiaries of the Company are all
located in the top tier cities in both the PRC and Hong
Kong, the risk of extreme weather events/changing
weather patterns is limited, the climate change does
not have material impact on the businesses.
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SOCIAL
overview

The key to the Group's success depends on a strong team
of committed and innovative talents. The Group focuses
on building a harmonious working environment for all
employees and providing various training opportunities in
order to attract, motivate and retain talents.

compliance and Grievance

As a responsible employer, the Group complies with all
relevant employment laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on it, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the People’'s Republic of China
(FzEANREME L E5%E)) and Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China KFEAREFNEE S GEE))
and Law of the People’s Republic of China on Production
Safety (RZEARHRNEZE2EEE)).

B1. Employment

The Group has established internal policies in
accordance with the relevant labour laws and
regulations related to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare, employment development
and training, child and forced labour.

To ensure that the Group’s key policies are clearly
and consistently communicated to the employees, the
Group has established an “Employees’ Handbook”,
which details the rights of the employees, such as
working hours, leave entitlements and other benefits
and welfare. “Employees’ Handbook” is available to all
employees upon request.
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our Team

The Group believes that a diversified and cohesive team
is indispensable to the success of business. The Group
strives to ensure that the recruitment process is fair
and without any discrimination.

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 88
employees (2019: 38 employees).

The breakdowns of the Group’s workforce by gender,
age group, employment type and region are as follows:
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BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE
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During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover
rates are as follows:

KPI B1.2
FA SR AR 315 1RB1.2

RBREMBEARZEERREFNT

Employee Turnover Rates lESEE
By Gender IR
Male B
Female gegi
By Age HEH?
<30 <30
30-50 30-50
> 50 > 50
By Region i E
The PRC &
Hong Kong 5%

Welfare and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable
remuneration policy, adhering to the principles of
fairness, incentive and legality. For effective human
resources management, the Group offers rewards (e.g.
promotion) and inflicts punishments (e.g. warning and
dismissal) according to the employees’ performance
and conduct.

Employees are entitled to all statutory holidays, leave
and welfare as stipulated in the national and local
laws and regulations, including but not limited to paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave
and annual leave.

In addition, the Group believes that maintaining a good
work-life balance is vital to the employees’ physical
and mental health. Thus, employees are never forced to
work overtime.
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working
environment where employees are treated equally
and respectfully. All employees are assessed and
remunerated based on their skills and competencies
irrespective of their race, religion, gender, age and
disability. Through the enforcement of the policy of
prohibiting discrimination and harassment, the Group
strives to create a workplace free of bullying, belittling
and sexual harassment.

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to providing a safe working
environment for all employees. Occupational health and
safety of employees are always the Group’s top priority.
The Group makes every effort to minimize potential
occupational hazards.

In the midst of COVID-19 epidemic, the Group has
implemented all practicable preventive and protective
measures to minimize occupational risk, including
but not limited to employees’ and visitors' health
declaration, daily temperature checks, wearing of
surgical masks, social distancing requirements and
provision of sanitizers. The Group will pay close
attention to the latest development and regularly
reviews the measures implemented to ensure the
measures are effective.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
the relevant laws and regulations in regard to health
and safety, including but not limited to the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
(R EE A R MBI 2 mBAEED).

During the last three Reporting Periods, no work-
related fatalities and lost days due to work injury were
recorded by the Group.
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The Group has implemented the following practices to
create and maintain a comfortable, safe and healthy
working environment for the employees:

o provide sufficient lightings at workplace;

o ensure the proper use of personal protective
equipment at work;

o prohibit smoking in the workplace; and
o conduct regular safety inspections.

In case any employee encounters any work-related
injuries, the Group will take all necessary measures to
make sure that proper medical care is offered to the
relevant employees.

Development and Training

The Group regards employees as its most valuable
asset. Thus, the Group places emphasis on personal
development of the employees. The Group believes
that investing in employees through training will help
promote job satisfaction and staff loyalty. Different
types of training were provided to the employees to
enhance their knowledge and capabilities.

Orientation training sessions are provided to newly
recruited staff members by their respective department
supervisors. The training covers the introduction of the
Group, their own department structure, responsibilities,
required skills and working instructions. Moreover, on-
the-job-training is provided to make sure that all staff
members possess sufficient knowledge and skills to
provide quality services to the customers.
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In addition, employees are encouraged to attend
external training courses and seminars in order to
strengthen their knowledge and expertise in relation
to their work. The training seminars and courses
include, but not limited to, updates on GEM Listing
Rules, corporate governance, as well as changes and
development of relevant laws and regulations. Fees
incurred for the courses or seminars are reimbursed by
the Group upon management's approval.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({(FhZE AR FEMEEEX)),
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(rEAREMEAS B SEIL)) and other related
labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC
to prohibit employment of any child and forced labour.

Recruitment process of the Group is subject to a
stringent internal review process that includes verifying
personal information of applicants. For instance, the
recruitment department collects the identity proof
from candidates to ensure that their age fulfil the
requirements as stipulated by the law.

The employment of forced and child labour is strictly
prohibited. During the Reporting Period, all employees
were over the age of 18, and had been properly
employed in accordance with the requirements of all
applicable laws and regulations. No confirmed non-
compliance incidents or grievances were noted by the
Group.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group places emphasis on its supply chain
management. In addition to improving cost
competitiveness, the Group also values the
sustainability of its supply chain. The Group supports
the purchase of environmentally-friendly products
to minimize the environmental impact caused by its
business operations. The Group also closely cooperates
with the suppliers to maintain the quality of products
and services provided to the customers. During the
Reporting Period, all suppliers were located in the PRC.

The Group's “Technology Outsourcing Services
Management Policy” clearly sets out guidelines on
the performance of competitive bidding and vendor
appraisals. Under the policy, quotations from more than
one supplier are required to be sought for comparisons
to ensure the fairness of supplier vetting. The Group
strives to adhere to the policy of engaging responsible
outsourcers that minimize the total emission of
greenhouse gases, waste generated and resources
consumed.

Moreover, the Group closely monitors the performance
of the existing suppliers and selects new vendors based
on defined criteria, such as qualification, company
scales, and reputation, etc. Approved suppliers
are evaluated on a regular basis by the respective
purchasing departments to ensure that the quality of
products and services that the Group purchases are up
to standard. Suppliers who are not up to standard for a
prolonged period of time will be disqualified.
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B6. Product Responsibility

The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations relating to product responsibility that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap. 26
of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Product Quality Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((FrZE A R HAEE &
B 27%)), Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Customer Rights and Interests ((FHZE A
REMBEEEE #mRs&5)) and Tort Law of the PRC
(hEARHEMBEREESEIE)) (replaced by Civil Law
of the Peoples's Republic of China (FZEARHEMNER
& B )) with effect from 1 January 2021).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and services provided.

Quality Assurance

The Group aspires to improve its brand reputation
by ensuring the quality of products and services. In
order to minimize product liability risk, the Group has
established the “Product Quality Assurance Process”
to ensure that the products strictly adhere to internal
quality standards. In the event of product failure not
caused by improper use, the Group would recall the
products and provide refund to customers. Moreover,
customers are offered with other value-added services,
including product warranty and after-sales services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety or health
reasons.
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complaints Handling Procedures

Customers’ opinions and feedback help to drive
continuous improvement of the Group and are vital
to its pursuit of excellence. Various communication
channels (e.g. via website and customer service hotline)
have been established, aiming to better address
customers’ concerns.

The Group makes every effort to promptly investigate
and resolve all disputes and complaints lodged by the
customers. “Relevant System in Relation to the Handling
of Customer Complaints” has been established to
ensure that all customer complaints can be properly
handled. All complaints received are handled by
the customer service team. Upon the receipt of a
complaint, the responsible personnel will investigate
into the matter and appropriate action will be taken in a
timely manner.

Personal Data Privacy

In order to build customer trust and loyalty, the
Group has established measures to reduce the risk
of employees leaking confidential information to
outsiders.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of customers’
personal data for any purposes other than what have
been stated in the customer contracts. If any employee
who has been discovered of misappropriating
customers’ private data, the Group will take disciplinary
action against the employee concerned and reserve its
right to legal action.

Moreover, non-disclosure agreements are signed by
all employees of the Group to ensure that they are
aware of their legally binding obligations of protecting
confidential information of the Group.

Furthermore, the Group maintains information
technology systems with high level of security
to prevent unauthorized access to confidential
information. Operating systems, security programs
and hardware are updated on a regular basis so as to
protect customer information from hackers.
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Intellectual Property Rights

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all laws and regulations related to intellectual property
rights in Hong Kong and the PRC that have a significant
impact on it, including but not limited to the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China ({H %
AREMEREIZ.)) and Copyright Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((FRZE AR HEMEZEEREE)).

The Group acts proactively to enforce intellectual
property rights against third-party infringers. The Group
has established the “Trademark Management Policy”
and the “Intellectual Property Management Policy” to
ensure that its intellectual property is closely monitored
and adequately protected. The legal department is
responsible for identifying any unauthorized use of its
trademarks by third-parties. Legal actions will be taken
in due course upon identification of any trademark
infringements.

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all relevant laws and regulations relating to prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap.
405 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Organized and
Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China ((PEAREFMEAED) and Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China ({fh
EARBEMEREEED).

The Group does not support, nor does it tolerate any
corrupt practice and payment or receipt of bribes
for any purpose. All employees are strictly prohibited
to abuse their power and/or take advantage of their
position for personal gain.
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The "Employees’ Handbook” of the Group clearly sets
out guidelines for the acceptance of gifts. As stipulated
by the "Employees’ Handbook”, all employees are
required to exercise caution and judgment when
accepting gifts. Gifts should not be accepted if they are
of a value higher than RMB300 (or equivalent).

Moreover, “Anti-corruption Management Policies”
clearly sets out the procedures and channels for
reporting corruption and fraud cases. As stipulated in
the policies, all employees should immediately report
any suspected fraud cases. After a potential fraud case
is being reported, investigation is to be conducted with
due care. An investigation report is to be prepared and
submitted to the Board. For any proven fraud case,
punishment will be inflicted pursuant to the policies.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption and money
laundering cases against the Group or its employees
were noted or reported. The Group arranged anti-
corruption training for all Directors, including
introduction of anti-corruption laws and regulations,
and the roles of responsibilities of Directors to enhance
their alertness to corruption, conflict of interests
and integrity issues. Each of the Directors has a
responsibility to protect the reputation of the Group by
demonstrating honesty and integrity via interaction with
its customers, business partners and each others.

Community Investment

The Group understands the importance of giving
back to the society. In order to contribute to a more
sustainable and harmonious society, the Group
encourages the employees to take part in community
services.

During the Reporting Period, apart from donation
to Hong Kong Breast Cancer Foundation, the Group
did not organise any community activities due to
the outbreak of COVID-19 with the social distance
measures implemented (2019: balloon modelling
workshop and Chinese New year celebration party for
the children staying at Po Leung Kuk Home).
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX

Part A: Environmental

ESG Aspects
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Related Section(s) Remarks
tHRAEER Bt

A1. Emissions

Al Y
Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRBRMRERBIN RARLMBNHES - AS
RESERVMNEESHHRNETHETABEKX
FENERARRRAER

KPIA1.1

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
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Overview, Compliance
and Grievance, Emissions,
Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes
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N/A No air emission is
generated during the
course of the Group’s
operations.
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-#HERERER MRS -3
A1. Emissions (Continued)
Al By (&)
KPI A1.2
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Greenhouse Gas
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where Emissions
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
R E NI IRA1.2
Hi% (EE) RERBEE EE2) AEREIHRE XU RERBBHENR
WEETE) & (MNER) BE MMUSEEEN  SIEXRE
T8 ©
KPI'A1.3
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, N/A No hazardous waste is
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of generated during the
production volume, per facility). course of the Group's
operations.
RAREMIEIRA1.3
FMEEAEEEYHEE U8 X (MER) BE i A rEFESEBEFHEE
MU SEEEM SERHHE) o EEREEEEY-
KPI'A1.4
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Hazardous and Non-
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of hazardous Wastes
production volume, per facility).
R R ENIEIRA1.4
FTEAEEEEYEE CUESE) X (MER) BE BEERBEEEEY
MU EEEEM SERHHE) o
80 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIR HERERHRS

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

BZFIRIE - G RERKRSIESA

AR5 (@)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
BB -HEREAER VERIE= i-Ed
A1. Emissions (Continueq)

Al.

A2
A2

Y ()

KPI'A1.5

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

R R A IEIRA1S

HWMPAE] LB B R R A EDE LB EMEmN T

B

KPI'A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
FARENIEIRA1.6

It RIE B EMBEEEEYN S & R ILH
REERERAEDEEEEMEINNL o

Use of Resources

BFEER

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BREAER (BEER  KREMERME) AIBER -

KPI'A2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in '000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

A SR AE B 1RA2.1

RBEREDNEER HEZER S RIUH) 42
HE UTETRESE REE MUSESEA
THER T E) o

N/A

Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes

Use of Resources, and

Environmental and
Natural Resources

BREARIRIERRASE

R

Use of Resources, and

Environmental and
Natural Resources

BREARIRIERRASE

P
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BRZFIRIE M R ERKRSIESA
B&R5 &)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-#HERERER MRS -3
A2. Use of Resources (Continued)
A2. BERER (&)
KPI A2.2
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit Use of Resources, and
of production volume, per facility). Environmental and
Natural Resources
R SR B NI IRA2.2
WFEKERRE WUNSEEBE U SERKTE) ° BREAERRRRAE
TR
KPI'A2.3
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and N/A
steps taken to achieve them.
R ENIEIRA2.3
WP LB RER YT B R B ETELEEEmMm T A
REVBY 5 B o
KPI A2.4
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Use of Resources, and
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) Environmental and
set and steps taken to achieve them. Natural Resources
R R E I IRA2.4
3t SR BB R 7K TR £ Rl BRI RE ~ BT 32 B9 F 7k 3% BRFARRERKXAE
mEERBIREEE RN TR
KPI'A2.5
Total packaging material used for finished products (in N/A No packaging material is
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit used during the course of
produced. the Group’s operations.
R R A NIEIRA2.5
@A eEMENRE WS X MER) & i A AEFESEBEFHES
CEBMIhLE- FEREEME -
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ESG Aspects
RE-#HEgRELAEE

BZFIRIE - G RERKRSIESA
AR5 (@)

Related Section(s) Remarks
THRAEER Bt

A3. The Environmental and Natural
Resources

A3. IRIFRAXAER
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.

REFHTARRERRABERENERTZERNBER

KPI' A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

A SR A IEIRA3.

WM EBEHHRERRAABERNEAZ E R BRI
BIEARTENTHC

Ad. Climate Change

Ad. mIRE1L
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.
A REHERRAEEHETAEEFZENEARR
EAERI S TSR o

KPI'A4.1

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

B SRR RS 1RA4N
B BRI EERFTAELERFENEARIZHER
EHKREHTH

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and
Natural Resources
BREAERRERRAE
TR

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and
Natural Resources

BREAEIRERRAE
pa

Climate Change

RIEEE

Climate Change

RRE
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Part B: Social

ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

BRZFIRIE M R ERKRSIESA
B&R5 &)

2y

Related Section(s) Remarks
THRAE & st

B1. Employment

B1. [EF
Information on the policies and compliance
with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BRI REE - BREREFA  TIERE - RA - TE
e 2l RIERUREMEBRENEBE K
BFHETABREAXENEMZEERROINER

KPI B1.1

Total workforce by gender, employment type

(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

A BB N5 1EB 1.1

MR BEEE (N2 FRE) « FiERE D &
& DN EBSEEH -

KPI B1.2

Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

AR IE1RB1.2

B FiRAARN R E R DN EE MK

Overview, Compliance
and Grievance,
Employment

BE - aRRBFHF ER

Employment — Our Team

BE-HMAZEEK

Employment — Our Team

RBIE-HMAZEEK
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ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

BZFIRIE - G RERKRSIESA

AR5 (@)

Related Section(s) Remarks
THRAE & Bt

B2. Health and Safety
B2. BFHZE

Information on the policies and compliance with

laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
ERREHEZ2TFRERREEER R EMBEN
BERRETHETABEARZENERZEERROIN

KPI B2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred

in each of the past three years including the reporting
year.

R R AW IE1EB2.1

RBE=F (BIEERFE) SFR T THMAZ KL

KPI B2.2

Lost days due to work injury.
R R AW IE1EB2.2
ATEELXTIEHE-

KPI B2.3

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

A SR AE XN HE18B2.3

Wt PR ER AN BV B = R R R 2 2 FE > AR ABRA BT &2
B ko

Health and Safety

Health and Safety

Health and Safety

BEARE

Health and Safety
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BRZFIRIE M R ERKRSIESA
BR3 #&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-HERERER HHRAE Ef st
B3. Development and Training
B3. BERIE
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Development and Training
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
ERREAREERT LIEHE MMM KX ENEEE - R R
MEEFEE) -
KPI B3.1
The percentage of employees trained by gender and N/A Recommended disclosure
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle only; hence it is chosen
management). not to disclose in this
financial year
B R A B 1EB3.1
B REESER WERhEERE -PREEES 2 i A ERZERNE ; ALARIK
PHZIEEB DL FEZATTIRE
KPI B3.2
The average training hours completed per employee N/A Recommended disclosure
by gender and employee category. only, hence it is chosen
not to disclose in this
financial year
FA R AN IE1EB3.2
BN REEERE D S8R REETMZIIN I T A EIEFINE ; AL AR
o FEZRNTFINE
B4. Labour Standards
B4. T4
Information on the policies and compliance with Labour Standards
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.
BREMBLEET RabS THERERETHETARS T AR
FENBREERRANER
86 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
IRIE (12 REREBS

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

BZFIRIE - G RERKRSIESA

AR5 (@)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
B -HERERAER THRAEED Hax
B4. Labour Standards (Continued)
B4. TR (#&)
KPI B4.1

BS5.
BS5.

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

fA R AN IE1EB4.1

R TR B AR B A B o & T Ke sl 85 T o

KPI B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

R R ENIE1EB4.2

IR R B R R E R A BB R FTIR AN & B o

Supply Chain Management

B e S I

Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain.
BIEHERNIRE T BRI

KPI B5.1
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

% 2 4 25 1RB5. 1
rt e o HEBEE -

KPI B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,

number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A SR AE RN HE18B5.2

W BRI IEAEEFINEG > mENITHEREGNHE
FER B B ~ U BRAMIT RER G &

Labour Standards

Labour Standards

Supply Chain
Management
{1 g 5 12

Supply Chain

Management

HEEREEE

Supply Chain
Management

HrEEERE
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ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

BRZFRIRIE- L ERER

BR3 #&)

Related Section(s)
Ll

Remarks

wmEESIAN

B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)

BS5.

HEREIE (&)
KPI B5.3
Description of practices used to identify

environmental and social risks along the supply chain,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

RS AE M 151%2B5.3

WM EREHREEESERNRERE T RENE
B> LU IT REEER G &

KPI B5.4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R R AN IE1EB5.4

M ERERERNSESEELARRERKIREN
BH U AR BAT REE R 7 -

Bé6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmEF

88

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating

to products and services provided and method of
redress.

BERMREERNBEFNRREAEAZS " ES B8
MEEEUREHRA EZNEERETHETABEX
FEENERERERRFANER -
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ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

BZFIRIE - G RERKRSIESA
AR5 (@)

Related Section(s) Remarks
THRAE & Bt

Bé6. Product Responsibility (Continued)
B6. EqmREF (&)

KPI B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

A R AN IE1EB6.1
EENEEEEMEHTELT2 R REEERMALD K
B

KPI B6.2
Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

RSB 518862
RERRERMRBORFEBUNRBHR T E

KPI B6.3
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

R EX 518863
it B e B R AR RN 3 EE R B BRI o

KPI B6.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

R ENIE1ZB6.4

HWinE SR EREREmREBWER-

KPI B6.5

Description of consumer data protection and

privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

R AR W IE1RB6.5

WM EEBRMRERFABEE > U REREBIT&REE
Bk

Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance

EmEE-—E8RE

Product Responsibility
— Complaints Handling
Procedures

Emaf-—RFREER

Product Responsibility
- Intellectual Property
Rights

EmBE-—AHER

Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance

M

EmET-—HEERF

o
ko

\

Product Responsibility —
Personal Data Privacy

EmBEE-—BABEHLE

Recommended disclosure
only; hence it is chosen
not to disclose in this
financial year

EEBRE AR
FEEBRTTRE
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ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

BRZFIRIE M R ERKRSIESA

B&R5 &)

Related Section(s)
Ll

Remarks

B7. Anti-corruption
B7. RE5

90

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

BRI R $15R s BEFROAEHNBER BT H &
TABEAXENEMEERRANER -

KPI B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

A R A N5 1EB7 .1
RERPAHZETAIHEEBERH T ESENESH
ARMEE RIS R

KPI B7.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

RA SR AE XN HE1RB7 .2

R EE i e B ERAZ T > U KRBT RERS
P

KPI'B7.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

RA AR W 151%B7.3
WEEERETHNRETE
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ESG Aspects
RE-HERELAEBE

BZFIRIE - G RERKRSIESA
AR5 (@)

Related Section(s) Remarks
THRAE & Bt

B8. Ccommunity investment

B8. #ERE
Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure that its activities take into consideration
the communities’ interests.
BRAUME2HERTRETAEEMEHLEEEZNME
REEB IS EBLEF EmAEE-

KPI B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

i SR AE RN HE12B8.1

HIERERE WHE REEFE - HIER - EE X
1E~8BA) -

KPI B8.2

Resources contributed (e.g2. money or time) to the
focus area.

FA R AN IE1EB8.2

EHIHEMBAER WEREHFFRE) o

Ccommunity Investment

HereE

Community Investment

HEE

A

Community Investment

HerE
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R B [ PR

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 100 to 235, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

92

NP RABERARABRKRRZBIUZBMES
(RHEEFSZMALZBERAE)
2R

ARz HEN (LTI EERIEINFE100E
BRZFAEPEBEERABRAR (ERF)) RE
MEAS EBTEEE) NESMBERE &F
B BRREIEN2020F 12831 BNGRE M
NRREHEZHEFENGEREa REMNE2E
WAR - RERmEHRRGEETAER U
RiGEMBRENNG QR T 2GSt HRER -

HPRR REMBREREBBESESSMAE
(TEBESMAE)) BEMNEBYHREEL
(TEBMBHREER ) EEMAFHMRIR &
EEIR2020F12A3MBNRE M BRI UREE
EZRLEFENGEMBREMMIGREEMNE
TEBREBATFRANKEERZ S HEH -

BERNER

HRPBRBEEBEHMATREMHNETBES ER
(TEBESER)) ETEZ -ERFENT R
PNEEEARERN TZBAOREZE ST HR
RAKENSE —HNE—TEL - RESEIS
frgmIFEEstamEETRlL (TR - &AM
B EEE TEBRETREBETHMERS
F-RMEE RPMESHNERRELETER
BEMSEMANELERREHER-
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

EEZEER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RIERMMNEZLAE  BESZEEAKMPEZ
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the RAHBNGEHFRETIREEMEIE - FH M
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These TERZEBRGAGVFREIAMILERERTERE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the IWHEEBE MASHMILZTEEEBERER
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition on provision of smart retail services

IR E E TR R 25 2R

The Key audit matter
PSRBT EIE

We identified revenue recognition from the provision
of smart retail services as a key audit matter due to
the significance of revenue generated from provision
of services and the inherent risk of manipulating
revenue recognition from provision of services by the
management.

KM RUESESERBRAER AMABEZEIE T
ERRERBAEERENEEM R EEEIRTERIRE
HARF PR W = B BE A Rk o

As disclosed in Note 5, revenue from the provision of
smart retail services amounted to HK$32,971,000 and
accounted for 95% of the Group's total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

AN EESPT R B2 0 B 22020 12831H LEFE > ig &
EEERBEWZRA32,971,0008T 1 EEEABI
mAI95% o

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BAEERTREMRERERNTG A

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of smart
retail services income includes the following:
HMI S 2T ERBUABRRNEZEFEIE

. Understanding the business process of the smart
retail business,
EmEETEEBNERERER;

° Assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating to
revenue recognition;

AW R AR RS IERINR B
BEMEX

. Inspecting the key terms and conditions of contracts
with customers and major business partners to
assess if there were any terms and conditions that
may have affected the accounting treatment of the
related revenue,
BEARPAREARERBHSONETERGARRIEG
MRS E TR EERREN g s EIEN M
1R R B AR 1
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

MEEREE (&

Revenue recognition on provision of smart retail services (Continued)

lERE ZFTERFBL K at T ()

The Key audit matter
MREZEER

Details of revenue recognition from the provision
of smart retail services and its accounting policies
are set out in Note 5 and Note 3, respectively, to the
consolidated financial statements.
RUHBERTERBEI N E R ST EEFED
NERE TSR AR MY LS A M EE3 o

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMESEhRIEMAREZEENS L

Inspecting, on a sample basis, the customer acceptance
documents, the contracts and invoices evidencing that the
performance obligations of services were satisfied and
control was transferred.

MBS ERARERBCBENRB UV ERTREFH#D
BRNERRBBXH -SERERE-

Assessing loss allowance of trade and other receivables

FIEE S REMERTBE IR

The Key audit matter
MREZREE

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s gross trade and other
receivables amounted to HK$7,460,000 against which a
total loss allowance of HK$1,623,000 was recorded.
R202012831H EBHEENES KEMEWIRIE
WEEART,460,0008 L S EMABENEBEREEGESH
1,623,000 7T ©

94

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMEEZPERERBEZEENG

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
and other receivables includes the following:
HMFEEZ REMERRIESERENEZEFEE !

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design and implementation of management’s key
internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection and estimation of expected credit losses;
BRuthEREEEREERS - WEKEMREES
BRI R IIEFINR T KRB ;

. Assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade and other receivables’ ageing report were
classified within the appropriate ageing bracket
by comparing individual items in the report with
underlying documentation;,

BALEREZ REMERRIERRRSPNERIES
HEERAX Mt MR ERETPHNIEEREDABEER

A ESL -
BY FX
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

MEEREE (&

Assessing loss allowance of trade and other receivables (Continued)

FIEE S RAMEBKIBRIREE (&)

The Key audit matter
MREZEER

Management measured loss allowance at an amount
equal to expected credit losses (“ECLS"). ECLs are a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash
flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).
The ECLs take into account the ageing of trade and
other receivables balances, the repayment history of the
Group's debtors of different risk characteristics, current
market conditions, debtor-specific conditions, and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the trade and other receivables.
EEEREREERE ((BHEESRE) NERERH
SEREEG - THHCERBERERBARNBEMED
FroEEREAEMERPEMRIRENIRE BIRBEGNE
7 BEENRSR=E S£EEBEHRIINERER=E
ZHENERESE) - FBREEBESRES REMEIR
BEGWIRKR . EXEEAEIIRBRENER AN
BRELS CBETLBRERENEBRER R E£E
MEZREMEWRIETERARERCEARINE -

We identified loss allowance for trade and other
receivables as a key audit matter because determining
the level of loss allowance requires the exercise of
significant management judgement which is inherently
subjective.

EMRBEZ REMBRARIBEERERD SRFEESEZSE
B LEREEHEBEREFEN K TINEEEEEEES A
FIEr > MABTAE EBFHRE -

Details of loss allowance of of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 23 and Note 32(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, and its accounting
policies are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B REMERFIEBEZRENFBHN G HRE
MIEE23 R MY sE32(h) ) E G st ERAIE N4 & T B RER M
FE30

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMAESRPhREMAREZEENS L

Obtaining an understanding of the key parameters
and assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by the management, including historical
default data and management'’s estimated loss rates;
EREEEMRARERCEERBERENFEAR2E AR
X BREELENFELREEEBGHFNBEEE;

Assessing the reasonableness of management's [0ss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default
data and evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking information;
FRRETEEEENAMABEANER 8FAH
FEEENBBENERE KT EEELEBAXESREE
ANEER A RAEEERMFLBEERAE T EHEE
EEEEEGHTNSEN ;

Reperforming the calculation of the loss allowance
based on the Group’s credit loss allowance policies;
and

RiE EBEENGCGEFERERREMAEBIERE
&

Inspecting, on a sample basis, receipts from
counterparties subsequent to the financial year end
relating to receivables balances with bank statements
and relevant remittance documentation.
RIFRITHIRE MBI ER M xR E R BE
HEHBRBHFARINNABKARIBEGBRANIERES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
O RER IR

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
(“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
L oRVRER EE

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BN B 1A & M B SRR BRI
HEE

RPNERACERELEFRSMBRERERM
ENEFEHRNMFFRBERMERNERHERR
oW HHFARMABROZBEMRS - LIRS
EREBERRRS  TEEMAR - AR
FRENANBHEMEMATESHAEEAE
G

CEREBESERNZE HRESBETER
ETHNEZTETIERSVEREMFENERXN
HEERPRA o $ESRPR AL P R ERFF SRR E A > 5 B
HEERECERABR TR ERAEREZ
EROMBERRFHNEERER  MRESE
RERERBRAL o

ERBEBESERETESANBERD RMHE
BEXEHE REFEXIRREE - FFI7F

o BRI KRFFEANIMFRERMER ST Y
BRRGEERERMABELR &5t R
TEFEFUBHZERR  UARERNTE
MEENEBE FRARMARRNER-
MARREEA S RER - RE-BEEER
FE RER L 50 & B A BR B 1A 15 0 > R IER BB
BRRMFMERHNE XN FERER 0 &
BRAEEREERMENNERERR
o ELRE o

o  THREBSHERNANEE URFEEN
Bt EF BLIFETEY SEERNEEE
MAMEERER-

e HEEFMHRAGHHRNGERERFSR
S NERREN GRS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BT S

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
L oRVRER EE

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Kwan Ho, Edmond.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 March 2021

Chan Kwan Ho, Edmond
Practising certificate number P02092

ZBENM B2 AR S M B RRARE
HNEE &

NEELEZEGEBNFET  RABEEHEH
BRaVBRERNEAEMEZNFTE AMBE
EAREZEFR  RAIELEMBSTHIEZE
FEOBFRIFEBRUZEZRIAFARAREZS

B R ARKEFERNBERT  HEEERERM
REPEBEFRENNEERRBHEENA
FH o MIRFIREFTEERSPEEZFR-

HEXBIZEMBRESNEFREEEARY

NS
=1

AHMERGAMEBRAERAT
BEEET

&% 2021%F3823H

PR #9755
HEFBERR P02092

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS 99



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeHmRHEMEERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 52 FHAT FHET
(Restated)
Ge=xl)
Revenue 5 &= 5 34,626 61,500
Cost of sales and services & M AR A A (22,873) (8,942)
Gross profit EF 11,753 52,558
Other income and losses, net HW A R 518 > /28 7 (5,910) (33,359)
Administrative expenses THER (13,601) (12,715)
Finance costs B F5 AR A 8 (1,814) (1,625)
(Loss)/profit before tax PR¥AT (B518) iEF (9,572) 4,859
Income tax charge FriSiR R s 9 (3,914) (7,110)
Loss for the year from RESESEERE
continuing operations TEERE 10 (13,486) (2,251)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations HREBARILEEEFF
KREERIE 11 (2,003) (6,898)
Loss for the year KEERE (15,489) (9,149
Other comprehensive income/(expense) HEthz2mkA (%)
Items that may be reclassified B CEN P EERZ
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEE
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEIBINETS
operations 2 ERERE 3,798 (1,710)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve H& &7 %
upon disposal of a foreign operation EMOBRINEREE (723) -
3,075 (1,710)
Item that will not be reclassified BEFEESHEEEREZ
to profit or loss: IBH
Changes in the fair value of financial asset at BRnBES AHM
fair value through other comprehensive income Z®EW AN SRS E
ZARNBEEE (30) 10
Other comprehensive income/(expense) REEHMEEBA
for the year F=%) 3,045 (1,700)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ZEE 2 EZEEE (12,444) (10,849)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4= A
b o = |

Rm R HEHMEEUWAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 FET FET
(Restated)
Ge=x)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: 'F?'J%)\iﬁéﬁﬁ (B548)
i 1| I
Oowners of the Company KABHEE A
- Continuing operations —FHEREER (16,297) (1,203)
- Discontinued operations —BRIEREE (1,018) (4,477)
(17,315) (5,680)
Non-controlling interests JERERE R
— Continuing operations —FEREER 2,811 (1,048)
- Discontinued operations —BRIEREE (985) (2,427)
1,826 (3,469)
(15,489) (9,149)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THALEGZE BEIX)
attributable to: VA ON i
Owners of the Company RABHEE AN
— Continuing operations —FEREET (13,614) (2,777)
- Discontinued operations — BRI (897) (4,568)
(14,511) (7,345)
Non-controlling interests FEEERR E
- Continuing operations — BT 2,953 (1,008)
- Discontinued operations —BRIEKEER (886) (2,496)
2,067 (3,504)
(12,444) (10,849)
Loss per share from continuing and KEFEREERER
discontinued operations ERILEERREZ
BheRiE . 14
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EAREE (8RB (0.37) (0.12)
Loss per share from continuing operations REFERSEFHE >
FiEE . 14
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EARREE (SRAEW) (0.35) (0.03)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMf Z fzE % M mER 2 BB o
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HAEMBIRKRER

As at 31 December 2020 #22020%E12831H

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5+ FHETT TFATT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz BB NRE 16 75 6,395
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 17 2,591 21,476
Financial asset at fair value through BARBESAEMEZE
other comprehensive income WANESHEE 18 330 360
concession rights e iE 19 - -
2,996 28,231
Current assets BB E
Inventories =78 20 93 -
Quality assurance fund receivables EREERES 21 - 4,710
Contract assets BHEE 22 - 11,751
Trade and other receivables B 5 kHEMEKIE 23 5,837 2,501
Amounts due from non-controlling R E AT Z
shareholders of subsidiaries FEER AR B 2 AR 24 - 6,858
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEWR—ERRKB AR
2RI 24 2 445
Tax recoverable Bl ig[e] R 18 = 12
Cash and bank balances RE& RIBITHER 25 57,467 77,336
63,399 103,613
Current liabilities mEaRE
Quality assurance fund payables ENEERES 21 - 20,825
Trade and other payables B 5 R EME[ZIE 26 5,804 9,400
Contract liabilities aBNaE 22 750 126
Receipt in advance FEW R IE - 1,285
Lease liabilities HEaE 17 1,492 7,923
Amount due to an intermediate FEN —E R EEZER AR
holding company Z I8 24 2,103 1,514
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder EN—EHEBARZ
of a subsidiary — S IEERKRE 2 RIB 24 - 241
Convertible bonds A ES 27 - 15,286
Current tax liabilities BHARRIE & (& 431 5,726
10,580 62,326
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HEaMBIRKRER

As at 31 December 2020 F22020%E12831H

2020 2019

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5% FET FEBT

Net current assets MBMEEFE 52,819 41,287

Total assets less current liabilities BMEERTEAE 55,815 69,518
Non-current liabilities ERHEE

Lease liabilities HEa® 17 1,001 16,694

Deferred tax liabilities RERIBE A 28 - 2,489

1,001 19,183

Net assets BEEFE 54,814 50,335
Capital and reserves B RKHE

Share capital [N 29 23,430 23,355

Reserves E 33,122 27,861

Equity attributable to owners of the Company A SR AE(E# L 56,552 51,216

Non-controlling interests RS R (1,738) (881)

Total equity e S 54,814 50,335

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and RKEZgH EREHETETH TIEERAES

signed on its behalf by: =z
Sun Haitao Zhao Ke
%83 k|
Director Director
i EE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMi Z MisT A4 & BB mRER Z 4B IS o
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SEEmEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRTEEARLR
[0} (i) (i) () (v (vil) i)
Fair value Foreign
Share Share Capital Capital Convertible  through other currency
capital-ordinary premium contribution redemption  bonds equity  comprehensive translation Other  Accumulated Non-controlling
shares acoount reserve reserve reserve  income reserve reserve reserve [osses Subtotal interests Total
BRAEEHA
TakES  ZH2ERA
RA-EER RiVEER HERE  ArEDER R fEE  SEREEE EftfE ZE gt RS a5t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEn TEn TEn TR TR TR TEn TR TR TR TR TR
Balance at 1 January 2019 ROIYEIRIBZ 58 23355 3443597 9,111 1 3935 25 115,400 49) (3,537,690) 58,561 2603 61,184
Loss for the year REEFE o o S o o o - - (5,680) (5,680) (3469) (9,149)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year ZEEEMZERA/ BR) o - - - - 10 (1,675) - - (1,665) (39) (1,700
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year EEE2EWN/ (B%) 48 - - - - - 10 (1,675) - (5,680) 7.345) (3,504) (10,829)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RO19F12R3NBZER 2335 3443597 9§71 1 393 25 13725 49) (3,543,370) 51,216 (881) 50,335
Attributable to owners of the Company
FRAEAARL
il (i) (i (U] ) ) (v (vi)
Share Fair value Foreign
capital- Share Capital Capital ~ Convertible through other currency Non-
ordinary premium  contribution  redemption  bonds equity Warrant ~ comprehensive  translation Other  Accumulated controlling
shares account resrve reserve reserve reserve - income reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
BARREHA
BER Efh2ERA
Bx-28R  RREEK HREE  ASREER RalE  IRERRE Nk SBREERE ittt EithH gt FERES 3t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Fin FE7 TER FiEn Tin Fin Fin Fin Fin Fin TE7 TER TiEn
Balance at 1 anuary 2020 RONEIR1AZER 23,355 3443,597 911 1 3935 - u5 13725 (w9 (3543370 51,216 (881) 50,335
(Loss)/profitfor the year REE (F8) /57 = = = = = = = = = (17,315) (17,315) 1826 (15,489)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FEFEMAE (%) /MA
for the year - - - - = = (30) 2,83 - - 2,804 W 3,045
Totel comprefiensive (expense)/income FEERE (RR) /HALE
for the year = = = = = = (30) 2,834 = (17,315) (14,511) 2,067 (12,444)
Isste of unlisted warrants net of expense EELTRRER IRREY - - - - - 666 - - - - 666 - 666
Capital contrbution by & non-controling -ERELA -2 RRRR R
shiareolder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 547 547
Reduction of non-controling nterestarising. ~~ BEIHEE KR ENEERERHD
from discontinued operation - - - - - - - - - - - (5,962) (5,962)
Shares issued upon conversion of BRTRRRFAETZRN
convertble bonds 5 2,04 - - (3.935) - - - - - 19,181 - 19,181
Disposal of a subsidiary tE-HHBAT - - - - - - - - - - - 2491 240
Balance at 31 December 2020 BNNERANBZES 2840 3,466,638 9,111 1 = 666 15 116,559 (49) (3,560,685) 56,552 (1,738) 54,814
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Notes:

(i)

(iif)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SENRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

The share premium account of the Company arises on shares issued at a
premium. In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share premium account may
also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution from an
intermediate holding company.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

The reserve comprises the value of the unexercised equity component of
convertible bonds issued by the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in Note 3(v).

The warrant reserve represents the net proceeds received from the issue of
unlisted warrants of the Company. This reserve will be transferred to the share
capital and the share premium account upon exercise of the unlisted warrants,
where the unlisted warrants remain unexercised at the expiry date, the amount
recognised in the warrant reserve will be released to the accumulated losses.

The Group has certain debt instrument measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. For this instrument, changes in fair value are
accumulated within financial asset measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve within equity. The accumulated changes in fair
value are transferred to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations as well as the effective portion of any foreign exchange differences
arising from hedges of the net investment in these foreign operations.

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the
additional interest in the subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s share of
the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of the acquisition of the non-controlling interests.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FAaRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FET
(Restated)
(E%))
cash flows from operating activities REEREFIBIRERE
Loss for the year KEEEE
From continuing operations FEREER (13,486) (2,257)
From discontinued operations BRI (2,003) (6,898)
(15,489) (9,149)
Adjustments for: B T EBEEHEE
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss MRIBHEERZFREMESL 3,914 7,110
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss RIBm R 2 MR A 2,439 2,891
Interest income from bank deposits IRITIERBIF E WA (1,759) (1,047)
Interest income on financial assets BARBEFABREZ
at fair value through profit or loss THMEENFBWA (21) (162)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVME -BERKREZEHIE
equipment 4,685 383
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #)¥% - -BE&ZHEZITE 1,665 2,828
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZITE 4,943 8,302
Impairment of property, plant and equipment MESBEREEZRE - 231
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREESEZRE - 731
Quality assurance fund loss, net HERETh B FiE 7,021 26,519
Write-off of other receivables HAth FE W =R I i 88 472 67
Recognition of loss allowance for BHREERIERE ER
contract assets 982 8,655
Write-off of inventories FEME - 484
Recognition of loss allowance for trade and B2 REMERRIEEEEE
other receivables 58 1,536 -
Gain on lease termination HE&IEZ WE (5,539) (144)
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary i — B AR 2 W = (80)
Covid-19-related rent concession A E AR R EERE SRR (218) =
Wavier of other payables EA o ELAh FE (T FUIE (594) =
Wavier of contract liabilities HRRENEE (36) =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BRBAR ZWE (2,407) =
Recognition of loss allowance for amount due  FEW—FRAME A S
from a non-controlling shareholder of a — S IEERRE
subsidiary MIBE R HERES 1,500 -
Movements in working capital EESTEH 3,094 47,619
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =8 (gm R (88) 35
Decrease in contract assets BREERD - 2,738
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B 5 K H fh fE W= IE
receivables (g b (5,119) 3,581
Decrease in amount due from EW—EERNB AR
a fellow subsidiary IR 446 934
Increase in amount due to an intermediate BN —EHREERATZ
holding company FRIEIE N 587 916
Increase in restricted cash = BR&IIR T8 0 (13,520) (7,946)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and 85 hEMENLRIE
other payables @, Ceib 807 (1)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities aHa‘Em Rl 629 (17)
(Decrease)/increase in receipt in advance FEWERIE GRLZb) 10 (1,289) 206
cash (used in)/generated from operations &% (Fi/B) Fi8RE (14,453) 48,065
Income tax paid BIFR1EHR (9.542) (5,169)
Net cash (used in)/generated from iREEe (FRA) FRSAEEEE
operating activities (23,995) 42,896
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(E7))
Cash flows from investing activities KREZHFRERERE
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BARBESABEN
through profit or loss SHMEERD - 21,950
Interest received BUWF B 1,780 1,209
Payment for acquisition of property, BEYE -BERRENLR
plant and equipment (31) (27)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME -BEKKRERENIE
equipment 3 2
Net cash outflows from disposal of a subsidiary H & —REK B AR R F5E (234) 5
Net cash generated from investing RETEFISREFEE
activities 1,518 23,134
Cash flows from financing activities MEFHREHRERE
Capital contribution from a non-controlling — BB AT Z —%IEZERRARE
shareholder of a subsidiary ZxE 547 -
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSZERID (2,439) (6,055)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEERESZFEEH% (765) (1,373)
Proceeds from issue of unlisted warrants BITIE LR RSB P IERIE 666 -
Net cash used in financing activities B EEFr IR E R (1,991) (7,428)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERREEE (RL)  EMFE
cash equivalents (24,468) 58,602
cash and cash equivalents at FzRERAEEE
the beginning of year 75,791 18,369
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net PEREE TR 3,325 (1,180)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRzZHEERAEEE
the end of year 54,648 75,791
Analysis of the balances of cash and HERREEEEHZON
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances IRE MIBTTH R 54,648 75,791

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMi Z MisT A4 & BB mRER Z 4B IS o
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A S M5 R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, the
parent company is 5TRENPIN.COM INC. (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and the ultimate parent company is
51 Credit Card Inc. (incorporated in the Cayman lIslands, and
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2051). The Company’s ultimate controlling party is Mr. Sun
Haitao, who is also the chairman and an executive director
of the Company. The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company are
disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual
report.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
were engaged in smart retail business, financial technology
services business, apartment leasing business, lottery
business and sports training business. The apartment leasing
business ceased during the year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

ERMEREEIEREMBRS
R (TEEMHFHRSER)

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")

(a) New and amended standards adopted (a) AEBEIRMBIITIE RKETE

by the Group

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

° Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

. Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

o Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

° Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
concessions

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group's results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period except for the amendment to HKFRS
16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions, which provides
a practical expedient that allows lessees not to assess
whether particular rent concessions occurring as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are
lease modifications and, instead, account for those rent
concessions as if they were not lease modifications.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 [ERAMERKEBITIEAMFRE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 2B (TEBMBHRSERN)) (&)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

(a) New and amended standards adopted

by the Group (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

The amendment provides a practical expedient that
allows a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate
whether certain qualifying rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
("COVID-19-related rent concessions”) are lease
modifications and, instead, account for those rent
concessions as if they were not lease modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments
and applies the practical expedient to all qualifying
COVID-19-related rent concessions granted to the
Group during the year. Consequently, rent concessions
received have been accounted for as negative variable
lease payments recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers
those payments occurred (Note 7). There is no impact
on the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FERAMEREKEITISAMBRS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING #A (TEEMBREEN) &
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) BREMERKRERZ L RE
not yet effective B ERBUBRESER
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEFTERERERMUTEBMES
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet REXRZHMEREEBITEEUERS
effective: 28
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related EEMBREEN RESAREAET
Amendments’ $17%
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual ERAMBREEN HIERZRER
Framework? R4 )
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - ERAMBREEN FEREENE
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 Phase 2* BR EAEGH — B
and HKFRS 16 EBE9REE
%R & 2
FIR BENER
FEABIFR
EENBREEL
F1658 2 BT
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEAMBREEN REZHABSRAR
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F0REREEEH BELDIZEAN
Associate or Joint Venture? ERERFE2EBT BEHENIE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current BB G REHEREAGEDE
or Non-current and related A H] REBRESZEH
amendments to Hong Kong 1E3T (2020%) 1
Interpretation 5 (2020)'
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - BB GHED NE -BERRE-RTE
Proceeds before Intended Use? H165% 2 185] FRikAl 2 PrignIE?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling BRGHENEITN BEEHN-BTEAN
a Contract? A H %
Amendments to HKFRSS Annual Improvements to HKFRSS BEMBREEL SEYBEREED018F
2018-2020? 21831 F2020F 2 FENE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January U R2023FE 1B 1Bz BN EEREE
2023. Mo
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 R2022F 1B 1Bz BRI FEERB &
2022. 2o
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be E RigFEEZ BB 2 BABNFEERRB
determined. e
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January C R2021E 1B 1Bz B HIEMNEEREE
2021. Mo
The directors of the Company anticipate that the KABEETE BAMIEREEST
application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will BERAMBRESENZTEHREHH
have no material impact on the consolidated financial WMREFEATE
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A S M5 R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing
Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEFGHBK (&

(Continuedq)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value N M BREMS » AN EBEFEER
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based BARNBESENHARBEZUREREE
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value RARBESENHABRBEHERZRENS
measurements are observable and the significance of the ZUDBAF B - FIRIAE=H F18
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are W

described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active . FE—RPWAREEERETE/EN
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity EEMBYUURENEREER &R
can access at the measurement date; ZHRE KRR ;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices . FE_MBAREENEEREEERE
included within Level 1, that are observable for the BN ER @A E E—REe
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and ERRERIN ; &

e  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or s F-RWABEBERMEBEEXIEBERH
liability. R ABE

The principal accounting policies are set out below. TXHNEBEGFTEE -

(a) Basis of consolidation (a) &ZEEE
The consolidated financial statements incorporate GEVBRROEAEEEFINER
the financial statements of the Company and entities NI BERKx - BEEARBTEUTHERMYE
controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the BF > BDERASHEHIHE
Company:

e has power over the investee; o  OIHEKESITEESN;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from D BERUEFKREHESHERER
its involvement with the investee; and B[Ok ; K&

e has the ability to use its power over the investee s FREHHKEFTHENEIM
to affect its returns. FEH[DER-

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an MEEERERER LS =BG #

investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there BHzEP—BRZEEE  AEEH

are changes to one or more of the three elements of EEMTHERTERNREES -

control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

114

(Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

. the size of the Group's holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

o any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at
the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

3 I#ED-I-IBIEE Cui)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEEFHER &

(Continueaq)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (a) &ZZEEE (&
Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive BahkEME2EmERAZEBTEDR
income are attributed to owners of the Company and ERANDIEBARIEZEREZA K
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive BABIZ2EWALBEIESEESR
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of NEVBEBEARIFFEREGR BEE
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even ERIFEREREEBEMGR

if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial RERERINBASIMBRERIER
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting AE DI E S R A & B iR
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. Az BERe—H-

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, XEBANFRELBBZEERERE
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions BE - WANZTERERERRE AT
between members of the Group are eliminated in full BN ERMNIBEREHNNESIR
on consolidation. BREE

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented TR B A B B9 FE 15 B i B AN & [ Y
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which BmpR R EERNES e R
represent present ownership interests entitling their TR AE AR EBEZLA 291G
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the HENBRABINEEFE-

relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

116

(b) Investments in subsidiaries

(c)

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the
power to control the financial and operating policies
SO as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
excluded from consolidation from the date that control
ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
any impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

3 FEGHHEXK (&

(b) RBABZIKE

(c)

MEABIEAEEA BEREMH
REERRUBEXFNBNDEZE
R-RAMAEERSIEN S —BE
R E2EBEnrFaERRITERA
MERZEBEERERKAZE-WEA
ANEFEBREEAEEZEAEEZH
HAEEGH TEEREBERILEEH
ErBEREREGH-

RERBDMBRRAERD MBE LT K
BLUR AR ERREBEYER AR
BRBERKRERRSEFHEAR
ES-UNX

DHEHRS

RENBAMNERSTANEARETFIER
ERARENABREN AR —H--E
ERERRE BENRERKTGE
ENENKRIF) CRESFLREORE
RATES-

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEEHHEHKR &)

(Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (d) UgzsHESR

Revenue is recognised when goods or services is
provided to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
goods or services may be provided over time or at
a point in time. Goods or services is provided over
time if the Group’s performance meets any one of the

1451* EmERBRIR LR P R
CEMBMRBRE —RBREERER
%—H%E}mﬁii s BURIS BRI B R AR
BRNREGNNERERE NAEE W
BRI ER—EEYSE ERBRBFR
F—ERRBEANREM

following criteria:

eSS HE%H&EJ HIERBAFNT

AV A F

o provides all of the benefits received and °
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

AEERBHBES  BIRMIEA
HEFERINEE, %

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer °
controls as the Group performs; or

ERMBREF  WREHHASE
EARHEMABENEE BEAEE
MESERHBENNREAERR
HFIEITHE

o does not create an asset with an alternative use °
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

MERIABRFTE-—REBANES &
EEREENHBETNBENESTH

If goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference

to the progress towards complete satisfaction of EEETINEER TR WERER
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is BEERIRBHREIED
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

118

(Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depicts the Group's
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

o the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple goods or services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
Where these are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

The following is a description of the accounting policies
for the principal revenue streams of the Group:

3 FEGHHEXK (&
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Provision of smart retail solutions

The Group engaged in smart retail business which
includes distribution, maintenance and technical
support of omni-channel payment devices and
software applications, provision of software
development services, provision of technical
consultancy services for cloud server service,
internet of things and SMS traffic service.

Revenue from the omni-channel payment
services, technical consultancy services for cloud
server service and SMS traffic service are charged
based on customers’ volume of usage such as
amount of payments processed, server usage and
SMS traffic volume, and are recognised when the
service is delivered to the customer.

Revenue from the provision of software
development services and certain technical
consultancy services are recognised when the
service is rendered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

120

(Continued)
(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) credit referral and service fee

The Group engages in operating an online
consumer finance marketplace by providing an
online platform which matches borrowers with
investors. The Group determined that it is not
the legal lender and legal borrower in the loan
origination and repayment process. Therefore,
the Group does not record loans receivable and
payable arising from the loans between investors
and borrowers on its marketplace.

The total consideration received from borrowers
generally includes the services fee for facilitating
loan origination and for providing ongoing monthly
services (mainly covering cash processing
services and collection services), and also
includes contribution to the quality assurance
fund, which provides a protection mechanism to
investors who subscribe to these loans.

The total consideration from borrowers is first
allocated to the quality assurance fund payables
at fair value which meets the definition of a
financial guarantee under HKFRS 9, and the
remaining amount is then allocated to credit
referral services and ongoing monthly services.
The Group generally collects the entire amount
relating to credit referral and ongoing monthly
services as one combined fee.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEESHHEHR &

(Continuedq)
(d) Revenue recognition (Continued) (d) WzFEsd (&

(i) credit referral and service fee (Continued) (i) GENZREEE (&

The Group considers the credit referral services
and ongoing monthly services as distinct
performance obligations. Although the Group
does not sell these services separately, the
Group determined that both deliverables have
standalone value. However, the Group does not
provide these services separately, and the third-
party evidence of selling price does not exist
neither, as public information is not available
regarding the amount of fees that competitors
charge for these services. As a result, the Group
uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach
to determine its best estimate standalone selling
prices of the different performance obligations
as the basis for allocation. The total service
fee allocated to credit referral is recognised as
revenue upon execution of loan agreements
between investors and borrowers. The service fee
allocated to post-origination services are deferred
and recognised over the period of the loan on
a straight-line method, which approximates the
pattern of when the underlying services are
performed. When the cash received is different
from the revenue recognised, a “Contract Asset”
or “Contract Liability” shall be recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

122

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If such
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

(iv) Apartment leasing

)

Apartment leasing income from leasing properties
is recognised on straight-line basis over the term
of lease.

Service income

Revenue from provision of management,
marketing and operating services for lottery
system and lottery halls is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Revenue from provision of sports training services
is recognised when the services are rendered.

3 FEGHHEXK (&

(d) UrmbEsE (2

(iii)

(iv)
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEFHHEE (&
(Continued)
(d) Revenue recognition (Continued) (d) WzFEsd (&
(vi) Interest income i) FIEHKA

Interest income from financial assets is EFMEEZFBEWARKEN =
recognised when it is probable that the economic BOfEMARER BN @A EREHE
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of WA SRER A EWA
income can be measured reliably. Interest income REBEE  2EHREBELRSE
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the BuMBERERMEGE -EH
principal outstanding and at the effective interest ERAXIEREHEMMERE
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly REmMBEEMST O GRAERED
discounts estimated future cash receipts through FEEEERYERFREF
the expected life of the financial assets to that BZHM=Eo

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

(e) Leasing (e) HHE
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a HERIATHREE LTHEE
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased EfHAEECH AEIEEaE-

asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease RN EEIHENRIEREARD
components. The Group allocates the consideration in o REEREEE RIFHEHEMND
the contract to the lease and non-lease components HHEHEREERESHAREBDREE
based on the their relative standalone prices. AR ER D ©

However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is R R AERERERBAZEM
a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non- EREMS HEETEHHEHRIE
lease components and instead accounts for these as a HESD UHEBABEEAKRSE—
single lease component. HEZ Do

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HBLZEENEEERS > 63 FEIK
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. TR & o 72 FE B 17 5% N 5 0 A {1 22
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants FOMEBAFENEEEETNIR
other than the security interests in the leased assets FERRN - HEEEFSMEE
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be RAEEIER -

used as security for borrowing purposes.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

124

(Continued)

(e) Leasing (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that individual lessee would have
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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(e) E (&
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEESHHEHR &
(Continued)

(e) Leasing (Continued) (e) HE (&

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received; and

- makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the Group entities use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

SMEERBMERMNER  REBRILU
T

—  TERBERBR T HRAMER A
AFTE R A IE = MEFER
ERETHEE UM B WIS
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

126

(Continued)

(e) Leasing (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

- any initial direct costs; and

restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or without a purchase option. Low-
value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of
office furniture.

3 FEGHHEXK (&

(e) E (&
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEFHHEE (&

(Continuedq)

(e) Leasing (Continued) (e) HHE (&
Lease income from operating leases where the Group AEBEFAHAANKEHENHEE
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line WARBBELINHEESHRARNEIT AW
basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in A ERKRZEHEELENTREER
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying At AHBEENREE URHEES
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as B U FE SR E WA BV A [B) B 2 FE T
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease AEAT BREHEEERBEHEMEET
income. The respective leased assets are included in IN LR e

the consolidated statement of financial position based
on their nature.

covid-19-related rent concessions Y 7K 5 2 1E B 7 £ T 8

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct MAFETKRFEEEBEERERESL
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has NEEREMS 2B EEETR
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess BRI ERGERERYITHERHZE
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the TEEMETHEE A —EEEREN:

following conditions are met:

e  the change in lease payments results in revised o HENREFHEHWHEENLE
consideration for the lease that is substantially the REREREFHHINHEERE
same as, or less than, the consideration for the ABEBEFERZAE;

lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only e THENRWEMBRIDEFERTE
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021FE68308 3z A1 EI EA Y
2021; and 98 ; &

e there is no substantive change to other terms and o THEMWHMEMREG T RES
conditions of the lease. e =
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

128

(e) Leasing (Continued)

(f)

Covid-19-related rent concessions (Continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concession in the same way it would account for
changes applying HKFRS 16 as if changes are not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payment.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which the event occurs.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(8)

(h)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’'s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of foreign currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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(Continued)

130

(h) Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

(M

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government
of the PRC, subsidiaries of the Company operating in
the PRC participate in a local municipal government
retirement benefits scheme (the “PRC Scheme”),
whereby the subsidiaries are required to make
contributions, as calculated under the rules specified
by the relevant PRC local government authorities, to
the PRC Scheme to fund their retirement benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of the subsidiaries. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the PRC Scheme
is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the
PRC Scheme mentioned above. Contributions under the
PRC Scheme are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as incurred. There are no provisions under the PRC
Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used
to reduce future contributions.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that
have been delivered in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. All the trade payables of the Group
are expected in one year or less, therefore, they are
presented as current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before
tax” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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132

()

Taxation (Continueqd)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(k)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method as follows:

Furniture, fixtures 3-5 years
and fittings
Computer and 3-5 years

office equipment
Leasehold
improvements

Over the shorter of term of
lease or 5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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(k) Property, plant and equipment

()]

(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.

3 I#E D-I-IBIEE OEE

(k) ME- -BER=ME (&

)

ME-BERRBEENHEXNER
HFEERZEETHERRAREHE
F o R LEFEEY o HE IRBEYI &
EhRBEEEEZEMAWENEER
REEMSMEREEREEZERR
S8 WRIRE AR

BREE

REBESHIPREZ BREE

REBGHEWRBZELEE  Bi
BORBRIKRDTBRARBERIZA
AEBEERES MEBAABERSES
H s o
RO EBE REFaHPWEBE
EEREBFHRZELEEZRRAH
R BER RS BEBEAKR X5
GHAMEBEEEERERFHZELR
BEERMAAEAER R RERBIE
L

BREENLENERRERANLE
ZEENEHRARREEN =R LE
Bl -RIERIBELEEELEZ WA

REERHEMSMIBFHEEEER
HEZEZRFE URKLEEIREE
Ry 1£ 18 PO e 50

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEFHHEE (&

(Continuedq)

(m) Impairment on tangible and intangible (m) BERBTEEZRE
assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews RERSHF  AEEZTEATFR
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible FHERZEREAELEEZRE
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether B UETRTENRBRZEEE
there is any indication that those assets have suffered HIRRERBE WHIREMNBRETR
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the BB ST MEMEBEE 2 AT Bl £ 58 0 U
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated EERERE W) 2BE-
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any).
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable WA G ERNEE 2T Bl & 58
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates AEEGETZEBEEEMBZIREE
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating Bz WEISRE-WEAI#MZ
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable EE—HOREE PEBENTED
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, EEENREELEM ADRER
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash- AHNZEE—ROEEEZRESE
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to FEBEAZER/NER]

the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be

identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less AW ElEEET AR EERE &SR AR
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value FREEZESE EIEHEAEE
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted B st R RIBEREMEARATLIR
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that KW EHRE ZWIRE KL EAR]
reflects current market assessments of the time value MGt 2 EBREEERRKRIRE
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash- METERRAKRE EE (HIVEELE
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash B SRR

flows have not been adjusted.
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(Continued)

(m) Impairment on tangible and intangible

assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or 10ss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment l0oss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment 10ss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(0)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

3 FEGHHEXK (&
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(Continued)

(p) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEFHHEEK (B

(Continuedq)

(gq) Contract assets and contract liabilities () GHNBEEREHNERE
The Group engaged in smart retail solutions business RERNEETEMRATRER
which includes distribution, maintenance and technical BREREENEZBERARGERERD
support of omni-channel payment devices and software DN RTINS IR SRR
applications, provision of software development RBEULRMEHFERERTE - W # A
services, provision of technical consultancy services for KA ERERBIRE MR
cloud server service, internet of things and SMS traffic
service.
Revenue from omni-channel payment services, FEXMRBE - EinARSERS X
technical consultancy services for cloud server ERERMBHARBENKRIBER
service and SMS traffic service are charged based FEBEANRZEELE ERAEME
on customers’ volume of usage such as amount of BAEREEREFRE TERER
payments processed, server usage and SMS traffic TRMARFE IR R TESD o

volume, and are recognised when the service is
delivered to the customer.

Revenue from provision of software development TE (81 5 35 AR 75 e 38 o 2 1T 75 59 AR

services and certain technical consultancy services are BRI R T IR AR TS P e a0 o
recognised when the service is rendered.
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(r)

(s)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset (note 3(q)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (note 3(u)(iv)).

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held
for sale and that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
The results of discontinued operations are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial instruments

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").
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(u) Financial instruments (Continued)

(M)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’ s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payment
of principal and interest (“SPPI"), are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition and loss allowance are
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
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(Continued)

(u) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent SPPI, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of loss allowance, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or
loss and presented in other gains/(losses).
When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/(losses). Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEEFHHEE (&
(Continued)
(u) Financial instruments (Continued) (uy EMIA #E
(iv) Loss allowance (iv) E5187E
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis R EE E R bR B 2 TG B i
for the ECL associated with its debt instruments BRAREADEESAEMEZE
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The I ABIBRMER T BB TEHR
impairment methodology applied depends on FEEBEB - BERZEZERBIRR
whether there has been a significant increase in EERBBELGREEEM.
credit risk.
For trade receivables, the Group applies the MEZRERWZEMS  AEERE
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which BEAMBREERFIR D
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised FFHREERZE BRERRIL
from initial recognition of the receivables. MR EWRIER R B EER
538 0
(v) convertible bonds (v) FI#aRR(ES
The component parts of the convertible bonds are AR ESZERBOIRREOTH
classified separately as financial liability and equity Z2HREBUREMEBERETTREZE
in accordance with the substance of the contractual Z@anAacmaEhkEm UEES
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability RS —SHEEXBREBEEHE
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that ZERRNBAG AT EEE 2 B
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of BN R TH-

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’'s own equity instruments is an equity

instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability RETH 8EBHY) (BFEEMAMERAIE
component (including any embedded non-equity BATTET AR 22 EBEEBE
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the BELEABAERSH2EUEEZA
fair value of similar liability that does not have an nNEEHE

associated equity component.
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(Continued)

(v) convertible bonds (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and
is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or 0SS upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion
and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEFHHEE (&
(Continuedq)
(w) Financial guarantee contracts (w) IBIERELN
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that MBERRENBREZTAELIEE
requires the issuer to make specified payments to AU BERFEARSEEHR AXRE
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a BRBEF TAGERTERARARAE
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in BZBEZEM0N-

accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Quality assurance fund payables EBffEEmEES

The quality assurance fund payables is measured at EBNEERBTNIVEFZEAAE
their fair value at inception. Once the investors are BitE2 - —BEREERERAEBLAM
paid for a borrower’s default, any future principal BT By W 8] BY 1 7] >R 2R 2 <2 Ke F)
and interests recovered are contributed into the EHUBAEEFREBESRPL NP HE
quality assurance fund account. Subsequent to initial e BNEERBEETISEZ
recognition, the quality assurance fund payables is BRAEHE 1) BREBEESER2) ¥
measured at the greater of 1) the amount of loss THIANSE (RAEE) B (HES)
allowance and 2) the amount initially recognised (fair RIESBUBREGERAF 15K
value) less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation VNP EENRTEHE - ANEBNTH
of the initial amount recognised in accordance with EREABRNEEREBS KM R
HKFRS 15. The Group's financial guarantee is reflected B BRI FRAR (F5E21) ©

as the quality assurance fund payables recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position (note 21).

Quality assurance fund receivables BB EREE

The quality assurance fund receivables is recognised at EWEEREETSHMOEEZERNEEE
loan inception for amounts allocated to the guarantee. RERERFED -NEREEH K
At each reporting date, the Group estimates the future EEMGERRIRENE RTEHEEW
cash flows and assesses whether there is any indicator BERESSHEEANENERREEE
of impairment to any individual underlying loan of FERBRETR - MEKREZREEHN
the quality assurance fund receivables. If the carrying IREE B TER W B RL R BE Wk (8]
amounts of the quality assurance fund receivables NEWEESREBTRSHIERE

exceeds the expected collections, a loss allowance is
recorded for the quality assurance fund receivables not
recoverable.
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(x)

(y)

148

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled
by a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are equity
instruments. The net proceeds received from the issue
of warrants are recognised in equity in warrant reserve.
The warrant reserve will be transferred to share capital
and share premium accounts upon the exercise of the
warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
the warrant reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control of the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

3 I#En-l-ﬁﬁﬁ Cui)

(x) 3

(y)
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U X RE B %ZﬁEHQZIKIEf%f
o BEITRRERE] E’JFE?%#XI,E
FPRAN M uuﬁxff&ﬁ{a%{%) PSR

FR P (ot 1R Y SR AR M 5B %ﬁﬁﬁ%%
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or a joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

3 I#ED‘I-IBZEE CHI)

(y) BER (&

R AEE

5

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by
the management of the Group on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

4
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B3 B R R AR e 530

st FEERRZ EERIE

UTHBREPFRERRZEERR KA
THREARZHEMEZIOR BRIEERT
—EMBEFEZEERERREERFSR
BARHFE-

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2020 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

4 FAEGstAE KRGS TFRERER
ZEERIR (&)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty EHFRERRZEERE #@)

(Continued)

(a) Provision of the ECL allowance (a) TEEIIEEESHE

Trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on ageing of debtors as
groupings of various debtors taking into consideration
the Group’s historical default rates and forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in note 23.

BEABEHRECEERENE SR
TIREBETRIEEBR

oh AEEHRBEERBTLNES
FEWCRIEE R R FHERENREE S A
SHTRMEEBR - BBEEXDERTE
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

152

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under
the PRC, Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). Significant judgement
is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination
is made.

4 FAEGstAE MG TIRERE
ZEERIER (B

G FRERRZETERE (&)

(b) FrE#

AEBEETHE -FB - HEHER
EEREeHEE (RBREREE)) WA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c)

Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive for lessees to exercise an extension option,
or not exercise a termination option. Extension options
(or periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated).

For leases of apartments, the following factors are
normally the most relevant:

- If there are significant penalties to terminate (or
not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).

- If any leasehold improvements are expected to
have a significant remaining value, the Group
is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not
terminate).

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 FARGHAHERGFTAEERR
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERE (#BE)

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty EHFRERARZEERER @)
(Continued)

(c) Determination of the lease term (Continued) (c) FHHIHETE (&

- Otherwise, the Group considers other factors - [ AEFEEREHMEER
including historical lease durations and the costs BIEELHEERERKEBHRES
and business disruption required to replace the EEMENRAREEFNE
leased asset. Bt o

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually HEEEER EEWTE (FRET

exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes ) A~ EBESETE (FHATHE) Z

obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment BEER AARgREMT G- EEHR

of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant FERFEHREKRBERECMEZT
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, HEEFEAAERBAMERE &
which affects this assessment, and that is within the EEAFEEIIAERE MG

control of the lessee.

REVENUE 5 W
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: KEEREB ZWEHmDITAOT !
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
(Restated)
(R&EF)
Revenue from contracts with RESAMBHREERNE155
customers within the scope HEANHERITINGHNNE
of HKFRS 15
Provision of smart retail solutions REEEZTERARR 32,971 -
Credit referral and service fee BENBRRBE 138 58,482
Provision of management, marketing and FEZEZ#KRFEEAERM
operating services for lottery system and  EIE - HiBHE K EEIRTS
lottery halls 197 664
Provision of sports training services IRHRE B FIIAR AR TS 1,320 2,354
34,626 61,500
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REVENUE (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’'s existing contracts is
approximately HK$153,000. The Group will recognise the
expected revenue in future when or as the service is
rendered, which is expected to occur over the next 12 to 24
months.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are determined based
on information reported to the board of directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group ceased its business in apartment leasing business
and smart wearable devices business respectively, which are
classified as discontinued operations.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments during the year ended 31
December 2020 are as follows:

Continuing operations

- Smart retail business - distribution, maintenance
and technical support of omni-channel payment
devices and software applications, provision of
software development services, provision of technical
consultancy services for cloud server service, internet
of things and SMS traffic service,

- Financial technology services business — provision of
credit referral and services (including credit facilitation
services, post-origination services and financial
guarantee services),

- Lottery business — development of computer
software, hardware and application system, sale of
self-developed technology or results, provision of
relevant technical consultancy services in the PRC and
development and provision of operation system sector
of the PRC lottery market; and

- Sports training business — provision of sports training
services.
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DEER (@

Discontinued operation

BRILEERR

- Apartment leasing business - management of — L~EHEER -—AEFRABEARMH
apartment leasing for property owners and lessees. NEHRENERE.

(a) Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segment:

(@) PEW=RER

WRTs e 28D ES D2 REBDN

Wa R EE DT -

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HREEER BRIESEEH
Financial technology Sports training Apartment leasing Smart wearable
Smart retail business  services business Lottery business business Subtotal business device business Subtotal Total
BRTEER SRUBREEE ¥RER | ElES gt ARBEEH BRENRBER it @it
2020 2019 2020 09 2020 09 2020 09 2020 0m9 2020 019 2020 09 2020 09 2020 019
HK$'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO000  HK$'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS00D  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS000
FAr TEr FRm TR FRm TEn FRn TAn  TEn  TEn  TEm  TEn  TEm  TEr  FEm  TEr TR TEx
(Restated) (Restated)
(5] (&3]
Segment revenue from external BEZRENMBEEZ
customers recognised: ARG
- Over time -R-BERER = = 138 56,482 197 664 1,320 2354 1,655 61,500 3,081 9,5% = S 3,081 9,5% 4,736 0%
- point in time -E-BE 3291 S - o - o - 329M = - = - 2 - QI 2
Revenue from external customers  RESNIEE 2l 32971 138 58,482 197 664 1320 234 34626 61500 3,081 9.5% - 2 3,081 968 3ma01 7118
Segment profit/(0ss) HEEH/ (BB 9,490 (8,682) 14815 (1,356) @178 (2,203) (208) (2,751) 1243 (2,004) (5,904) = (1,880 (2,004) (7,784) (4,755) 4607
Interest on bank deposits, other
income and gains, net
1919 6% 1 886 1,920 15682
Central administration casts RATHEE (8,740) (8,268) (8,740) (8268)
(Loss)/profit before tax Ridh (518) /& 9,572) 4859 (2003) (6898  (11575) (2089
=) S INHE I 25 s %=
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue EXEHR 2 DERRIEREIITER

generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales in the current year (2019: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss)
incurred by each segment without allocation of interest
on bank deposits, other income and losses, net and
central administration costs. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

6

DEER (@

(b) nEEERER

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
fREERR BRIESEER
Financial technology Sports training Apartment leasing Smart wearable
Smart retail business  services husiness Lottery business business Subtotal business device business Subtotal Total
ERRERE SRHRREEE #RER BRUAEE it ABRARE BRBUREER it it
2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019
HK$'000  HKSQ00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS0D0  HKS'000  HKSO0  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Tén TEr TEmn  TEn  TRm TEn  TEn TEx TEn TEr  TEn  TEr TEnm  TEr  TEm TR TEm TEn
(Restated) (Restated)
(E5) (E5)
Segment assets NEEE 17481 41,993 83,303 2,20 2861 1,553 4154 63,247 90318 A4 30,853 = S 2 30853 6321 m
Corporate and unallocated assets ~ CERFAREE 3124 10473 - 3124 10473
Consolidated assets RAEE 66371 10991 4 N8I 66395 138U
Segment liabiities HEaR 2,98 S 547 2,659 589 20,004 1212 1724 5334 52401 52 2531 = S 52 251 5,386 75,958
Corporate and unallocated liabilies £ 2RFAEER 6,195 5,551 - 6,195 5551
Consolidated liabiities L 159 57978 52 BB N 80

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities.

mEESBRREREDEBDEEIR:

PREEERDEEKEDE &
Hit R DECRE KRt EEERK
55 &

FREERHIEELEDE K
HM R DA REEE R
5o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other segment information

6 NEER E

(c) HthBEEH

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HREERR BRIESEER
Financial technology Sports training Apartment leasing Smart wearable
Smart retail business  services business Lottery business business Subtotal business device business Subtotal Total
ERRERE SRNRREEE VRER BRUIAEE it ABRARE BREUREEE it it
2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 019 2020 09 2020 m9 2020 019
HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000
Tén TEr TEm TEn  TRm TEn  TEn TEx TEn TEr TEn  TEr TEm  TEr  TEm  TEn  TEm TEn
(Restated) (Restated)
(E5) (E5)
Depreciation of property, plentand 1% BER&EZ T E
equipment 2 = - 1 83 0 3 5 88 5% 1,225 2,160 - 06 1,225 2266 1313 232
Unallocated depreciation of property, XHEN% BER
plant and equipment REzE 352 506 - - 352 506
Total depreciation of property, plant 1% KRRkt 2 FELE
and equipment 40 562 1225 2,266 1,665 2828
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ BRREEZHE 25 - - - - - 633 549 858 549 3474 7104 - 3474 7104 4332 7653
Unallocated depreciation of right-of- R AR ERREEZFE
Usg assets 611 649 = S 6n 619
Total depreciation of rigntofuse  ERREEZFELE
aSSELS. 1469 1198 3474 7,104 4,943 8,302
Loss on disposal of property, plant and £41% EE R
equipment #E2 = = = = = = = = > = 4,687 33 = 4,681 38 4,687 383
Unallocated gain on disposal of ~ HiENE BRRZEZ
property, plant and equipment FARME 2 = = = @ =
Total (gain)loss on disposal of HENE BRRRELZ
property plant and equipment (B8) /5ELE @ = 4,687 B3 4,685 kil
Interest on lease liabiities REARINE 10 - - - - - 75 ki) 85 3 625 1266 - 625 1266 710 1303
Unallocated interest on lease liablties & & & 2 # R EFIE 55 0 - - 55 0
Total interest on lease liabiies ~ BE&BZHSHE 140 107 625 1266 765 1373
Interest expense on convertible bonds BT R & 2 F8% - = - - 1518 - - e 1518 - = - - - 1 1518
Quality assurance fund loss, net BERHESES 58 - - 7,021 2519 - - - - 7,021 2519 - - - - - 7,021 26519
Quality assurance fund recovered  EHEEERES - - (291) (202 - - - - (291) (20 - - - - - (291) (202
Write-off of inventories BEMH - - - - - - - - - - - - - 184 - 84 - 434
Recognition of oss allowance for ~ SHEEHEEEZED
contract assets = S 982 8,655 - S = S 982 8,655 - S = = = 982 8,655
Recognition of loss allowance for ~ B5 REMBEUHESE
trade and other receivables BEZED 74 - - - 1,462 - - - 1,536 - - - - - - 1,536 -
Recognition of oss allowance for ~ EE—FEHELE
amount due from a non-controling  —%3EERBRZ
sfiarenolder of a subsidiary FEFRRGRED - - - - - - 1,500 - 1,500 - - - - - - 1,500 -
Write-offof other receivables EtRNEENRE - S - o - S - S - o 4 = - n 6 an 6
Impairment of right-of-use assets ~ BAREEZHE - - - - - - - - - - - 731 - - 731 - 731
(Gain on lease termination BEREZKE - - - - - - - - - - (5,539) (144) - (5,539) (140)  (5,539) (144
Covid-19-related rent concession ~ HEBRAEFEEREHE - - - - = S (99) - (99) - (119 - - (119) - (218) -
Impairment of property, plantand  #1% BERREZHE
equipment ° o o S S S ° o o S © P&l = = il © P&l
Gain on disposal of a subsiciary ~ HE-BHEBARZKE - & - - (2407 - - - (2400 - - - - - - (2407 -
Waiver of other payables AGEMEARE - = - = - = - = - = (594) = - (594) - (594) =
Waiver of contract liablties #RahaE = o = S = S = o = S (36) S = (36) S (36) S
Additions tonon-curent assets g RBEE 3 - - - - - - - 3 - - n - - 7 3 27

R AREEIRAIRAT « 2020 EERS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

(d) Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas

- the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by
location of operations and information about its non-
current assets by location of assets are detailed below:

6 NEEH B

(d) thEEH

FAEBZEHFEBZMUNMEME—F
Bl K EE o

FEBREGFHEE D ZRBINEE
FPzWmhkiEEEMESR D ZIER
EEZEMFRBRIOT

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

REIIBEEZIWE EREMEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FHET TFET
(Restated)
(& &E75)
continuing operations FHEIREET
The PRC FREY 33,306 59,146 943 24,588
Hong Kong & 1,320 2,354 1,723 3,283
34,626 61,500 2,666 27,871
Discontinued operations B4R IFEEEFS
The PRC FREY 3,081 9,638 - -
37,707 71,138 2,666 27,871

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes financial asset

at FVOCL.

EXERFERBEENERNREERT
WMELEFSEERAAEEFARME

HWABNEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 REEN &)
(e) Information about major customers (e) XBEEFRZEHN
Revenue derived from customers that accounted for FREAEBRLKZFI0%HU L2
10% or more of the Group's total revenue during the PUmIFEMT

year are disclosed below:

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT TFHET

Smart retail business ERTEEH
Customer A ZRA 10,621 N/A R4 A
Customer B ZFB 9,962 N/A A
Customer C ZEC 3,932 N/A &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A S M5 R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

OTHER INCOME AND LOSSES, NET 7 HMWAKEE FiE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FET
(Restated)
(& &E5)
Other income: HAug A -
Bank interest income RITH B WA 1,758 1,042
Government grant (note) B TR Eh (MY 5E) 251 -
Interest income on financial assets at FVPL %A R EBES AEHEH
TREENFEWA 21 134
sundry income MIEUA 162 145
Covid-19-related rent concession MK EEERESRE 99 -
2,291 1,321
Other losses, net: Hthgs1s > /358
Net foreign exchange gains PE 2 U KB 138 292
Quality assurance fund loss, net BE2RBEEIE FEE (7,021) (26,519)
Quality assurance fund recovered EWEEERESE 291 202
Recognition of loss allowance for ERNEERBREZBER
contract assets (982) (8,655)
Recognition of loss allowance for B 5 REMERRIBEEIEEE
trade and other receivables 2 HER (1,536) -
Recognition of loss allowance for amount  FEUR— R B AT —% IEIER
due from a non-controlling shareholder f& Rz RIBE IR RIS
of a subsidiary (1,500) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERBARz W E 2,407 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BEKRZBZWm
equipment 2 =
(8,201) (34,680)
(5,910) (33,359)

Note:

In 2020, government grant income included an amount of approximately
HK$214,000 from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic
Fund, set up by the HKSAR Government. The purpose of the funding is to
provide financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who would
otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is

ST -

required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all

the funding on paying wages to the employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

8 FINANCE COSTS 8 MIBH A
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET
(Restated)
(& &E35)
Interest expense on convertible bonds AMRES A EZH 1,674 1,518
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaBZHEZYH 140 107
1,814 1,625
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

9 INCOME TAX CHARGE 9 FrEMAX
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET
PRC Corporate Income Tax FE TSR
- Current tax —BHEATRIE 2,395 5,869
— Under-provision in prior years —BFFEREERIE 1,787 1,500
Deferred tax (note 28) RIEFRTE (Fid5E28) (268) (259)
Total income tax charge recognised in profit 8 & FESR AP 1S TR R X 4828
or loss 3,914 7,110
Income tax charge is attributable to: UTFEBEBREEWNAERES
- Continuing operations —FEREER 3,914 7,110
- Discontinued operations — ORISR = =
3,914 7,110
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made as the HR L mEFEAERTIRREAEL
Group had no assessable profits arising in or derived from WEEER R Sl mE T AR ERE
Hong Kong for both years. o
Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Corporate RIBEFERTRE PEEE QSR WE
Income Tax (“CIT") rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for FEZLEMSR TREEMBER) RES
both years. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated 25%c Efalz@EE 2 RIBTLZAERE
at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. EREEZIRTRESH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
b o = |

M #5 SR R oE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

INCOME TAX CHARGE (Continueq) 9

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

R (&)

FEEZRERXEGEREGRAMEE
WA RPERIRE (B518) EF 2 HIRWT ¢

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&&E5)
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing REFEREEENBRRA
operations (&18) &R (9,572) 4,859
Loss before tax from discontinued KECKIERE RN
operations PRI ATES 18 (2,003) (6,898)
Loss before tax for the year KREEFRMRAIEIE (11,575) (2,039)
Tax at applicable tax rate of 25% RIEBEAMRE25% (20194 © 25%)
(2019: 25%) FFHEZIRIE (2,895) (509)
Tax effect on different tax rate of group REMB ZHEEEZEE
entities operating in other jurisdictions ERTERNENEBLE 368 (337)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for e[l EX 2 NIEF L
tax purpose 2,422 9,384
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax TERRBAZRIBEE
purpose (1,406) (4,005)
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETRE 1,787 1,500
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERZMIBBBEZRMIBEEE 3,638 1,077
Income tax charge for the year REEFRSNEX 3,914 7,110
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

10 LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING 10 REEERKESEXENEAFEEFIE

OPERATIONS
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
(Restated)
Cc==70))
Loss for the year has been arrived at after <4 E 51875 £
charging: THEBERED
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERPBARYZEERSE
expense (included in cost of sales and Gt AHE R RFE R A)
services) 52 11
Auditor’s remuneration Z M & 1,080 1,150
Employee benefits expense (excluding EERMNER (FEEFEEND)
directors’ emoluments)
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits in kind —# & TEAL R MM EYEF) 8,338 6,719
— Contributions to retirement benefits —RIREF) S EHR
schemes 416 415
Directors’ emoluments EEWNE 2,842 1,344
Total staff costs MET A 11,596 8,478
Short-term leases expenses AR ERY 100 96
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BRERRBEZITE
equipment 440 562
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERESEEITE 1,469 1,198
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group ceased the apartment leasing business and smart
wearable device business in the PRC, respectively. The
results of the discontinued operations for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 are presented below. The
comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income have been restated to

11 BARLEKE

re-present the apartment leasing business as a discontinued

e

REZE2020F K%2019F12831H IEEE » &
ERDRETHRIENABSHEERE X
EEFARBEF ERIECEERNEE
2020 20191283 1B L EEMEEN T
XEF a8
BREYBEEKET

mREMEEW AR
U AREHEEBEIND

operation.
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(R&EF)
Revenue W= 3,081 9,638
Cost of sales tHE A (4,987) (10,766)
Gross loss Ei8 (1,906) (1,128)
Other income and gains/(losses), net HM AR, (§518) > $58 6,157 (731)
Administrative expenses THER (5,629) (3,773)
Finance costs MR (625) (1,266)
Loss before tax PRIR RS 18 (2,003) (6,898)
Income tax charge PSR = =
Loss for the year from discontinued FRBEEBRKRILEZESEFRNEEEESE
operations (2,003) (6,898)
Other comprehensive income/ Hth2mEmKB A~ (F)
(expense)
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently EB i@ EHHEEER2ER
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BMEEBRIEBINER CERERE
discontinued foreign operations 539 (166)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for &AEEEMEmEU A~ ()
the year 539 (166)
Total comprehensive expense arises HREDKILEEEFZNAEE
from discontinued operations 2HEAZRLE
for the year (1,464) (7,064)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 =
M BIRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE
11 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 11 BRIEEEEFE (B)
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(R E7)
Other income: HEMWA
Bank interest income RITHIE WA 1 5
Interest income on financial assets at FVPL A A BEst ABEHN
EHMEENFIEWA - 28
Government grant BT 5 B 2 145
sundry income MIEUA 338 380
Covid-19-related rent concession A ERFEEEESRE R 119 =
460 558
Other gains/(losses), net: Hithlss, (B518) - /358 ¢
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary AE—EREB AT E - 80
Gain on lease termination HE&RIEZ W& 5,539 144
Impairment of property, plant and ME BB RREZRE
equipment = (231)
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEEZBIE = (731
Write-off of inventories FE M = (484)
Write-off of other receivables EH A FE WRRIE i3 (472) (67)
Waiver of other payables BB H MRS IE 594 -
Waiver of contract liabilities BEeaHNaE 36 =
5,697 (1,289)
6,157 (731)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 11 BARILEEET (&)
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
(Restated)
(B &E7)
Loss for the year has been arrived KREEBELENBRTIRIER
at after charging: B/
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERBAREIZEERA
expense (included in cost of sales) (Gt ABHE R AK) - 36
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN & - 3
Employee benefits expense (excluding EERMNER FEEFEEHE)
directors’ emoluments)
— Salaries and other benefits in kind — M EREMBEYERN 657 2,817
— Contributions to retirement benefits —RIKEF]EHEHR
schemes 230 673
Total staff costs BWE T A 887 3,490
Short-term leases expenses MR ERS 47 296
Low-value leases expenses HEEHEHRX - 13
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BEREZEHZITE
equipment 1,225 2,266
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEZINE 3,474 7,104
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BEMRREZER
equipment 4,687 383
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A S M5 R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations

11 BRILEEXRE (B

ERIECEXEGREENRSREFHAN

are as follows: S ¢
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
(Restated)
(B EH)
Net cash generated from KETRBPMBIRE 3
operating activities 1,155 3,061
Net cash generated from KEEEFSIRE P
investing activities 1 2,465
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBMMAIRESFEE (1,754) (6,402)
Net decrease in cash used in discontinued BARIEEKEEEFTAIRESH /D FEE
operations (598) (876)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FA 35 3R R I 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

4= A
b o = |

12 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2019:

12 EEME

ME% (20196 : %) EF BN Z B

five) directors were as follows: 1 N
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
BEEREM RAEF
ik BEMEH B1BTEAL BEGEA 1t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT THET TAERT TAERT T#ERT
2020 20205
Executive directors HiTEE
Sun Haitao BEE - 360 659 18 1,037
Zhao Ke e - 498 839 18 (#355)
Independent non-executive BIUFHNTES
directors
Song Ke R 150 - - - 150
Wu Bo 2K 150 - - - 150
Michael Yu Tat Chi REE 150 - - - 150
450 858 1,498 36 2,842
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

12 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12 E5ME 2
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits  Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
e REAM RRER
e BMEH MIBTEA BEEN Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT THT TAT TAT THT

2019 20195

Executive directors HITES

Sun Haitao wEE = 360 - 18 378

Zhao Ke e - 498 - 18 516

Independent non-executive BUFHNTES

directors

Song Ke R 150 - - - 150

Wu Bo 2% 150 S S S 150

Michael Yu Tat Chi RES 150 - - - 150
150 858 - 36 1,304

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, since K& E2020F &2019F12831HEFE > B

the appointment of chief executive officer of the Company RARRA B E RS ETBARE > #0122

remains outstanding, no emoluments were paid to the chief NETEBARE BN & o

executive officer of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or RERTEEFHZHEUAREERERIFAER

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2019: Nil). BEEMBNE (20194 : #8) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

13 EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 13 EEME
(a) Employee benefits expense (excluding (a) EERAER (FEEESM
directors’ emoluments) )

Continuing operations  Discontinued operations

53 Tt E 3 BRLEEXRE
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(& E7) (B E7)
Salaries and other benefits # & R EhEYEF
in kind 6,360 6,036 657 2,767
Contributions to retirement R{KEF 5T 2 H 2
benefits schemes 416 415 230 673
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL 1,978 683 - 50
8,754 7,134 887 3,490
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

13 EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 13 BEEME 2

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EHEEHES
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments RAEELAESHEEFR MA
in the Group, two (2019: one) were directors of the (2019%F | —%) BARBEIZEE H
Company whose emoluments are included in note 12. P& HMIEE12° 88 T =% (20194 ¢
The emoluments of the remaining three (2019: four) my) ReHEEZMENT .

individuals were as follows:

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FEIT

Salaries and other benefits in kind HEREMBEYER 1,120 1,911
Contributions to retirement benefits BRG] 52| # =

schemes 36 72

Discretionary bonuses EIETEAL 192 227

1,348 2,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

13 EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 13 EEME &)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continuead) (b) IHEEHES (&

Number of individuals

EEAZ

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Emoluments bands i <& 0 &
Nil — HK$1,000,000 #—1,000,00078 75 8 4
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, RE E2020F K2019F12831H IE&
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors B AEBBENESEIALRES H
nor the five highest paid individuals, as an inducement EBEZMNMESERAEEMARERSK
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation MAREE R 2 RE N EABEREE -

for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

14 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

14 BRREHE

FRBEEABLGERERARBEBED
B ESt R

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(&&E5)
Loss 518
Loss for the year attributable to owners of T ESREXRREEGEMS
the Company for the purposes of basic ZHREERANBDHEE AELEIE
and diluted loss per share
- From continuing operations —REFEREER (16,297) (1,203)
— From discontinued operations —REBKRIEKEET (1,018) (4,477)
(17,315) (5,680)
Number of shares (thousands) B & B8 ()
Weighted average number of ordinary M EEREAREEHEMS
shares for the purposes of basic and ZEBRZMEFHH
diluted loss per share 4,677,926 4,671,035
The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume HHEEREEERIERSEARBANMA

the conversion of the Company’s outstanding warrants and
convertible bonds since their assumed exercise would result
in a decrease in loss per share from continuing operations.

15 DIVIDENDS

The Company has not declared any dividends for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 ME--HBERZE

Furniture, Computer
fixtures and and office Leasehold
fittings equipment improvements Total
Bifh %1 Bk HE
REE MAERE e st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAT FAT TAT
Cost W2
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019E 1818 2 &8k 417 2,897 12,387 15,701
Additions hE - 1 26 27
Disposals/write-off HE /M (132) (535) (2,076) (2,743)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  EREEFE

differences (4) (39) (206) (249)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 2019128318 &

1 January 2020 2020F1B1H 2 &5k 281 2,324 10,131 12,736
Additions e - 31 - 31
Disposals/write-off HE /M - (208) (8,782) (8,990)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHEAE (136) (1,352) = (1,488)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZEHE

differences - 10 64 74
Balance at 31 December 2020 12020128318 2 &85 145 805 1,413 2,363
Accumulated depreciation and RHTERRE

impairment
Balance at 1 January 2019 120191818 2 &R (372) (2,400) (2,965) (5.737)
Written back on disposals/write-off HERRE /i 95 518 1,745 2,358
Impairment loss RESE S 2 (229) (231)
Depreciation expense mERY ) (236) (2,591) (2,828)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZBEHE

differences 3 34 60 97
Balance at 31 December 2019and 1 2019128318 &

January 2020 20201 B1H 2 &8k (275) (2,086) (3,980) (6,341)
Written back on disposals/write-off HE &M - 181 4,121 4,302
Depreciation expense NERY (1) (146) (1,518) (1,665)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHEBRAR 131 1,312 - 1,443
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZEHE

differences - (5) (22) (27)
Balance at 31 December 2020 12020612831 A 2 &8 (145) (744) (1,399) (2,288)
Carrying amount REE
Balance at 31 December 2020 120208128310 2 &8 - 61 14 75
Balance at 31 December 2019 20195128318 2 &5 6 238 6,151 6,395
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

LEASES

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

17 #HE

REEMBR A RETNEEE

HREMBRRRBRUTEREARNE

juisig
JIH

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Leased properties HEWE 2,591 21,476

Lease liabilities HE&aRE

Current Vi 1,492 7,923
Non-current JETRE 1,001 16,694
2,493 24,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

17 LEASES (Continued) 17 #E8 (&
The movements of leased properties were as follows: HEMENEHUWT -
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TAETT
At 1 January R1B1H 21,476 29,007
Additions RE 1,101 3,780
Termination of leases BIEHE (15,226) (1,816)
Depreciation expenses FEMX (4,943) (8,302)
Impairment loss HEER = (731)
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREBEEE
differences 183 (462)
At 31 December R12831H 2,591 21,476
At 31 December 2020, the lessee’s incremental borrowing 1£2020%12831H > A A ESEERN
rate applied to the lease liabilities was ranged from 4.75% to 1B EMERF RN F4.75%%E5.13% (20194 :
5.13% (2019: 2.74% t0 4.90%). 2.74%ZF4.90%) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

LEASES (Continueqd)

The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows:

17 #HE (&

rEERESEHAEAENT

As at 31 December 2020 As at 31 December 2019

1#2020%12831H 20195128310
Present Total Present Total
value of the minimum value of the minimum
minimum lease lease  minimum lease lease
payments payments payments payments
gl R REAE REAE
FTHRE IR4EME THRE THEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Within 1 year R—FR 1,492 1,595 7,923 8,729
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERER 963 1,024 7,351 7,784
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBREBRERN 38 45 8,278 9,456
More than 5 years RENE - - 1,065 1,188
1,001 1,069 16,694 18,428
2,493 2,664 24,617 27,157
Less: total future interest expenses B RIRA B RS ER (171) (2,540)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBRE 2,493 24,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE

18 BARBESAHMEZEKRAN

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EREE
INCOME
HK$'000
FHET
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019% 1818 2 456k 350
Fair value change NABEES 10
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020  72019E12831H &2020FE1 8 1H Z 4 5% 360
Fair value change NABEED (30)
Balance at 31 December 2020 $220205128 318 2 456 330

The fair value is within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (note

32(c)).

NABEBRAABERBRNE K& (M
32(c)) °
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AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

19 CONCESSION RIGHTS

182

19 HEFEE

HK$'000
FHET
Cost D%
Balance at 1 January 2019 201951818 2 45 6% 2,305,428
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREErE (50,460)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 7220194 12831H %2020 18180 Z 45 8% 2,254,968
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences ERERTEE 107,882
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHERE (2,362,850)
Balance at 31 December 2020 1220205 12831H 2 458k -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt R E
Balance at 1 January 2019 201951818 2 45 6% (2,305,428)
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREREEE 50,460
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 720198128 31H %2020FE181H 2 & 5% (2,254,968)
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREREE (107,882)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EKERE 2,362,850

Balance at 31 December 2020

Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2020

Balance at 31 December 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M ImR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

19 CONCESSION RIGHTS (Continued) 19 HFRER (&
Note: ST -
The amount of concession rights represents the value in use of contractual R ez eBNHERIBESZENEARAR (MR
rights stated in the cooperation agreements that Shenzhen Huancai Puda FEE) BMREESTHOMBERNGRA MR
Technology Company Limited* (“Huancai Puda”) CRHIIBE ZERK AR AT) BRI UNEGIEREMEI A ZERBE- RS
entered into with several lottery issuing centres for providing software system WMERR FHREREN M ARRS B REZ -

and technical services. At the end of each reporting period, the concession
rights are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.

The carrying amount of concession rights is amortised on a straight-line R REHZEEmANRESIERZE ZBGRUBZER
method over the period over three to eight years in accordance with the terms ZENFHAB A o

of the cooperation agreements.

# English name is for identification purpose only.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

20 INVENTORIES 20 &8
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET TFHT
Finished goods BB R 93 -
Movements on the Group’s write-down of inventories are as KREBGFEMBREEWT !
follows:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAETT
Balance at 1 January M1B1H Z 48R - 588
Write-off of inventories = G i85 - (585)
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREBEEE
differences = 3)
Balance at 31 December R12831H Z & 5% - =
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BRI AAXTTLt A BTN EESEIN
expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: Lol
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Carrying amount of inventories sold HEGFERAE 52 47
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

21 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND
RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

(M

21 FEURRFEfT

=

BEERiE®

Quality assurance fund receivables (i) BEUBREERES
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Gross amount: 4EEE .
Balance at 1 January 1B 1H Z &% 10,833 11,913
Value of newly written quality METEERBETNEE
assurance obligation 12 86,372
Contribution received from borrowers B AEE (4,857) (87,206)
Effect of foreign currency ERERETE
exchange difference 423 (246)
Balance at 31 December R12831H Z & 5% 6,411 10,833
Loss allowance 1R E (6,411) (6,123)
Carrying amount EREE - 4,710

Movements on the Group’s loss allowance of quality

AEEENEERESNSRBES

assurance fund receivables are as follows: BUF -
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Balance at 1 January P11 Z &% 6,123 1,290
(Reversal of)/recognition of loss FREEBEEHZ BRE) R
allowance for the year (101) 4,946
Effect of foreign currency exchange B R AR
difference 389 (113)
Balance at 31 December P12831H 2 456 6,411 6,123
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

21 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND

21 BRREMEERESE (&)

RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)

(ii) Quality assurance fund payables

(i) BHEERISE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT TFATT
Balance at 1 January R1B1H 2 &% 20,825 13,688
Value of newly written quality MEITEHEREEENEE
assurance obligation 12 86,372
Release of the margin fRIRIREE & (3) (7,266)
Payouts during the year, net FRBZFEE (28,112) (100,380)
Provision for quality assurance BE2REBEHEEE
fund loss 7,125 28,839
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREBREE
difference 153 (428)
Balance at 31 December R12831H 2 & 5% - 20,825
22 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 22 SNEERGHNER
LIABILITIES
(a) contract assets (a) BHEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TAETT
Contract assets EHNEE 12,927 22,921
Loss allowance BIREE (12,927) (11,170)
Contract assets, net BNEE P - 11,751
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

22 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 22 SHNEERGNGE (&

LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a) contract assets (Continued) (a) BHEE (&
The Group receives payments from borrowers over the AEBTETARARIERANE
term of the loan. Contract asset represents the Group's o GHNEEEAERTLATIR M MAR
right to consideration in exchange for services that BB - AN AREEIL
the Group has provided. The majority of the Group's FEERERENZH M EF IS
contract assets as at the end of reporting periods RARI2ER  AEBRRESHERD
would be realised within the next twelve months as the ABMRENEERNKKI2ELR RE
weighted average term of the arrangements where the W AEBRTR A MAEBLIFEME
Group is not the loan originator were less than twelve WENZHME > WEEBAMERD

months. The Group determined there is no significant
financing component for its arrangements where the
Group is not the loan originator.

Movements on the Group's loss allowance of contract KREBESNEEGBRBEHEESHNT
assets are as follows:

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHAT T

Balance at 1 January P1B1H 2 &% 11,170 2,730
Recognition of loss allowance FREERE MBS

for the year 982 8,655

Effect of foreign currency exchange EREREE
difference 775 (215)
Balance at 31 December 128318 2 &8k 12,927 11,170
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

22 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continueqd)

188

(b) Contract liabilities

22 GHNEERGHNAERE (&

(b) &R

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Sports training business (note (i)) BEEIlmES ) 174 126
Smart retail business (note (ii) BETEER MIEE)) 576 =
750 126

Notes: F5E -

(i) BEIIRER

(M

(i)

Sports training business

The Group receives payments from students in advance before
commencement of sports training courses.

Smart retail business

The Group receives a deposit before certain technical
consultancy services and software development service
commence, which will give rise to contract liabilities until
revenue is recognised when the service is delivered to the
customers.

(i)

FEBTEEBSINIRREHRIARBLEE
FHo

ERTEER
REBMPNE T RM AR KRB

RERRABERZS LBEFEESNE
B BEERBRXYTEREEINE AL
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

22 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continueqd)

(b) Contract liabilities (Continueq)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020

BHNEERGNER (&

(b) aN&EE &=

BB R 1E1ERIEY BT 2t

TRYREE2020FE12831H L FEE
HNERRRAETPRAEE 508 EHEE

relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. Bl o
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TFATT
Revenue recognised that was included HREFFFA G EEEFHN
in the contract liabilities balance B
at the beginning of the year
Provision of sports training services RHAE S IIARAR TS 126 143
REEBIERBRAT o 2020 FEHRS 189



23

190
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AR e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 BEREMEWRIE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables 8 5 EWEIE 2,522 139
Less: Loss allowance of trade receivables i : B 5 EUWIBE B (78) =
2,444 139
Deposits and other receivables Be REMBWRIE 3,923 1,581
Less: Loss allowance of B BeREMEBWRIBEREE
deposits and other receivables (1,545) (29)
2,378 1,552
Prepayments FETFRIA 1,015 817
Less: Loss allowance of prepayments B B RIEE IR G = 7)
1,015 810
Total trade and other receivables B 5 ek EH M EN R IE 42 28 5,837 2,501
Trade receivables at 31 December 2020 represent income 2020F12B31H B W HKIEE R B 1R
receivables from provision of omni-channel payment HEEZ TR NG FEERFE R M58
services, software development services and technical RS 2~ FEWRFRIEUL A ©
consultancy services.
Trade receivables are due within 20 days from the date of B REWHRIEEEEHEAR 208 REIHE

billing.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 B REMEBUWRIE (&
(Continueaq)
The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, MR ThREER B DN E ZEWFRIEN 247
presented based on the respective revenue recognition dates IhEEZEWNGEESEHPERNGEREEER
and net of loss allowance: 5l
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
0 - 30 days 0ZF30H 2,420 44
31 - 60 days 31E60H 24 53
61— 90 days 61E90H - 42
2,444 139
Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see IR ENESRKRAREBESERRSHR
above for aged analysis) which are past due at the end of ERfMmAEE N ABREEBEENSEE
the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised GREDITZ2RE L) RANDEEERL
a loss allowance because there has not been a significant EERECEGRBNERIETRE - KEEH
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered WARAMZEREFETAIBRRIEME
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other SR IEN > MENAERGSE N EFH T
credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a MSRBIEIREN G IAER o

legal right to offset against any amounts owed by the Group
to the counterparties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 EZRHEHMEWRE (&
(Continued)
Movements of the Group’s loss allowance of trade and other NEBEBSREMEKRSRIE B8 B FE
receivables are as follows: ER I
(a) Trade receivables (a) BEZEWFIE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Balance at 1 January P1B1H 2 &% = =
Recognition of loss allowance FREERE BN
for the year 74 =
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREREE
difference 4 -
78 S
(b) Deposits and other receivables (b) #E&RHEHMEWIHRIE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T TETT
Balance at 1 January P1B1H Z &% 29 29
Amount written off as uncollectible MiH A EEWEINE 5 (29) -
Recognition of loss allowance FREERE MBS
for the year 1,462 -
Effect of foreign currency EREREE
exchange difference 83 -
Balance at 31 December R12831H 248 1,545 29
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 BSKREMEWFHIE (&)
(Continueaq)
(c) Prepayments (c) FE(IFRIE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Balance at 1 January R1B1H 2 &% 7 22
Amount written off as uncollectible b E =P S R B (7) (15)
Balance at 31 December P128318 2 456k - 7
24 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 24 FEWR FE{IRAES RIE
PARTIES
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable ZAETEIEE R ERBREREIR
on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 =
M BIRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 25 IREKRIBITLHER

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash at banks and in hand IRIT R FHEIRE 57,467 77,336
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRE (2,819) (1,545)

Cash and cash equivalents in the RizaReEmERN
consolidated statement of cash flow BERIREEE 54,648 75,791

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

Included in cash at banks and in hand of the Group is
approximately HK$55,467,000 (2019: HK$68,648,000) of bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and placed with
banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

IRITAEBUE ARTEMARZ IR
TR

AEEBNRTEFERSH ALY
55,467,0007 7T (20194F : 68,648,000% 7T) HY
IRITEHREUARE AR SHELEK
RENIRT  A\REFASEHRRAEM
B ERIEPEINE S S KA EEEBIEA
FRIINEBBERE  ~EBEATEBEENLEIN
BEBENBRITRARERRAHMEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 B5 KREMENRIE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET
Trade payables B S ENRIE 302 2,637
Other payables and accruals HihEMRIB KR ESTER 4,280 5,963
Accrued salaries and other benefits in kind FE st 3Bl K& E thE¥)1EF) 1,222 800
Total trade and other payables B 5 R EMPE[ TRIB42 28 5,804 9,400
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based RBEHR BZEMREENERHHN

on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: RO -
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
0 - 30 days 0%30H 142 27
31 - 60 days 31260H = 35
61— 90 days 61E90H = 1,615
Over 90 days #BiE90H 160 960
302 2,637
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

27 ARG ES

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET TFHT

At 1 January R1B1H 15,286 13,768
Interest expense* MERMEZ* 1,674 1,518
Conversion during the year REEEIR (16,960) -
At 31 December R12H31H - 15,286
& Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of e F) BB ST B A 2R 12.73% (20194F : 12.73%) 5t

12.73% (2019: 12.73%) to the liability component.

In August 2010, the Company issued approximately
664,580,000 (adjusted for the share consolidation as effected
on 27 February 2012) zero-coupon HK dollar denominated
convertible bonds to Mr. Leung Ngai Man (“Mr. Leung”), a
former substantial shareholder, former chairman of the
board and former executive director of the Company. The
convertible bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from the
issue date and can be convertible into one ordinary share of
the Company at HK$0.005 each for every HK$1.20 convertible
bonds at the holder's option (adjusted for the share
consolidation as effected on 27 February 2012). Conversion
may occur at any time between 27 August 2010 and 26
August 2015.

ABEEH o

R20106F88 » R AR AR AR A EERE
EESTERAMPATESRE AL (TR
SeE 1) B 1749664,580,00015 (K8 7220124E28
27HEMNBRMDEHMBEE) BLstESE
AR ES R ES BETHIEHS
BHAF TTHFEBEANEEMRESM1.2087TH
IR EHEER0.005BTHERRTBRA R
NE—RZERR EEF2012F2827 B £3589
BB EHAE) - FHB ARR2010548827
HZE2015F8H26H BB Ml B 1T 72
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

27 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The Company entered into a supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) dated 24 August 2015 executed
between the Company and Mr. Leung, pursuant to which the
Company and Mr. Leung agreed to extend the maturity date
of the convertible bonds for 5 years from the date falling on
the fifth year to the date falling on the tenth year from the
date of issue of the convertible bonds. The Supplemental
Deed was approved by independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3
November 2015.

The convertible bonds contain two components upon the
extension: liability and equity elements. The equity element
on recognition was presented in equity as part of the
“convertible bonds equity reserve”. The effective interest
rate of the liability component for the convertible bonds on
recognition is 12.73% per annum.

No convertible bonds were converted during the year ended
31 December 2019. At 31 December 2019, the outstanding
principal amount of the convertible bonds amounted to
approximately HK$18,016,000, which could be convertible
into 15,013,333 ordinary shares of the Company.

In July 2020, Mr. Leung exercised the option to convert the
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation at as
effected on 27 February 2012) into 15,013,333 shares at an
exercise price of HK$1.2 per share. The carrying amounts of
liability component and equity component are reduced by
approximately HK$16,960,000 and HK$3,935,000, respectively.
As a result of this exercise, all the convertible bonds were
converted during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Imputed interest expenses of approximately HK$1,674,000
(2019: HK$1,518,000) has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in respect of the convertible bonds
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

27 AlRR{ESF (&

RRABR2015F8HF240 AR KT EFTUMT
2% ((HRZE) Bt ZRAKRERE
EREIMRESNIAERBE T BRRE
FRTHBFRLEEHERAEERT
FEH -BREZBEEEHIKRN2015F11H
SHBTHARBRRSRIRE LHE-

B RESNIERER B MDA : B8
REDEE -EIREmHE N EDERT
ETEI R E SR ) B9 — B0 {0 - MR
FRAMKRESERHNHNERMNERER
12.73% °

BE2019F 128310 LFE > BB AR E
HW B R2019F 128318 > Al AR Ex
HREEREZREAL #18,016,000% 75 > 7]
Ei17315,013, 333 AR B H@AZ ©

R2020F 7R REETHFEERRITE
EER1.2BTRTBBRES (8102012
F2R27TEHEMNR MG & AR E) #i
715,013,333 815 - BEE 0 K # & &6
MEEREE 2 BR 416,960,000 7T K
3,935,000 7T c HY % BT 8 » &, £20204F
122B3MHLEFE B RRESFEHE
Hao

HZE2020F12B31BIEEFE > BRETHBRR
B M s BRI 491,674,0005 7T (20194 :
1,518,000/87T) ER4&R&Bm REMEEN
AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities balances
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

RIERIARA R

UTFAREMRBEEERDRNEBIEE
MBS EESREEE :

Convertible

bonds

Al ES

HK$'000

TATT

At 1 January 2019 72019F181H 2,748

Credit to profit or loss (note 9) s AET (M5E9) (259)

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 12019F12831H k2020F181H 2,489

Credit to profit or loss (note 9) st AE I (MEE9) (268)

Credit directly to other comprehensive income BiEFAHMEEWA (2,221)
At 31 December 2020

Under the CIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. At 31 December
2020 and 2019, no deferred tax liabilities for withholding
tax have been recognised as the Group’'s PRC subsidiaries
incurred accumulated losses for the periods since 1 January
2008.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$16,149,000 (2019:
HK$13,228,000) arising from subsidiaries operating outside
Hong Kong which is available for setting off against future
taxable profit of that subsidiary is due to expire within one to
five years and estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$51,790,000 (2019: HK$51,344,000) available for offset
against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

1220205128318 -

RIEPEEESRE B2008F181H
fEE > i R [ B /& - B] B AN BV s A P B KBV B
B AMMTEINR ° 20204 K&20196E12831
B> BARAEBRBFEKE QB B20085F1
B1ERABANELREBESE QrERE
NNEEERIES G-

RBEHR AEEBRFRELZEET BN
HEKENH B AR NGt REBRIEE
$84916,149,0007% 7T (20194 : 13,228,00078
70) > AR M B A B Y R AR FERR AR R
MoR—ERAFARNER MAEEBMGTE
EARIERE 451,790,000 75 (20194
51,344,000 7T) > A HIEEE A] MR A 8 00
FRAGEF] o AR R BETA ST R AT AR »
TRERGTRBAREGERDIELERE
BEo
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

29 SHARE CAPITAL - ORDINARY SHARES 29 RAE—EERK
Number of Share
shares capital
Bn&E [N
‘000 HK$'000
T FHT
Authorised: ERE -
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, #2019F181H ~2019F 128318
1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020, 202051 H1H /20205128318 »
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each S EE0.00578 7T H B A% 20,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRERE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 52201981810 ~2019F12831H &
1 January 2020, ordinary shares 20201818 » &R EE0.0058 7T
of HK$0.005 each FOR=R R 4,671,035 23,355
Exercise of convertible bonds TEABRRES 15,013 75
At 31 December 2020, ordinary shares of 7220205128318 »
HK$0.005 each &N EEO0.0058 o8 g 4,686,048 23,430
Note: MIE -
On 13 July 2020, the Company received a conversion notice from Mr. Leung to R2020F7H13H A A BB ERALENERENES  H
exercise the conversion rights attached to the outstanding convertible bonds AT M R ITE A $%18,016,00078 7T AU BT #2 IR & 35 A
in the principal amount of HK$18,016,000. 15,013,333 shares, representing BBy EE R 0 15,013,3330 A1 (TR E 72202057813 B
approximately 0.321% of the issued shares of the Company as at 13 July 2020 FABTIEBHTRMNHN0.321 R BEFELHREBIBANEA
and approximately 0.320% of the enlarged issued shares of the Company BB #1TIRHA0.320%) BEFR2020E7B17B IR RES
immediately after the conversion, were allotted and issued to Mr. Leung on 17 R 2B i B R BT T REE-

July 2020 at the conversion price of HK$1.2 per share.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

WARRANTS

On 23 November 2019, Zhong Tuo Limited (“Zhongtuo”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
cooperation agreement (the “Agreement”) with independent
third parties, Mr. Ye Cunshi (“Mr. Ye"), Ningbo Yunni Enterprise
Management Partnership (“Ningbo Yunni”) and Ningbo
Yun Ma Enterprise Management Partnership (“Yun Ma
Partnership”). Both Ningbo Yunni and Yun Ma Partnership are
controlled by Mr. Ye. Pursuant to the Agreement, each of the
parties agreed to jointly establish a new company Hangzhou
Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Hangzhou Zhongtuo”)
to explore the business development, cooperation and
investment opportunities in the area of smart retail business.
On 27 February 2020, Hangzhou Zhongtuo was established
which is owned by Zhongtuo, Ningbo Yunni and Yun Ma
Partnership as to 51.0%, 14.7% and 34.3%, respectively.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company has issued
700,655,257 warrants to Yun Ma Limited (a company owned
by Mr. Ye) at the issue price of HK$0.001 per warrant
as performance incentive in February 2020 for a total
consideration of approximately HK$666,000.

The warrants entitled the holder of each warrant to
conditionally subscribe for one warrant share of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.054 per share at any
time during a period of 36 months commencing from the
date of achieving certain conditions, which include that
Hangzhou Zhongtuo shall achieve an audited profit after tax
of RMB25,000,000 or above for the year ended 31 December
2020 (the “profit target”). The warrants shall lapse if the
conditions could not be achieved.

As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the warrants lapsed as Hangzhou Zhongtuo
could not meet the profit target.

30

so B R

1220195118238 KRB Z2EME Q]
FIBR2E (TR BB IE=FEEFE
RETEREDREREELEEESRDE
¥ ((BREE)ANEFEHLEESIESED
¥ (TE56%)) sTuaFinR (MEE) =
HEBREEEB R ESLEES oI
EHHERERMII—KHFAT  MMNRE
HEREERAR (HNFRIAD)  UERES
EZEXBENEBER S5FEMNRE-
202028278 MM BIAM I~ RIH =2
BEBMEBSHE D R1E51.0% ~14.7%M
34.3% e

RIE W ZRE2020F28 AR B L ETESH
BREFO.0NBTEEBERAD (HEL
EBEANAE) UREEL666,0008T# 1T
700,655,25717 5B A& 1 55 1F 23 AE UL D

BREBETENAREZFEABEE
F LS R M 2 HRE36ME B mAE M > XY
TEESR.0ABTA KR MDB AT
— IR DI HEE R BIRER] o BEF IR 2 AN
MIBE E2020F12831H L FEMKEZR
BRI BEKRER ARE25008 wa MU £ (TH
HERY ~WMEFIEAN BREERES
ESE

BEAGHYBHRERIMLER  SBREEEM
MRIARBEZERFEERMAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

31 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 31 54818

The Group's capital management objectives are:

- to ensure the Group’'s ability to continue as a going
concern;

- to provide an adequate return to shareholders; and

- to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost
of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders and issue new shares to
reduce its debt level.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
capital. Total borrowings are calculated as current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position and total capital is calculated as “total
equity”, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
follows:

FEBNEAEERRNT

- MBRAEEEHFELE

- RREHERZTERR; &

- HMFRESARBURBEARMZ-

RRFRABEEARBE  AEE I EG R
BRETRRORE RREATRERE
TR RLURE R EEFKF -

FEBERBEAGBLEREEHEAR ZLE
RREERERUBERF B - MR EHH
RRERF™  (EERBBRRES M FHIK RS
TR KRIERBEESE > MBEERRZ
MEmMBEE I & -

BRBEEXR

REBEHR ERER/ELERINT ¢

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFHET

Interest-bearing borrowings BHEEE - 15,286

Total equity e T AR RE 54,814 50,335

Gearing ratio BREBELE 0% 30%
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

32 EMTITA

(a) EMIANTELE

Financial assets EHEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Financial asset at FVOCI BARBEFAHEMZEBADN
TREE 330 360
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHER A ENESHREE 62,291 102,803
Financial liabilities THEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  RE#ER AT ENSHEE 10,400 51,058
Financial assets at amortised cost are as follows: BEERATEZSHEEWT ¢
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Quality assurance fund receivables EWBERES - 4,710
Contract assets SNBEE - 11,751
Trade receivables and B 5 R E fh e Uk Fi 18
other receivables 4,822 1,703
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEULHT B A B FF AR AR B8 = F I8
shareholders of subsidiaries - 6,858
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEW—BRERMBAT ZHIE 2 445
Restricted cash ZIRHIIRE 2,819 1,545
Cash and bank balances IRERIBITHBR 54,648 75,791
62,291 102,803
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 £MT A &
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HEEMEEEEREE

and policies

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its AEBRNREABEEBRERNERK
use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of EEHThEAsRIAMEBHYHER
operations and in its investment activities. The financial G o MR EETSRE (15N E
risks include market risk (including foreign currency RBiE - FERREEMESRR &
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk ERBERARBE SRR

and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the REBRBBURBEETTERESE 5
Group’s headquarters, in close co-operation with the EEVERE MEREEEEER
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing HRESmmEBNERBEERE  UiE
financial risks focus on securing the Group's short to EAEBEPAEFHRSRE - AE
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure to B AZHNEBKET BB E
financial markets. Long term financial investments are RASMEENEERELIR-
managed to generate lasting returns with acceptable

risk levels.

It is not the Group's policy to actively engage in AEBZHERETRBEBSELH Y
the trading of financial instruments for speculative ENEMTERZ B IZEES
purposes. The finance department works under the HOENESE T BB EA SR ™ IH
policies approved by the board of directors, it identifies NAEZ TERAEEBHNGTER
ways to access financial markets and monitors the o BRMBEEHANESGIRR

Group's financial risk exposures. Regular reports are
provided to the board of directors.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's AEBTHRTAMEHENEKIEL
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the FEBEEE RS EEN S I E S
manner in which it manages and measures the risks. Eo
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

204

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

Transactional currency exposures arise from revenue
or cost of sales and services by operating units in
currencies other than the unit's functional currency.
Substantially all the Group’s revenue and cost of
sales and services are denominated in the functional
currency of the operating units making the revenue,
and substantially all the cost of sales and services
are denominated in the operating unit’'s functional
currency. Accordingly, the directors consider the Group
is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

In virtue of exposures on foreign currency risk being
minimal, the respective quantitative disclosures have
not been presented.

32 £MTH #@)

(b) MFREIEEERBRRER (&)

15 /1

S EE LB B 12

REMEBRBREEBNEEERN
e BB LN ERSHENZEEE UM
W s iHE R R AL A - AEEE K
2 B et e 85 & e BR 75 Bl A8 LA AE WK
ARNEEBUNINEGRSE B
REZHEHERBRBEA A UEBEEMUR
e B E - A EERREEER
7 % [ B8 55 KON BB L B o AN £ [ IR By
AR SMNE PR o AT SEEEE
BEeERiERE TNATERZ
BHEARINERBRELHH

ERSNER R O B E ) LR
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq) 32 EMTH (&

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBEMKEEEEREER #&)

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk. A reasonably possible change in interest rate
in the twelve months is assessed by the Group; which
could have immaterial change in the Group’s loss for
the year and accumulated losses. Changes in interest
rates have no material impact on the Group’s other
components of equity. The Group adopts centralised
treasury policies in cash and financial management
and focuses on reducing the Group's overall interest
expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in interest rate is relatively low.

Other price risk management

Price risk is the risk to the Group’s earnings and capital
due to changes in the prices of securities, including
debt securities and equities.

The Group did not actively trade in financial instruments
and in the opinion of the directors, the price risk related
to trading activities to which the Group was exposed
was not material. Accordingly, no quantitative market
risk disclosures for price risk have been made.

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

206

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, conducting credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt and debt investment at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
loss allowance are made. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
cash deposits at banks (including restricted bank
balances). The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash deposits at banks since
they are substantially deposited at state-owned banks
and other medium or large-sized listed banks. The
management of the Group does not expect that there
will be any significant losses from non-performance by
these counterparties.

32 £MTH #@)

(b) MFREIEEERBRRER (&)

FEmEEEE

K20205F12831H » R F 5 RAEET
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The financial asset at FVOCI is considered to have low
credit risk, and the loss allowance recognised during
the year was therefore limited to 12 months expected
losses. The instruments are considered to be low credit
risk when they have a low risk of default and the issuer
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

The Group has assessed that the expected loss rates
for restricted cash were immaterial. Thus no loss
allowance for restricted cash was recognised.

The Group has policies in place to monitor the
credit exposure of amount due from non-controlling
shareholders (e.g. Internal credit rating) of subsidiaries
and amount due from a fellow subsidiary. The Group
will assess the financial capabilities of the above parties
including its repayment histories, and its abilities to
obtain financial support when necessary. Management
also regularly reviews the recoverability of these
receivables and follow up the disputes or amounts
overdue, if any.

32 EMTIA (&

(b) MBRAKREEZEBERREE (@)

FEEEERE (&

BARBESAHMEZERANZR
BEERGABREERE Bt RFERA
RN BEEHRI12EENTRRE
B-ETMIARKEFNENRRE
RETABRBRRNENREH R EH
ENRETREETER  FREFEE
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

208

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The Group does not provide any guarantee which would
expose the Group to credit risk as at 31 December
2020.

Credit risk management of financial guarantee as at 31
December 2019 is detailed in the "Quality assurance
fund, contract assets and financial guarantee” section.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
20 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are more than 2 months past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

32 £MTH #@)

(b) MFREIEEERBRRER (&)

FEEEEE (#)
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq) 32 EMTH (&

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBEMKEEEEREER #&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk in
industries or countries in which the customers operate.
Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 39% and
88% (2019: Nil) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the smart retail business
segment.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

FEEEERE (&

B 5 EWRE (B

AEBEZELAEENTERBEAREE
BEETNEERAR -EERKRSE
EFNBEREIERAERHENETS
AESARBBEE PRSHR
B2 W TR IB 4B ZEN39%5288% (2019
FE DIRETEERESETEER
DEBHRABERAKREF o

FEBRBEFRE2HRAEEBEDN
THESEEZRBREGEER B
HEROEABFEEREABESL A
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

210

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The following table provides information about the

Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables:

32 EMIA &

(b) HHBREREEZEBERREE (@)

FEREEE (&
B 5 EWRE (B
TREHEREAEBEMEERE S B

MENEERBRKRBERESHENE
#4

Gross
Expected carrying LosS
loss rate amount allowance
TRHAE B WEREE BSEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% TFAET TETT
Current (not past due) BRER (R#HR) 0.1% 1,968 2
1 - 30 days past due #HEA1ZE30H 3.2% 495 17
31 - 60 days past due BHAB1E60H N/A & - S
More than 60 days past due #iHR#BiE60H 100% 59 59
2,522 78

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
and are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the
historic data has been collected, current conditions
and the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

FHREREXRTRBEERERERRT
HoBEZELENRMEBERESE
B HARBNEE KRR BT R KR
AEBEHNBUWRIEZ B BAREE
RMBEREE Z Z 5 o
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 £MT A &
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBEMKEEEEREER #&)

and policies (Continued)

credit risk management (Continued) EEEREERE (&

Quality assurance fund, contract assets and HEREE SHEERMBER
financial guarantee

Credit risk arose from quality assurance fund, contract EEREREBEETHANERELENE
assets and financial guarantees generated by financial ERBEET ANEEMVYEER K
technology business. The Group used complex models EEFEREMENRBRBERRLER
and significant assumptions about future economic MEREETANERBIZKAESL
conditions and credit behavior to measure ECLs of BEENTEHEEEBEBRAEZEREHN
contract assets and financial guarantees to customers. SR o 522020128310 > K&EE
The maximum amount that the Group has guaranteed BESENIEHNREERENARE
under the respective contracts was approximately Nil (2019 : 135,702,000 7T) °

as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$155,702,000).

ECL measurement JEHAE A EtE

HKFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment ERUHRESEAFIFHMULB

based on changes in credit quality since initial IR B EEEEEHAER =

recognition as summarised below: ER R EREE BT -

e A financial instrument that has no significant o  BEIAREERBABEEE
increase in credit risk and not credit-impaired on MekAEEEEREZSHIA
initial recognition is classified in “Stage 1" and DA TEEEE)  BAERFE
has its credit risk continuously monitored by the BEEHEERMR-

Group.

e If a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR") e MHWHEANHBEVEEIEBEER
since initial recognition is identified, the financial mRELEN ((FERKBEEE
instrument is moved to “Stage 2" but is not yet ) ZERITANESERE 52
deemed to be credit-impaired. FEEL M RBEBRAERLEE

ERE-
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

212

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Quality assurance fund, contract assets and
financial guarantee (Continued)

ECL measurement (Continued)

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the
financial instrument is then moved to “Stage 3".

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL
measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime ECL that result from default events
possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in
Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on
ECL on a lifetime basis.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with HKFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward-looking information.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets are those financial assets that are credit-
impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always
measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

Please refer to note 4(a) “Measurement of the ECL
allowance” for details of factors implemented for the
ECL calculation.

32 EMIA &

(b) HHBREREEZEBERREE (@)

FEREEE (&
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 EMT A &)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HBEAMEEEERBER (&

and policies (Continued)

credit risk management (Continued) EERBEE (&)

Quality assurance fund, contract assets and HEREE ANEERMBER
financial guarantee (Continued) (%

ECL measurement (Continued) TEHRE EEGEHTE (B

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s $220205128310 B A EEFrmER
exposure to credit risk arising from quality assurance EHEEFRET BNVEERETSTK
fund receivables, quality assurance fund payables and ENEEEENEERENE—FTE
contract assets as at 31 December 2020 are disclosed EEIBIRENT -

below:

As at 31 December 2020

1220205128318
Gross
carrying Loss Carrying
amount allowance amount
HEREE EE1EEE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FAT
Financial guarantee contracts B ##& R &4
- Quality assurance fund —-EWEEREE
receivables
Stage 1 F1PEER - = =
Stage 2 SE2PEER = = -
Stage 3 FIME 6,411 (6,411) -
6,411 (6,411) -
Contract assets BHNEE
Stage 1 FI1PEEL = = -
Stage 2 2P B = = -
Stage 3 K] 12,927 (12,927) -
12,927 (12,927) -
Financial guarantee contracts B ##& R &4
- Quality assurance fund —-ENEEREE
payables
Stage 1 F1PEER = - -
Stage 2 SE2PEER = = -
Stage 3 53 L = = =
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Quality assurance fund, contract assets and
financial guarantee (Continued)

ECL measurement (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from quality assurance
fund receivables, quality assurance fund payables and
contract assets as at 31 December 2019 are disclosed
below:

32 £MTH #@)

(b) MFREIEEERBRRER (&)

FEEEEE (#)

HEREZ SNEERMBIER
(&)

FREAEERIEE (8
FR2019F 128318 » BRAAEEFrEER
BUEERET BUVEERIEEZR

GREEELENEERRNE—FE
Tb%ﬁlﬁ?& ZINH

As at 31 December 2019

$$2019%12831H
Gross
carrying Loss Carrying
amount allowance amount
AR E ESiaiE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FH&T FAT
Financial guarantee contracts B &R & 49
- Quiality assurance fund —-EWEEREE
receivables
Stage 1 F1BEER 4,802 (569) 4,233
Stage 2 SE2PEER 385 (66) 319
Stage 3 53 ER 5,646 (5,488) 158
10,833 (6,123) 4,710
Contract assets BHEE
Stage 1 HIPEER 9,774 (291) 9,483
Stage 2 FH2PEEL 2,478 (523) 1,955
Stage 3 K] = 10,669 (10,356) 313
22,921 (11,170) 11,751
Financial guarantee contracts B &R & 49
- Quality assurance fund —-ENEEREE
payables
Stage 1 B = (1,910) (1,910)
Stage 2 SE2PEER = (4,911) (4,911)
Stage 3 53 ER — (14,004) (14,004)
- (20,825) (20,825)
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework to
meet the Group's short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, continuously monitoring forecast
and actual cash flows, and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities

32 £MTH #)

(b) MFHREIEEERBRRER (&)

TR REEE

EXgHNPETEREEERKE

Tf CITERIGENABETRARE
BREB LUmBAEENEHR PR

RIES R ABESEEE XK

FEBEBERTENREB FES
EHEAREBERREERE IR NLTE
MEEHEGENIIABERTE  F#Fit
BERPBESRAR-

RREAR AEBERGHORMIE

at the end of the reporting period, based on the NREFENEmEaERHBRIT
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
Total
on demand contractual Total
or less than undiscounted carrying
1year 1-5years  cash flows amounts
BREKY BHREER
—£R —EnfE HRERELE REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FTET FTAET
At 31 December 2020 142020512831H
Non-derivative financial ETEERARE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMENRIE 5,804 - 5,804 5,804
Lease liabilities HESRE 1,595 1,069 2,664 2,493
Amount due to an intermediate R —REAEZERAE
holding company 2B 2,103 - 2,103 2,103
9,502 1,069 10,571 10,400
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

216

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

32 EMIA &

(b) HHBREREEZEBERREE (@)

Liquidity risk management (Continued) REBEZREEEE (8)
Total
On demand contractual Total
or less than undiscounted carrying
1 year 1-5years cash flows amounts
BERH BHRIR
—FR —ERF RERELE REAE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT TR FTAT
At 31 December 2019 12019%12A31H
Non-derivative financial E| ik o=
liabilities
Trade and other payables BE REMEMHE 9,400 - 9,400 9,400
Lease liabilities HEEE 8,729 18,428 27,157 24,617
Amount due to an intermediate e — B RERAR 28
holding company 1,514 - 1,514 1,514
Amount due to a non-controlling  ER—FRIMRBAT
interest of a subsidiary FERER 2B 241 - 241 241
Convertible bonds AARES 18,016 - 18,016 15,286
37,900 18,428 56,328 51,058
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The following table presents the Group’s assets/
liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31
December 2020 and 2019:

32 EMTIA (&

(c) AREEE

EE BRI AR EEAENETH
BENAAEE

TRARIL20205 52201941283 1H
TEBRAABEANENSE &F:

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET
Financial asset at FVOCI BARBEFAEMEZERANE
PhEE
— Club debenture —gFfRS 330 360

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are
required)

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair values:

WHREEMEBEURAEEELN
EHEEHETHMEENLAEE (B4
BAFHRAAEBERE)

BRTRFIEFREN EFRR/NES
MEBERREINEMEERERER
HEREEREAAEBERS

2020 2019
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
IREE [AREE REE NAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT FET FET FET
Financial liability Bt a=RE
Convertible bonds (Note) A} ES (M) - - 15,286 16,574
Note: fisE -

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the liability component of
convertible bonds has been calculated by using effective interest rate
of 13.58% per annum with reference to the Hong Kong Sovereign Curve
and credit risk margin.

hEABIERAMRAT 2020 FEHRS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuedq) 32 ERTH (&)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) (c) anEEE &)
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 F22020E12531HB A A BEE R
Assets and liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: ERBEANBENEERERE:

At 31 December 2020

12020%12H831H
Valuation techniques and key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RERTREEHAZE £k B B4 it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FTET FTET
Financial asset
ERMEE
Club debenture Market comparison approach based on
recent transaction price
RS ERITARZBRANTSILEE - 330 - 330
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 FR20195FE 12H31HBI A A BEE AR
Assets and liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BFEANBENESEREE

At 31 December 2019

12019128318
Valuation techniques and
key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERTREERARE F—# FMH F=R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT FTAT
Financial asset
ERMEE
Club debenture Market comparison
approach
GfEH mIFLLEE - 360 - 360
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 £fTH &)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) (c) AnEBEE &
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 F2019F 12531 A A BEE R
(Continued) %)

At 31 December 2019

12019128318
Valuation techniques and
key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HEETREEHALE F—1 B B=M Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TAT FTAT
Financial liability
E) =R
Convertible bonds Generally accepted pricing
models based on
discounted cash flow
analysis
EEL eSS HERMIRBREREDN
HNAREBEL = - 16,574 16,574
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, RE E20195% KX2020F12831H LEF
there were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2, or B rE—REE TR M mEE 5
transfer into or out of Level 3. =R AR A SEE o
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33 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

220

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

33 MEFHEENEREHIR

TRFIFEERETHEEN S RET
BRREARFREEH -RELHELENEG
BRREREELARKREERERKEN

TEENKRS

FNRERENER-

REREXRPDERAMET

Convertible Lease
bonds liabilities Total
Al ES HEaR 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2019 52201991818 13,768 29,370 43,138
Interest expense on convertible  AIARESNF E X H
bonds 1,518 - 1,518
New leases mHEE - 3,780 3,780
Termination of leases wIEHRE - (1,960) (1,960)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBZHE - 1,373 1,373
Cash flows RERE
— Capital element of lease rentals —BHEHE
paid EENziER) - (6,055) (6,055)
- Interest element of lease —BfNHEERE>
rentals paid ISEE v - (1,373) (1,373)
Effect of foreign currency ERERTE
exchange differences - (518) (518)
At 31 December 2019 12019512 831H 15,286 24,617 39,903
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33 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33 RIEZHELNAEEBHIE (&
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Convertible Lease
bonds liabilities Total
AR ES HEAaR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHETT FHET TFHET
At 1 January 2020 720201811 15,286 24,617 39,903
Interest expense on convertible  PI#BESENF B X H
bonds 1,674 - 1,674
Exercise of convertible bonds TR RES (16,960) - (16,960)
New leases mMHEE - 1,101 1,101
Termination of leases WIEHRE - (20,765) (20,765)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGZHE - 765 765
Covid-19-related rent concession & EARFHEREHE TR % - (218) (218)
Cash flows RERE
— Capital element of —-BNEEEEZ
lease rentals paid BEAREH - (2,439) (2,439)
- Interest element of lease —BfHEEREZ
rentals paid IISEEISh) - (765) (765)
Effect of foreign currency ERERBTE
exchange differences - 197 197
At 31 December 2020 720205128318 - 2,493 2,493
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

222

(@)

Compensation of key management personnel

34 AELRS

(@) TEEEABHMN

The remuneration of directors and other members of FRNEERTEEEBHMA S
key management during the year was as follows: FMOF

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT TATT

Short-term benefits FZHAAEH) 2,806 1,308

Post-employment benefits ®RIFERERET 36 36

2,842 1,344

Further details of balances with related parties are
disclosed in note 24.

(b) EBARIER AR IBEIM 24 EE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 ZRTINEFEMEBATHE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

22020 12831H AR BN EEK B
NEEBWOT

Particulars of the Company’'s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2020 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of  share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
ML/ BETRERRS/ A YNGIECE<]
WEAE AR REEREE HRMERHE FAREZE R TEEE
Directly Indirectly
B it
E-silkroad.net Corporation BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of 1 United 100% - Investment holding
company States dollar ("US$")
HBRYHES =R ESHE S RERR
BREEAH il
Easywin International Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
ERERERERAT HERUEE 1REREEI1ZETH RERR
BREFAH EER
Done Best Global Investments Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
FERBEREERAR HERUES 1REREEI1ZETH RERR
EREAAH EER
Ocean Keen Investment Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
EREERRERAT HERUEE REREEIZETN RERR
EREAAR ERER
Pearl Sharp Limited BV, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
company
EABRAT EBRUES BREREEIZETN RERER
BREAAR BBk
Glory Top Management Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares of HK$1 100% - Investment holding
company
BREEERAH 55 BEREMLHE 1BTHEBER RERR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE2020F12831HIEEE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 XATINEEMWBABEE &

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continuedq)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of  share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
Bl Aye:3 e BETRERRE,/ L YNGEESS]
WEAR AR REAREE FAME R FAREZE AL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B %
Surplus Trade Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares of HK$1 100% - Investment holding
company
REBRAH 55 BREMLHE BTN BER REER
Hui So Hung Table Tennis Sports Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares of HK$5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of sports training services
Centre Limited company
FRIEEREEROERAR 55 BREMLH 5,000,000 T E B REESHIRRS
Glory Ray Inc. Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares of HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
company
HEREBRAF 55 BREMLH TBTNEEK RERR
Shine Win Inc. Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares of HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
company
REEEERAT 55 BREMLHE BTN BER REER
Greatest Profit Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares of HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
company
ERREERAF 58 BREMLH TBTNERR REZER
FEEHEREBRAT PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  HK$5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of technical services on
(Shenzhen Gaorong Caizhi Technology enterprise the establishment of lottery sales
Company Limited) points
e SEEELE 5,000,000 7 RERUFZHERNRITRSE
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35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 AAREINEEMBATHRE (&

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continuedq)

Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of  share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
Bl Aye:3 e BETRBRRE,/ FRAFRE
WEARAHE REME A HME R FAREZE AL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B Gk

TMEDEEREBRAR PRC, wholly-foreign-owned ~ RMB6,064,882 - 100%  Investment holding
(Hangzhou Safen Information enterprise
Technology Company Limited)

FE A ERERE NE6,064,8827T RERR

MM BLRE ER BB RAT PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  HK$15,000,000 - 100%  Provision of credit referral and
(Hangzhou Hongmai Information enterprise services including credit
Technology Limited?) facilitation services, post-

origination services and financial
guarantee services

REAERERE 15,000,0007% REEENERED OEEEE
aRE ERRERIBERR
%

INMEEEEEERAT (AMME)*  PRC limited liability RMBS5,671,212 - 100%  Provision of asset management,
(Hangzhou Weizi Assets company development and provision of
Management Limited) consultation on result transfer on
("Hangzhou Weizi") network technology, computer

software and hardware and
computer network engineering
e ERERAT ARM5,671,21270 RUZSEEENRD RUALR
i~ BB R R BB
TEMEEER M

RERENEEEEREA AT PRC, limited liability RMB7,200,000 - 55%  Apartment leasing
(TEE M) company
(Wuhan Wuhao Property
Management Company Limited)

("Wuhan Wuhao")
HE BREAAT A& 7,200,0007 REME
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 AAGINEEMBATFRE (&
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continuedq)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of  share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
B3 ye:3 Ve BRETRAERE/ L YNGEESS]
WEAR AR REMERAT EMELHE FiBEEEE FTEEK
Directly Indirectly
BEi% %
RERGRHARRMEERAR PRC, limited liability RMB1,000,000 - 55%  Apartment leasing
(MRsARE ) * company
(Wuhan Yuechang Feichi Network
Technology Company Limited?) ("Yuechang
Feichi")
HE BREAAR AR 1,000,000 REME
Zhong Tuo Limited BV, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
BERYHED BREAL 'REREEZEANEER REER
7
Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$100 = 100%  Investment holding
company
55 BREMLHE 10BN ERR REER
MNRIAEBREBRAT PRC, limited liability RMB490,000 - 51%  Smart retail solutions
(Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom company
Technology Limited)
HE BREAAR AR 1490,0007 BETERMARE
# English name for identification purpose only.
& The equity interests of Hangzhou Weizi and Yuechang Feichi are held by L3 TN E RIR G REBIARETREALRARSEK
individual nominees on behalf of the Group. AEEFH
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Hangzhou Zhongtuo was established on 27 February 2020.
Please refer to note 30 for details.

Huancai Puda was disposed of to one of the non-controlling
shareholders of a subsidiary on 13 November 2020. Please
refer to note 36 for details.

Wuhan Wuhao was in the process of deregistration as at 31
December 2020 and the deregistration was completed on 4
February 2021.

35 ZAFMEEMBABFE (&

FRAVNAEREMBEBAR HESIRAY

AEBEXEENEEERNEARTZENNB LR

7 cEERA HIIHEMMBATRESHA
BRITEe

FUNRHEIL2020F 2827 B I - ¥ 1BFR 2
FIMY5E30

BREEDN2020F118138 HE T —RIM
BABZ — %I EERKRE -EIEE2 BN

o

w
o

HOEMIEN 202012831 BT IR AEH 5
> MW HL20219F 2848 STk
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

228

(Continued)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests

35

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-

controlling interests:

Place of incorporation/

establishment and
principal place of

Proportion of

ownership interests
held by the non-

FRENEEMBLRFE (&)

(@) BAERFERERNIEEE
NN SEE S

TR EEBEEANFERETH
FEEMBATMFIS

Accumulated

Gain allocated to non- non-controlling

Name of subsidiary business controlling interests  controlling interests interests
SRR AR B R iR ES ARE
MEARLE TEEE M FSREREZEAL  FERESNRE RRFERED
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THET FET THET FTET
Hangzhou Zhongtuo PRC 49% - 3,697 - 4,470 -
MR e
Individually immaterial
subsidiary with non-
controlling interest (6,208) (881)
BEIFERERNERNFEER
MBAE
(1,738) (881)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31HILFE

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations:

35 ZAFMEEMBATFE (@)

(@) EAEARIFERERNIFEE

=t

B ABIRNEFE (F

ERAEEEERFERERNNE
AN HBERRBEH M T - UT
MBENS RIS BB HRIRYEEE

Hangzhou Zhongtuo W INEH
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Current assets RENEE 16,566 -
Non-current assets EREMEE 915 -
Current liabilities mEMaE (8,453) S
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (474) S
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
HE2020F H E2019F
12831H 12H31H
IEFE IEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Revenue & 32,971 -
Other income, net HMW A > 358 107 =
Expenses 52 (25,534) -
Profit for the year KEEmF 7,544 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-

35 xATNEE

B ATIFE (&

(@) BAEARIFERERNIFEE

controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial

B ABINEFE (@)

ERAEEEERFERER
BRABNMBENBTERIIAT - LU
THMHENSZEEEEHHEAE

& B9 By

information below represents amounts before X (#B)
intragroup eliminations: (Continued)
Hangzhou Zhongtuo (Continued) WINBH ()
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
#HE20205F B E20194F
12H31H 12H31H
ILEFE IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TATT
Profit attributable to owners of the AT B ANEEET
Company 3,847 -
Profit attributable to the JEE R HE T FE A B A
non-controlling interests 3,697 -
Profit for the year REEHF 7,544 -
Other comprehensive income AEEHM2EW S
for the year 463 -
Total comprehensive income KRCIEE ABGEE N mAREE
attributable to owners of the
Company 4,084 =
Total comprehensive income JEVERR R RS 2 T N s 4R 28
attributable to the non-controlling
interests 3,923 -
Total comprehensive income REEEZEUWHIREE
for the year 8,007 -
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35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 ZREINEEHRBLABFEE (&
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
(a) Details of non-wholly owned () BEEKRIEERERNIERE
subsidiaries that have material non- M AT RIEENS (&

controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the EHAEEBEEREERERNK
Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling BABEMNMBEENBERIIWT UL
interests is set out below. The summarised financial THHEERSEIEE BB Y IHEA AR
information below represents amounts before X8 (&

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

Hangzhou Zhongtuo (Continued) MR (4
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
HZ=2020F B E2019F
12831H 12831H
IEEE IEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
Dividends paid to non-controlling TN FIEERERNRE
interests = -
Net cash inflow from KEESNIRE M AR
operating activities 11,873 -
Net cash outflow from KREEHRE M FEE
investing activities (10) -
Net cash inflow from MEEIREMAFRE
financing activities 151 =
Net increase in cash and cash RERIRTEEIEINFEE
equivalents 12,014 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # ZE2020F12H31H ILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b) Financial information of subsidiary in
which the equity interest is held by
individual nominee on bhehalf of the
Group

The summarised financial information below represents

35 ZRAFMEEMB AT FIE (&

(b) REBRBARBARREER
HAENRBASNMBER

UTHHBENBZEEBREHARN

amounts before intragroup eliminations. B%R -
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET TFHET
Revenue Y& &= 163 6,035
Loss for the year KEEEIE (80) (283)
Net assets BEEFE 13,750 12,997
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36 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 36 HE—RKEBAR
On 9 November 2020, the Group entered into an agreement
with a non-controlling shareholder of Huancai Puda to
dispose of the Group’s 51% equity interest in Huancai Puda
for a consideration of RMB50,000 (equivalent to HKD$56,225).
Huancai Puda is engaged in the provision of management,
marketing and operating services for lottery system and SERE ZEBFARRLIEEBETEEDW
lottery halls in the PRC and such business represented a TR o Z X 5 E 20205115138 5%
major line of the Group’s business in the lottery segment. The B ©

transaction was completed on 13 November 2020.

R2020F 1A AEBHEEREEEZ
—ZIEERRBRETLHE URBARKE
50,0007¢ (B E #56,225% 7T) HEHRIB
EEZENSIYRE - REZETPENEM
KERMAFEABREEERE MSEER

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at the disposal RHEBR EERBENREEUT :

date were as follows:

HK$'000
TATT
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEMREE 45
Other receivables Hh g shig 52
Cash and bank balances RERIVITAER 290
Trade and other payables B 5 kEMEARIE (4,253)
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder FEN — R IEERR IR ER 2 A (253)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZaEFEE (4,119
Release of foreign currency translation HERRRIMNEIME i E
reserve upon disposal (723)
Non-controlling interests JEVER S 2,491
Net liabilities disposed of attributable KRBEBEANEHEEZ S EFEE
to the owners of the Company (2,351)
Less: consideration received B B E 56
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERBRAB ZWaE (2,407)
Analysis of cash flows on disposal: HEZREREEDT !
Cash consideration RERE 56
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERESKRIREEE (290)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEZIREMEIFEE (234)
REEBIERBRAT o 2020 FEHRS 233
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;ZE20205 128310 LEEE

37 FABTWMBRRARR#R

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEBTT
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment LY E NN =Y 1 25
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE - =
1 25
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables Hh W= 347 350
Bank balances IRITAEER 1,360 7,583
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEW—EERMMB AR 2B 1 =
1,708 7,933
Current liabilities REIBE
Other payables HitE( =8 3,383 1,617
Receipt in advance U IE - 701
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN EPNGIE 45,339 46,558
Amount due to an intermediate R —ERREER AR 28
holding company 2,059 1,514
Convertible bonds ARRES - 15,286
50,781 65,676
Net current liabilities mENBEIFRE (49,073) (67,743)
Total assets less current liabilities #EBERTHHEE (49,072) (57,718)
Non-current liability ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities R IEE (& - 2,489
- 2,489
Net liabilities BEFEE (49,072) (60,207)
Capital and reserves BEERKHEE
Share capital [N 23,430 23,355
Reserves HE (72,502) (83,562)
Total deficit At 4B R (49,072) (60,207)
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37 ARBENMBIRAKRKRHERE (&
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves TATNEEES
Convertible
Share Capital bonds
premium redemption equity Warrant Accumulated
account reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TR ES
BOHER BABEMRE  BSGE 2RESEE 2HER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FET FHET F#ET

Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019E1818 2 &4 3,443,597 1 3,935 - (3522327) (74,794)

Loss for the year REERE - - - - (8,768) (8,768)

Total comprehensive expense for AEEZ2AMSELE
the year - - - - (8,768) (8,768)

Balance at 31 December 2019 and 72019£12831H &
1 January 2020 20201818 2 55k 3,443,597 1 3,935 - (3,531,095) (83,562)

Loss for the year AEEBR - - - - (8,712) (8,712)

Total comprehensive expense for AEE2EMS B
the year - - - - (8,712) (8,712)

Issue of unlisted warrants net of {7k EHERRR % > Mk

expense k3 - - - 666 - 666
Shares issued upon conversion of BHRATMKESRHEEITH

convertible bonds Li3n) 23,041 - (3,935) - - 19,106
Balance at 31 December 2020 RR2020E 128318 2 6% 3,466,638 1 = 666 (3,539,807) (72,502)
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AEMBEHBE

For the year ended 31 December

HE12A31BLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT FAT FAT FTET
(Restated)
(ZE7))
Results E 4]
Revenue Wz 2,011 19,361 49,966 61,500 34,626
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (B8 /55 (43,144) (71,371) 12,937 (9,149) (15,489)
Continuing operations FEREEE - = 15,906 (2,251) (13,486)
Discontinued operations BARIEREEK - - (2,969) (6,898) (2,003)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THALER (EB8) /
wA
owners of the Company EATHEBAN (37,043) (48,293) 16,197 (5,680) (17,315)
Non-controlling interests TR ER (6,101) (23,078) (3,260) (3,469) 1,826
(43,144) (71,371) 12,937 (9,149) (15,489)
At 31 December
®12H318
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT FAT FTET
Assets and liabilities BEERAR
Total assets mEE 92,088 70,500 107,654 131,844 66,395
Total liabilities mar (71,417) (63,124) (45,987) (81,509) (11,581)
20,671 7,376 61,667 50,335 54,814
Equity attributable to owners A TEE AEL#ET
of the Company (252) 7,658 58,806 51,216 56,552
Non-controlling interests R ER 20,923 (282) 2,861 (881) (1,738)
20,671 7,376 61,667 50,335 54,814
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